# A Matter of Frames?

Stakeholders' Perspectives on Scope 3 Emissions Disclosure and Action-taking in the EU's Food Processing Sector

# **Michele Affinito**

Supervisor Philip Peck

Thesis for the fulfilment of the Master of Science in Environmental Sciences, Policy & Management (MESPOM) jointly operated by Lund University – University of Manchester -University of the Aegean – Central European University

Lund, Sweden, June 2024





Erasmus Mundus Masters Course in Environmental Sciences, Policy and Management





This thesis is submitted in fulfilment of the Master of Science degree awarded as a result of successful completion of the Erasmus Mundus Masters course in Environmental Sciences, Policy and Management (MESPOM) jointly operated by the University of the Aegean (Greece), Central European University (Hungary), Lund University (Sweden) and the University of Manchester (United Kingdom).

Published in 2016 by IIIEE, Lund University, P.O. Box 196, S-221 00 LUND, Sweden, Tel: +46 - 46 222 02 00, Fax: +46 - 46 222 02 10, e-mail: iiiee@iiiee.lu.se.

ISSN 1401-9191

<sup>©</sup> You may use the contents of the IIIEE publications for informational purposes only. You may not copy, lend, hire, transmit or redistribute these materials for commercial purposes or for compensation of any kind without written permission from IIIEE. When using IIIEE material you must include the following copyright notice: 'Copyright © Michele Affinito, IIIEE, Lund University. All rights reserved' in any copy that you make in a clearly visible position. You may not modify the materials without the permission of the author.

# Acknowledgements

I would like to thank all the people that, directly or indirectly, contributed to the completion of this thesis and to the incredible adventure that MESPOM has been. It's been a challenging, hectic, but also unique and life-changing two years. I would like to thank my supervisor, Philip Peck, for his insights and his constant support throughout the thesis-writing process. I got valuable knowledge and insights from our discussions, along with the freedom to shape my thesis the way I wanted. I have deep gratitude and respect for all the MESPOM entourage, from the professors, whose insights and teachings will always accompany me, to the staff. Particularly, a big thanks to Tunde, Anne-Sophie and Val for being amazing supporters of our batch.

A big thank you to all the people I met during my thesis project. Thanks to my interviewees for taking some of your precious time to share your insights with me, contributing a great deal to the output of this thesis. And thanks to the people I have met at the Conference, from the Innovation Forum staff to the professionals attending. Even though there is still a lot to do to achieve a more sustainable food system, the passion and drive of the people working in this field is inspiring, and I am grateful to have witnessed a community willing to share ideas, solve issues and be inspired even by a masters' student like me. I look forward to be part of this world and contribute to these much-needed conversations.

There are a lot of people who I will be mentioning from now onwards, and all of them have a piece of my heart. Thanks to Guilhem, Memo, Nastia and Flor for being the best friends and roommates I could wish for. Thanks to Gabby, Caro, Carla, Nadia and Jasmine for being friends, partners in thesis-writing and shoulders to lean on. And thanks to batch 18. MESPOM has been what it has been because of all of you, and because of your unique selves. Wherever you will end up in the future, know that you will have a Southern Italian supporter somewhere in the world, rooting for you and cheering at every one of your successes.

I am grateful to have been able to count on old friends. I will switch to Italian to thank them: grazie ad Aksel e Rai per essere i cervelli accesi che stimolano sempre la mia curiosità e la mia voglia di conoscere. Grazie ai miei fantastici amici della Triennale: Chiara, Elisabetta, Andrea, Camilla, Ro. Siete tutto la regola, e non l'eccezione, che dimostra che l'amicizia e l'amore sono più forti dei chilometri che ci separano. Grazie alle persone che mi hanno sempre supportato da casa, e che mi rendono fiero di essere Michele da Caserta. Grazie a Carmen, Emanuela e Rosaria. Sapete quanto vi voglia bene e quanto pensi a voi anche quando sono via. Caserta è sempre bella grazie a voi, e siete quel posto sicuro che saprò sempre di avere.

Ma casa non è casa senza la parte più importante della mia vita, la mia famiglia. Un grazie alla famiglia Sorrentino, la mia famiglia acquisita, la mia seconda casa, che da sempre mi ama e mi supporta come un figlio e un fratello. Grazie ad Ylenia, la sorella che ho sempre avuto al mio fianco, lontana dagli occhi ma sempre vicina al cuore. Grazie mamma, per essere la donna che più ammiro, per il tuo supporto incrollabile e per l'amore che mi hai sempre dato. Grazie papà, per essere il mio fan dietro le quinte, la tua dedizione al lavoro e alla famiglia è un'ispirazione costante. Grazie Leo, per essere un fratello ma anche un migliore amico. Due anni senza vederti varcare la porta delle case in cui ho vissuto è stata una delle cose più difficili da affrontare. Sono stato uno spettatore lontano di un pezzo importante della tua vita, ma hai sempre occupato la parte più grande del mio cuore. Un grazie finale ai miei nonni, le mie rocce, il cui amore è sempre stato il più puro e senza riserve.

## Abstract

While emissions from the food sector continue to rise, corporate carbon disclosure has emerged as an important driver to push for companies' commitment to reduce GHG emissions in their value chain. This thesis investigates how different stakeholders frame Scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking within the EU food processing sector, in which upcoming regulations will enhance their relevance. The aim is to provide insights on the ways scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking are framed by different stakeholders, to understand how frames inform shared and conflicting perspectives which may be relevant for defining disclosure and actions at the EU level and inform different interest groups on the present and future direction of the system. The study employs an exploratory case study methodology, combining stakeholder theory and framing theory. Data were collected through interviews, documents, and a conference observation, and analyzed through a qualitative content analysis performed on NVivo. Findings indicate that stakeholders universally recognize the importance of Scope 3 emissions. External stakeholders emphasize the financial and reputational benefits of disclosure, whereas internal stakeholders emphasize risks. Key issues include data quality, transparency, and knowledge gaps: there is consensus on the necessity of regulatory frameworks to drive change but concerns about their implementation and impact on smaller actors, particularly farmers. Proposed solutions highlight the role of the public sector in easing data regulations and technology-driven automation. Pre-competitive collaboration is deemed crucial, albeit with doubts on how to scale up solutions. Stakeholders emphasize the shift from disclosure to action, particularly in supporting farmers and promoting regenerative agriculture. The research highlights the need for a holistic approach to Scope 3 emissions, the effects that policy interventions beyond direct regulations can have on the system, and the importance of interdisciplinary research on data issues and collaboration across the food supply chain. Practical implications include the necessity for mandatory disclosure policies to enhance transparency and financing the transition through collaborative efforts. This thesis contributes to understanding the complex dynamics of Scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking in the EU, offering insights for stakeholders to advance sustainable practices within the food sector.

Keywords: Scope 3, Food Sector, Corporate Carbon Disclosure, Food Processing

# **Executive Summary**

Rising greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions at the global level are threatening the pledges of the Paris agreement, with efforts to make companies accountable for their carbon emissions through carbon disclosure becoming a prominent mechanisms. Carbon disclosure refers to the process of gathering and presenting carbon-related information (He et al., 2022), and the GHG Protocol and the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) are leading Multi-Stakeholder Initiatives (MSIs) in the field of carbon disclosure: the standard set by the GHG protocol identifies three scopes of emissions. Scope 1 emissions are emissions from owned or controlled sources. Scope 2 emissions outside of the direct control of the company, which are generated upstream and downstream in the value chain. Despite the widespread adoption of the system, there are still many issues associated with assessing carbon disclosure and performance.

The following thesis focuses on scope 3 emissions in the food processing sector in the EU. For Food processing companies, scope 3 emissions represent around 80% of overall emissions (Hansen et al., 2022), with agricultural commodities purchased by companies as the biggest source of GHG emissions in the value chain. Moreover, the complexity of supply chains creates barriers in terms of transparency and traceability. Climate impacts of agricultural commodities makes farmers an important focus for companies, however actions to reduce emissions are still characterized by a high degree of uncertainty. Finally, the role of upcoming regulations in the EU makes the issue of scope 3 disclosure and the scale-up of reduction strategies a contentious one. While current research highlights the complexity of comparing scope 3 disclosure and the vagueness of terms associated with actions within the supply chain (Morrison et al., 2023; Patchell, 2018a), it is necessary to understand what stakeholders think of the current system, of its relevance for the food sector and on the different opinions behind the issues and the possible solutions.

Therefore, the **research aim** is to provide insights on the ways scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking are framed by different stakeholders, to help advance a more collaborative way of defining impacts and standardizing scope 3 disclosure and impact definition. The thesis' insights may help food processing companies in Europe understand how other stakeholders frame scope 3 disclosure and action-taking, along with expectations and issues associated with their current performance. The results may also be of relevance to European policymakers to understand the role of policy in the context of a future mandatory disclosure framework, while incentivizing actions to be taken by companies beyond disclosure. The research questions addressed are the following:

The research questions addressed in this thesis are the following:

<u>RQ1:</u> How do different stakeholders frame the impacts of Scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking in the food processing sector in the EU?

• What is the current state of Scope 3 emissions disclosure in the food processing sector in EU14?

**<u>RQ2</u>:** How do these frames inform shared or conflicting views around Scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking in the food processing sector in the EU?

The research design follows an exploratory case study to apply a novel combination of theories in this field of research. The research applies a qualitative content analysis of a series of interviews, podcasts, webinars, reports and a conference observation to by sustainability professionals. The data was reviewed in NVivo and thoroughly analyzed to identify and make sense of the shared and conflicting perspectives emerging from the frames.

**Results** have proven significant for both research questions. In particular, the sub-question (What is the current state of Scope 3 emissions disclosure in the food processing sector in EU14?) has

highlighted the increasing intention among companies to disclose scope 3 emissions, indicating a positive trend in transparency and accountability in the EU14. However, **more than half of the companies analyzed** still did not disclose scope 3 emissions. There is also a **lack of data comparability and transparency** hindering the analysis of the process behind disclosure and SBTi-approved targets. Finally, **action-taking remains problematic, with scope 3 emissions on the rise**, highlighting a complexity to address those emissions compared to scope 1 and 2.

The first research question (see RQ1) has shown how frames are contextual to the nature of the food system (complex and transient nature of food supply chains, lack of transparency and traceability in the system, presence of many sub-sectors within the system itself, role of farmers and power imbalances). For this reason, internal stakeholders highlight the risk of not disclosing scope 3 emissions, with frontrunners also highlighting the opportunity to establish strategic relationships; data quality, accessibility, and transparency, along with the cost of disclosure are shown to be crucial issues for internal stakeholders. Mandating ESG disclosure through the CSRD is seen as a push to disclose, but the system can also redirect resources away from actions. The lack of knowledge on how to reduce emissions highlights the need for exhaustive guidance to encourage the shift in companies' long-term vision. In terms of solutions, internal stakeholders focus on increased investments in agricultural projects, along with collaboration between all actors involved. External stakeholders emphasize the opportunities of engaging with scope 3 emissions: cost reduction, market share growth, new business development, risk mitigation, and increased transparency. They also highlight data issues, stressing the importance of standardizing secondary data and adopting primary data, using technology to reduce costs and complexity. Collaboration with farmers and financing schemes are also seen crucial for emission reduction. A shift to a process-based system and a focus on plant-based portfolios are recommended to achieve a sustainable food system.

The second research question (RQ2) has highlighted how these frames inform shared and conflicting views around scope 3 disclosure and action-taking. There is a shared consensus that scope 3 disclosure is the core of GHG disclosure for food processing companies, and that external pressure is going to increase, pushing more companies to disclose. There is consensus on the role of policies mandating scope 3 disclosure in increasing the level of transparency of food processing companies. Disclosure also needs to happen with better quality data, and that the focus needs to be on actions, avoiding that disclosure may cause a lack of resources being allocated towards actions to reduce emissions. To reduce emissions, financing farmers in the transition is crucial: collaboration is needed to build trust, and collaborative structures are needed also between the public and private sector and across companies. This direction is seen as necessary to build resilience in the supply chain, focusing on engaging actors from the farm to the board level. Regarding conflicting views, the research has shown that there are doubts on whether and how to implement market-based instruments to create a framework that incentivizes food companies to act. Moreover, the role of regenerative agriculture is recognized by all, but there are doubts on how to scale up in-farm projects. While collaboration across companies through pre-competitive frameworks is seen as a solution by all, the way to achieve this collaboration is still clouded by doubts. Finally, the reluctance of food processing companies of discussing the shift to plant-based portfolios highlights how companies are still grappling with how to deal with risky commitments.

**Research** on the possibility for standardization of emission factors at the EU level in conjunction with the implementation of the CSRD is needed, to understand how companies will deal with mandatory disclosure given the existing issues regarding data reliability and issues of data variability within supply chains. **The role of farmers in the transition in the EU** has also emerged as an important topic: farmers' actions to allow companies to report reductions, such as insetting measures, or the effect of a possible implementation of market-based mechanisms, are interesting avenues to explore. **Facilitating collaborative structures for** 

**MNCs and SMEs** to harmonize the process of disclosure and act in shared supply sheds to reduce GHG emissions has emerged as a crucial topic: more research is needed in how to bring companies together in these pre-competitive structures. **Research focused on food processing sub-sectors** can also provide specific insights based on the commodities purchased by food processing companies: for meat and dairy companies, these specificities are also related to the need to reduce global consumption of meat and dairy and to the effects that this has on companies. This research also highlighted the complexity of leveraging the power of consumers to steer companies' investments towards plant-based and more sustainable commodities, so future research might focus on understanding how to leverage change through public and private financing. Finally, the **feasibility of policies affecting scope 3 disclosure** presents itself as an interesting avenue for research.

There is a need for more interdisciplinary research which goes beyond the assessment of companies' level and/or quality of disclosure from a quantitative point of view. The focus on the social motives behind the barriers to disclosure and action-taking highlighted that the food system is an important variable that needs to be considered. This insight might also be applicable to other sectors, in which the focus should not only be on GHG accounting, but also on what enables or prevents this framework to be effective within the system. Particularly, the thesis highlighted that there needs to be more research on actions rather than disclosure. A body of evidence has been found on the need for more research on collaborative structures, social dimensions of supply chain relationships and context-based, actionable projects (regenerative agriculture, agroforestry, financing, and insurance schemes) if reductions in scope 3 emissions are to be achieved.

Practical implications of the thesis relate to how the conceptual framework can help stakeholders from all groups to understand how other stakeholders view and frame the framework of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking. The thesis has provided some important insights regarding what is shared among stakeholders and what needs to be discussed more to advance solutions beyond the context of the EU. There are contentious issues to be defined, but also actionable solutions that can be implemented through collaboration. The focus on collaboration has highlighted how all stakeholders are willing to share insights and harmonize disclosure and actions in the context of scope 3 emissions. Implications for companies relate to the need to focus efforts on scope 3 disclosure for the upcoming regulations on mandatory disclosure, while collaborating to harmonize data sources and to advance requests which can aid companies in reporting actions within the supply chain. Financing has shown to be crucial, along with collaboration across company groups to create a common front and compete on actions rather than on disclosure. Policymakers can also draw interesting conclusions from the analysis. The role of policy in the EU is shown to be an important driver for disclosure, however harmonizing policies to companies' action is important to avoid disclosure to become the ultimate goal of this increasing transparency. Policies aimed at incentivizing actions to reduce emissions are needed, while easing data-gathering processes and involve actors from the whole supply chain in the discussion. To sum up, the thesis highlighted that: Scope 3 disclosure is an important driver of transparency. Data policies are needed to ease the process of disclosure for all companies, from frontrunners to laggards. Scope 3 disclosure is not the ultimate goal, and actions are needed within the agricultural supply chain. Companies, through sustainability departments, need to involve all actors in the supply chain, especially focusing on farmers and on steering boards' decisions to highlight risk management for the company. Farmers are the core solution to unlock scope 3 emissions reductions, and trust needs to be built through longterm collaboration. Collaboration needs to happen across companies to act on common supply sheds, and between the public and private sector to scale up financing schemes. Policies need to incentivize disclosure without redirecting companies' resources away from actions, allowing companies to credibly report emissions reductions while working to solve issues within the EU's food system which go beyond scope 3 disclosure and action-taking.

In **conclusion**, scope 3 disclosure and action-taking in the food processing sector in the EU has shown to be an established framework which will evolve, incorporating more companies in the sector. Issues curbing scope 3 disclosure must be solved to allow companies to focus on actions more extensively, and collaboration across all steps of the value chain can unlock solutions to increase financing of large-scale projects, easing the process of reporting scope 3 reductions, allow farmers to gain from a shift to a more sustainable food system and companies' boards to understand the risks of not implementing reduction strategies in the agricultural supply chain. The insights gathered for this research have shown that in the EU, there is momentum for companies to act. Allowing for these actions to take place is up to future implementation of the solutions identified, while it is up for future research to go beyond the first step of this research to delve more into the many avenues which will not only achieve scope 3 reductions in the food processing sector, but a transition to a more sustainable food system.

# **Table of Contents**

LIST OF FIGURES		
L	IST OF TABLES	II
A	BBREVIATIONS	II
1	INTRODUCTION	1
	1.1 PROBLEM DEFINITION	1
	1.2 AIM, RESEARCH QUESTIONS AND CONTRIBUTIONS	2
	1.3 LIMITATIONS AND SCOPE	3
	1.4 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	3
	1.6 OUTLINE	
2	BACKGROUND AND THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	5
-	2.1 FROM CARRON ACCOUNTING TO CARRON DISCLOSURE	c 5
	2.1.1 Institutionalization of carbon disclosure	5
	2.1.2 Scope 3 emissions in carbon disclosure	6
	2.2 SUSTAINABILITY IN THE FOOD SECTOR AND THE RELEVANCE OF FOOD PROCESSING COMPANY	IES
	IN THE EU.	9
	2.3 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	.11
	2.3.1 Stakeholder theory.	.13
	2.3.3 Stakeholder and frame theory in the context of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking	. 14
3	LITERATURE REVIEW ON SCOPE 3 EMISSION DISCLOSURE IN THE FOOD	15
	SEC IUK	.15
	3.1 MULTI STAKEHOLDER INITIATIVES (MSIS): A FOCUS ON CORPORATE CARBON ACCOUNTING	
	AND DISCLOSURE	.15
	3.2.1 Score 3 emissions in the food sector	.10
4	RESEARCH DESIGN. MATERIALS AND METHODS	.19
-		10
	4.1 RESEARCH DESIGN	.19
	<i>4.2.1</i> Data collection and analysis for the sub-question	.20
	4.2.2 Data collection for RQ1 and RQ2	.21
	4.2.3 Data analysis for RQ1 and RQ2	. 22
	4.3 LIMITATIONS	.23
5	FINDINGS AND ANALYSIS	.24
	5.1 FINDINGS FROM THE SUB-QUESTION	.24
	5.1.1 State of scope 3 disclosure	.24
	5.1.2 State of scope 3 action-taking: target setting and supplier engagement	. 25
	5.1.3 Scope 3 emissions overview: increase in emissions and the role of raw materials	.20
	5.2 STAKEHOLDER FRAMES OF SCOPE 3 EMISSIONS DISCLOSURE AND ACTION-TAKING.	.20
	5.2.1 Scope 3 disclosure and action-taking contextual to the food system	.27
	5.2.2 Moral Judgements/Current Situation	. 29
	5.2.3 Key Issues	. 31
	5.2.4 Solutions	. 36
	5.2.5 Envisioning the Future	.44 16
4	DISCUSSION	.+0 10
U	D19C09910IN	.4ð
	6.1 INTERPRETATION OF FINDINGS, SIGNIFICANCE AND RELEVANCE	.48
	<ul> <li>b.2 METHODOLOGY AND LIMITATIONS.</li> <li>6.3 IMPLICATIONS FOR PRACTICE AND RESEARCH.</li> </ul>	.51
	U.J IWFLICATIONS FOR PRACTICE AND RESEARCH	

7 0	CONCLUSION	55		
BIBLIOGRAPHY				
APPE	NDIX	71		
7.1	Appendix I – Tables	71		
7.2	Appendix II – Figures	73		
7.3	APPENDIX III – INITIAL LIST OF COMPANIES ANALYZED	76		
7.4	APPENDIX IV – LIST OF DOCUMENTS USED FOR THE SUB-QUESTION AND QUALITATIVE			
	ANALYSIS	77		
7.5	APPENDIX V – LIST OF INTERVIEWEES	80		
7.6	APPENDIX VI – LIST OF INTERVIEW QUESTIONS	81		
7.7	APPENDIX VII – CODING FRAMEWORK	82		

### **List of Figures**

Figure 1 Visual representation of the evolution of carbon disclosure. Source: Own illustration
Figure 2 Visual representation of the division of GHG in scopes. Source: Own illustration, based on GHG Protocol (2015)7
Figure 3 Visual representation of the steps of GHG accounting. Source: based on GHG Protocol (2015)
Figure 4 Visual representation of carbon disclosure governance. Source: Own visual9
Figure 5 Visual representation of actors in the food chain in the EU. Source: Own visual, based on Mike Asquith et al., 202311
Figure 6 Three dimensions of stakeholder theory's analytical relevance. Source: Own visual, based on Donaldson & Preston, 199512
Figure 7 Interaction of frames at the micro, meso and macro level. Source: Own visual, based on Gray et al (2015)14

# List of Tables

Table 1 Summary of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking for the companies analyzed.24

## Abbreviations

AG ETS – Agricultural Emissions Trading System BCSD – Business Council for Sustainable Development CCA – Corporate Carbon Accounting CDP – Carbon Disclosure Project CERES – Coalition for Environmentally Responsible Economies CSDDD – Corporate Sustainability Due Diligence Directive CSRD – Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive ETS – Emissions Trading System EU – European Union FLAG – Forest, Land and Agriculture Guidance GHG – Greenhouse Gas

- GHG Protocol Greenhouse Gas Protocol
- IEA International Environmental Agency
- IPCC Inter-governmental Panel on Climate Change
- MSIs Multi-Stakeholder Initiatives
- NGO Non-Governmental Organization
- SBTi Science-Based Target Initiative
- WBCSD -World Business Council for Sustainable Development
- WICE World Industry Council for the Environment
- WRI-World Resource Institute
- WWF World Wildlife Fund

# 1 Introduction

Rising greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions at the global level are threatening the pledges of the Paris agreement, with the effort to keep temperatures below 1.5°C becoming more difficult to attain along with making the commitment to remain below 2°C more ambitious every year. To reach reduction goals, national pledges remain the focus of international climate strategies (Pattberg, 2017). However, the focus on national actors has been accompanied by efforts to make companies and businesses accountable for their carbon emissions through governing by disclosure<sup>1</sup> (Pattberg, 2017). Carbon disclosure is one of the most prominent mechanisms: corporate carbon accounting (CCA) refers to the mechanisms to collect, record and analyze climate-related information to inform internal and external stakeholders on the progress of the business in relation to disclosure and performance (He et al., 2022). In particular, Carbon disclosure refers to the process of gathering and presenting carbon-related information; carbon performance refers to the process which evaluates the way companies manage and control carbon emissions (He et al., 2022).

The mechanisms that regulate CCA are connected to a variety of actors and stakeholders. In the field of sustainability, Multi-Stakeholder Initiatives (MSIs) are a type of governance structure which create voluntary rule-systems governed by different stakeholders in the profit/non-profit and state/non-state realm (De Bakker et al., 2019). The GHG Protocol and the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) are leading MSIs in the field of carbon accounting. The GHG Protocol was jointly created by the World Resource Institute (WRI) and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development (WBCSD) with the aim of establishing standardized frameworks for the measurement of GHG emissions for the public and private sector (Greenhouse Gas Protocol). The CDP is a non-profit organization based in the UK which leverages investor pressure to influence carbon disclosure of companies and cities, with over \$136tn investor assets and more than 23,000 companies disclosing climate-related information (CDP).

The standard set by the GHG protocol differentiates emissions based on the direct or indirect control that the company has on those emissions. Scope 1 emissions are emissions from owned or controlled sources. Scope 2 emissions are emissions generated by purchased energy. Scope 3 emissions are the rest of emissions outside of the direct control of the company, which are generated upstream and downstream in the value chain. This system is becoming increasingly adopted by companies, to mitigate the effects of industry on the climate, and is implemented for all sectors of the economy, including the food sector: the global food system is and will be highly affected by climate change, and around 25-30% of global GHG emissions are attributable to this sector (Mbow et al., 2019). Emissions in the food sector are vastly associated with land and use production, followed by distribution, processing, consumption and end-of-life treatment (Schulman et al., 2021). For Food processing companies, these emissions are mostly distributed across the upstream value chain and fall under Scope 3 categories, representing around 80% of overall emissions (Hansen et al., 2022).

#### 1.1 Problem definition

As mentioned before, scope 3 emissions represent indirect emissions resulting from operations outside the direct control of a company. Indirect operational control, however, does not imply that companies should disregard these emissions, as they constitute the biggest share of emissions for many companies in different sectors (Hertwich & Wood, 2018). For this reason, it is expected that companies account for these emissions when dealing with carbon disclosure and target-setting. Despite the widespread adoption of the system, there are still many issues

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The term 'governing by disclosure' refers to the diffusion of information to influence the behavior of particular actors. Through disclosure, actors are made accountable for specific behaviors, and this soft law policy has been a cornerstone of climate change policy, especially to influence non-state actors (Gupta, 2010). For more information: <u>https://wires.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/wcc.67</u>

associated with assessing carbon disclosure and performance, both for companies in terms of what and how to measure and how to access data and for organizations in terms of how to assess how well companies perform (Hertwich & Wood, 2018; Klaaßen & Stoll, 2021; Xia & Cai, 2023). Moreover, the literature highlights a lack of empirical research on Scope 3 emissions and on the need to identify specific issues in different sectors (Hertwich & Wood, 2018; Hettler & Graf-Vlachy, 2023).

The food processing sector is an interesting case study to understand the issues associated with scope 3 disclosure and action-taking, along with the focus on the EU. In particular, the sector is characterized by the prevalence of scope 3 emissions, with agricultural commodities purchased by companies as the biggest source of GHG emissions in the value chain. Moreover, the complexity of supply chains creates barriers in terms of transparency and traceability. The GHG impacts of agricultural commodities makes farmers an important focus for companies, however actions to reduce emissions are still characterized by a high degree of uncertainty. Finally, the role of upcoming regulations in the EU makes the issue of scope 3 disclosure and the scale-up of reduction strategies a contentious one. Research on food and beverage processing companies has focused on assessing the state of disclosure, with a focus on what motivates companies to disclose and what issues emerge from the system as being contextual to the food sector (Blanco et al., 2016; Li et al., 2020; Matisoff et al., 2013). However, while the research highlights the complexity of comparing scope 3 disclosure and the vagueness of terms associated with actions within the supply chain (Morrison et al., 2023; Patchell, 2018a), it is necessary to understand what stakeholders think of the current system, of its relevance for the food sector and on the different opinions behind the issues and the possible solutions.

Therefore, there is a need for stakeholders operating within this system to understand shared and conflicting frames connected to scope 3 disclosure and action-taking in the food processing sector, to understand how issues are framed and what motivates the framing, along with highlighting shared solutions and contentious ones.

#### 1.2 Aim, research questions and contributions

The sections above have highlighted the existence of an issue that relates to corporate commitments around reduction of GHG emissions and the need to pursue a shared and collaborative framework for defining the impact of scope 3 emissions. With this in mind, the thesis thus seeks to contribute in two ways:

First, the thesis will provide insights on the ways scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking are framed by different stakeholders, to help advance a more collaborative way of defining impacts and standardizing scope 3 disclosure and impact definition. Given the importance of assessing indirect emissions along the food supply chain, the thesis will then highlight the importance of building an effective and shared framework around scope 3 accounting, disclosure, and target-setting for the food sector, along with some guidance for stakeholders on what issues need to be defined more and what solutions might be implemented in the present and in the future.

**Second,** the thesis aims to provide insights that may help food processing companies in Europe understand how other stakeholders frame scope 3 disclosure and action-taking, to understand expectations and issues associated with their current performance. The results may also be of relevance to European policymakers to understand the role of policy in the context of a future mandatory disclosure framework, while incentivizing actions to be taken by companies beyond disclosure.

The **research questions** addressed in this thesis are the following:

<u>RQ1:</u> How do different stakeholders frame the impacts of Scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking in the food processing sector in the EU?

• What is the current state of Scope 3 emissions disclosure in the food processing sector in EU14?

**<u>RQ2</u>:** How do these frames inform shared or conflicting views around Scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking in the food processing sector in the EU?

#### 1.3 Limitations and scope

The scope of the thesis is based on the **exploratory nature** of its design. The **focus on food processing companies** was motivated by the aim to highlight scope 3 emissions, which represent the highest share of GHG emissions for food processing companies, while the **choice of the EU as a geopolitical entity** relates to the role of upcoming regulations impacting scope 3 disclosure. The focus on the EU might hinder generalizability given the emerging importance of policies affecting food processing companies in the EU, but it also provides interesting insights given how novel these regulations are compared to global standards. The results of the analysis would have benefitted from a larger sample: specifically, more interviews and more companies to be included in the sub-question. To account for potential gaps, the analysis also covered reports, podcasts, webinar and websites and the observation of a conference. The choice of qualitative methods relates to the exploratory nature of the research. Finally, the interdisciplinarity of the thesis presents a variety of findings and avenues for practice and research: while this resulted in the thesis not delving into specific concepts in a thorough fashion, the thesis highlighted connections between climate issues (scope 3 emissions) and social, economic, and political dimensions of sustainability.

#### 1.4 Ethical considerations

The research has not been funded/supported by any organization, thus there is no known conflict of interest to be highlighted. For what concerns the interviews, interviewees were informed of the aim of the research and confidentiality was ensured. Moreover, none of the findings have proven harmful for the reputation, dignity and privacy of the interviewees or the companies they work for, which will also remain anonymous along with the identities of the interviewees. Personal biases are an inevitable result of interviews: however, measures to limit biases were implemented, both within interviews and by including a wider array of documents for the analysis. Finally, all sensitive information gathered through the interviewes will be stored on my computer and on a separate USB pen drive. The identity of the interviewees will not be disclosed by the documents and will be coded, and the documents will not be shared with anyone.

#### 1.5 Audience

This thesis contributes to highlight shared and conflicting perspectives advanced by different stakeholders in the EU food processing sector, to achieve an understanding of how the current framework informs issues and solutions, and how consensus (or lack thereof) can drive an evolution towards increasing disclosure and scale up actions to reduce emissions in the agricultural supply chain. Therefore, the thesis aims to contribute to both research and practice: by identifying avenues to be explored to solve issues and advance solutions for both disclosure and action-taking, the thesis will contribute to a better understanding of relevant research topics. By investigating where consensus lies and where contentious opinions are still hindering change, the thesis also contributes to provide practical guidance for companies, policymakers and other external stakeholders involved in the framework of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking.

#### 1.6 Outline

This thesis is organized as follows: Chapter 1 introduces the topic, defining the research problem, the research questions guiding the analysis and the overarching aim. It also outlines limitations, the intended audience and the ethical concerns associated with the research. Chapter 2 provides the theoretical background of the thesis, discussing the general framework of carbon accounting, carbon disclosure as a sub-framework and scope 3 emissions as one group of GHG emissions covered by the framework. Chapter 2 also provides a brief background on the EU's food sector, along with introducing the theories used to analyze the topic and their application to develop the data analysis framework. Chapter 3 provides a literature review on the role of MSIs in developing the framework of corporate carbon disclosure, with a focus on scope 3 emissions and the state of scope 3 emissions in the food sector, to give a comprehensive understanding of the thesis' foundation and of the gaps identified in the research, which the thesis aims to cover. Chapter 4 outlines the research design of the thesis, presenting the methods chosen for data collection and analysis, their limitations and the actions taken to mitigate them. Chapter 5 presents the analysis of the findings, in which insights from the subquestion and the two RQs will be synthesized in a final section highlighting shared and conflicting perspectives emerging from the analysis. Chapter 6 discusses the findings, their significance and relevance, the methodology' solidity and limitations in terms of design and implementation and reviews the thesis' practical implications and research contributions. Chapter 7 provides a conclusion, answering the research questions and identifying avenues for future research and practice.

# 2 Background and theoretical framework

The purpose of this chapter is to provide a background on carbon disclosure, with a focus on scope 3 emissions, on the food sector in the EU and the relevance of the food processing sector in relation with scope 3 emission disclosure and action-taking. The section will then delineate the theoretical framework based on stakeholder theory and frame theory, which will serve to analyze empirical data and answer the research questions.

#### 2.1 From carbon accounting to carbon disclosure

Defining carbon accounting inherently expresses a general idea of the purpose of the discipline itself. Carbon accounting is a landscape in which many actors operate with different objectives: for instance, climate scientists are concerned with accounting for global emissions for research purposes, while institutions like the IPCC are interested in connecting the physical effects of GHG emissions with the political consensus needed to act (Ascui & Lovell, 2011). With the term corporate carbon accounting (CCA) the aim is to narrow down this complex field to one of its streams, which is interested in 'reporting GHG emissions and impacts from climate change at the corporate level' (Ascui & Lovell, 2011, p. 980). CCA allows businesses to calculate the carbon footprint and quantify GHG emissions along their direct and indirect operations. He et al. (2022) identify four major streams of CCA literature: carbon disclosure, management, performance, and assurance. The thesis focuses on carbon disclosure as one sub stream of CCA. Carbon disclosure is concerned with how and why companies disclose climate-related information in annual reports, sustainability reports or through specialized organizations (e.g., CDP).

#### 2.1.1 Institutionalization of carbon disclosure

To understand the relevance of carbon disclosure it is necessary to briefly understand the history of how such a governance structure came about. Carbon disclosure is considered an innovative approach to drive climate mitigation which goes beyond the focus on state-actors to highlight the role that businesses have in the race towards GHG emissions reduction. 'Governing by disclosure' (Pattberg, 2017) has become a powerful environmental narrative that resulted in the institutionalization of carbon disclosure at the global level. Carbon accounting is motivated by the idea that voluntary disclosure of climate-related information can push companies to reduce GHG emissions in the long run. The idea to institutionalize carbon disclosure emerged in 1989, when the Coalition for Environmentally Responsible Economies (CERES) - set up by a group of institutional investors and environmental organizations in the US – published the Valdez Principles (Pattberg, 2017). The idea was that investors could influence company behavior and that companies had to start disclosing the impacts of their operations on the environment to show preparedness for eventual climate-related risks.

After this idea of carbon disclosure gained more traction worldwide, new organizations related to the field of carbon accounting started to be set up. In 1991, the Business Council for Sustainable Development (BCSD) was born after Stephan Schmidheiny – a Swiss businessman – gathered 48 CEOs to publicize the concept of sustainable development at the corporate level to gather corporate support for the new concept before the 1992 Rio Earth Summit. In 1995, the BCSD merged with the World Industry Council for the Environment (WICE) and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development (WBCSD) was created. It was only in 1998 that the first NGO-business partnership was created between the Council and the World Resources Institute (WRI): the Greenhouse Gas Protocol (GHG Protocol) was created. After years of negotiations and preparations, the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard was published in 2001, a milestone in the creation of a standardized guidance system for GHG accounting at the global level (WBCSD, 2024).

The standard has then been used and applied by other organizations to promote disclosure at the corporate level. The CDP, formerly the Carbon Disclosure Project, has been the most

successful at institutionalizing carbon disclosure by leveraging the power of investors. Established in 2000, it is a non-profit charity that runs a global disclosure system for businesses, cities, states, and regions with 746 capital markets signatories amassing \$136tn in assets. This leverage power has led over 5600 European companies to disclose in 2023. In 2003, the CDP issued its first questionnaire asking companies to disclose past and future emissions; since then, it has developed and issued annual questionnaires and created a scoring system to assess the quality of disclosure of companies, along with expanding and adapting the questionnaires to other entities (CDP, 2024). Quality of disclosure is determined by assessing how much a company discloses and how many entries of the questionnaire are filled: this definition of quality – equated with the quantity of information disclosed rather than assessing whether companies ultimately reduce emissions – carries an important meaning and has resulted in some criticism in the literature (Bazhair et al., 2022; Liesen et al., 2015; Matisoff et al., 2013).

The path towards the institutionalization of carbon disclosure has also been accompanied by many critiques regarding the lack of commitments of companies towards a concrete reduction of GHG emissions, with emissions decreasing at a slower pace compared to the necessary commitments to achieve net zero by 2050 (Bazhair et al., 2022; Bjørn et al., 2022; Giesekam et al., 2021; He et al., 2022). In 2015 the Paris Agreement established the commitment of 196 nations to limit global warming below 2°C and pursue efforts to limit it to 1.5°C, and many saw the opportunity to push for science-based targets to be adopted at the corporate level (Bjørn et al., 2022). In that same year, the Science-Based Target initiative (SBTi) was founded, as a partnership between the CDP, the United Nations Global Compact, World Resources Institute (WRI) and the World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF) (SBTi, 2024), with the aim to mobilize the corporate world to implement GHG reduction targets which are aligned with the Paris Agreement pledges. This further step towards the institutionalization of carbon disclosure has connected more stakeholders from the private, public and NGO sectors to push for further commitment from businesses around the world.



*Figure 1 Visual representation of the evolution of carbon disclosure. Source: Own illustration.* **2.1.2 Scope 3 emissions in carbon disclosure** 

As mentioned in the previous section, the Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard by the GHG Protocol represents the most important standard and guidance for calculating, disclosing, and setting targets for GHG emissions. Initially, the document only dealt with direct (scope 1) emissions; it was updated in 2015 with the creation of the scope 2 guidance and in 2011 with the Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Standard (Pankaj Bhatia et al., 2011). The three documents are meant to be used in conjunction to cover all scopes of GHG emissions which companies may be responsible for. Scope 1 refers to emissions resulting from the company's direct operations; Scope 2 covers indirect emissions from purchased energy (heat and electricity); Scope 3 represents all the remaining indirect emissions from the company's value chain, both upstream and downstream.

GHGs Covered: CO2, CH4, N2O, HFCs, SF6, NF3, PFCs								
SCOPE 2 Indirect emissions	SCOPE 3 Indirect emissions	SCOPE 1 Direct emissions	SCOPE 3 Indirect emissions					
Purchased energy (electricity, heat, steam, cooling)	Cat. 1: Purchased Goods and Services Cat. 2: Capital goods Cat. 3: Fuel- and energy-related activities Cat. 4: Upstream transportation and distribution Cat. 5: Waste generated in operations Cat. 6: Business travel Cat. 7: employee commuting Cat. 8: Upstream leased assets	Company facilities Company vehicles	<ul> <li>Cat. 9: Downstream transportation and distribution</li> <li>Cat. 10: Processing of sold products</li> <li>Cat. 11: Use of sold products</li> <li>Cat. 12: End of life treatment of sold products</li> <li>Cat. 13: Downstream leased assets</li> <li>Cat. 14: Franchises</li> <li>Cat. 15: Investments</li> </ul>					
Upstr	ream activities	Reporting company	Downstream activity					

Figure 2 Visual representation of the division of GHG in scopes. Source: Own illustration, based on GHG Protocol (2015).

The focus of this thesis is limited to scope 3 emissions, which – as mentioned in previous sections – represents for most companies the highest percentage of emissions. After three years of multi-stakeholder negotiations, the Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Standard was published in 2011 and is still the main document most companies rely on for dealing with emissions across the value chain: the main aim expressed by the GHG protocol is to help companies report, manage and reduce GHG emissions across the value chain.

Scope 3 emissions represent a unique kind in the world of carbon disclosure: emissions happen along a company's value chain and come from a variety of hotspots, and are divided into 15 categories (see <u>Table 2.1</u> for the list of categories); to measure scope 3 emissions the GHG protocol provides guidance on a variety of measures to deal with data collection and processing, calculation, results, and reporting; since companies in different sectors have different value chains, sector-specific guidance is provided. For this reason, the GHG Protocol recognizes the impossibility of comparing scope 3 emissions across companies because of the different ways emissions can be measured, the different methodologies accepted and the different sectors. This has important results for research and for the overall commitment of companies to reduce emissions.

As the other standards, disclosure is based on **five accounting and reporting principles: relevance, completeness, consistency, transparency, and accuracy**. Yet these principles have been criticized by the literature for their vagueness and have been deemed unfit to assess the quality of reporting for scope 3 emissions (Liesen et al., 2015; Matisoff et al., 2013). The Protocol recognizes the inherent existence of tradeoffs across these 5 principles: tradeoffs should be balanced based on the company's individual business goal. The information provided by the document relates to four main steps of scope 3 disclosure (previously mentioned): data collection and processing, calculation, results, and reporting. Data collection and processing starts with identifying the company's organizational boundary, that is the indirect operations that the company considers as part of the calculation:

- 1. Equity Share
- 2. Financial control
- 3. Operational control

Companies are free to choose what they consider to be the most appropriate organizational boundary. In addition, specific guidance exists for certain sectors, as will be shown further in this chapter with the FLAG (Forest, Land and Agriculture) guidance, relevant for the food sector. Then, scope 3 emissions are divided into 15 categories which cover both upstream and downstream emissions, to facilitate data collection and to allow companies to identify hotspots within the value chain. Companies can thus set boundaries and include relevant scope 3 emissions while justifying the exclusion of specific categories. After having set the organizational boundary and scope 3 boundary, the company can start collecting data. Companies may use two types of data:

- 1. **Primary data** (supplier-specific data or data obtained by other value chain partners)
- 2. Secondary data (e.g., industry averages, spend data, activity data)

Despite the higher accuracy of primary data, the company may have to choose to use primary or secondary data (or hybrid datasets) depending on resources, time, supplier engagement, quality of data and relevance of scope 3 activities.

Calculation of emissions happens through the conversion of primary/secondary data representing business activity into the associated GHG emissions. Then, results are collected by the company which creates an inventory of the emissions and the division into the 15 categories. Finally, reporting relates to the way the companies decide to act on the emissions calculated: reporting is a first step leading to set reduction targets, commit to supplier engagement, highlight hotspots and opportunities to answer investors' requests for increased transparency and commitment or/and to comply with regulatory requirements.



Figure 3 Visual representation of the steps of GHG accounting. Source: based on GHG Protocol (2015).

The Guidance shows that the current setting gives a lot of space of maneuver to companies, while also recognizing the complexities that companies may face even before reporting. The reporting part is what external stakeholders see of the companies' work towards disclosure: it usually happens through companies' sustainability/annual reports, which may also integrate information compiled in the CDP questionnaire, in case the company discloses information through the CDP. The CDP questionnaire gives the company an additional level of legitimacy of the information disclosed, with a section dedicated specifically to scope 3 emissions. The section is however not mandatory, as scope 3 disclosure still remains voluntary. The Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD) coming into force in the EU will make scope 3 disclosure mandatory for some companies operating in the EU (European Commission, n.d.). This future mandatory framework, which will be discussed more thoroughly in the following section, provides another reason to focus on the state of scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking in the EU.

Finally, guidance on dealing with scope 3 emissions (action-taking) allows companies to pledge for emissions reduction, but also to engage with suppliers to define a future framework for reduction. Supplier engagement strategies allow companies to have an additional element of maneuver to deal with their value chain emissions. Supplier engagement strategies are allowed both by the GHG protocol and the SBTi, with specific guidance documents (Anderson, CM. et al., 2022; Pankaj Bhatia et al., 2011; SBTi Criteria and Recommendations for Near-Term Targets, 2023).



Figure 4 Visual representation of carbon disclosure governance. Source: Own visual.

This section has showed how the system of disclosure and action-taking for scope 3 emissions has many streams from which guidance comes from and that it gives companies many different tools to report and take actions: this can generate confusion for companies, practitioners and other stakeholders interested in this system, along with making scope 3 emissions difficult to assess consistently within the same company and across companies, even within the same sector: the choice of different emission factors, data sources, reduction and engagement pledges creates a realm in which the term scope 3 can result in different calculations and targets. This shows that scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking is an interesting example of multi-stakeholder engagement process in the world of carbon accounting. The next sections will connect carbon disclosure to the food processing sector in the EU and explain the relevance of the theoretical frameworks chosen to analyze scope 3 disclosure in the food processing sector in the EU.

ù

# 2.2 Sustainability in the food sector and the relevance of food processing companies in the EU

The aim of the following chapter is to connect scope 3 emissions to the food sector and to provide a brief background of the food sector in the EU. Given the complexity associated with defining the boundaries of the food sector, it is complex to estimate overall emissions: as mentioned in the introduction, around 25-30% of global GHG emissions are attributable to the food sector (Mbow et al., 2019), and emissions are mostly associated with land and use production, followed by distribution, processing, consumption and end-of-life treatment (Schulman et al., 2021). Moreover, the effects of the sector on the environment are not only confined to climate: water use, water pollution and biodiversity loss are all important aspects to be considered to shift to a more sustainable food sector (Acampora et al., 2022).

The focus of this thesis is on the effects of the food processing sector on the climate, which are accounted for by calculating scope 3 emissions. The food sector, like all other sectors of the economy, is characterized by complex and long value chains which involve a variety of actors. In the case of the food sector in the EU, this value chain can be simplified to identify four steps (see *Figure 5*), from the production of food to its consumption. Each step involves an array of different actors (the main actors are identified in *Figure 5*). The processing and manufacturing phase is where food and drink manufacturers (hereby identified as food processing sector) operate. The sector can thus be considered as positioned in the middle of the supply chain, and because the majority of emissions come from the producing phase, the bulk of emissions are associated with the scope 3 category, particularly to Category 1 (Purchased Goods and Services). Relevant emissions coming from the agricultural value chain (land use change, land use, livestock, fertilizer use) are identified as FLAG emissions (Anderson, CM. et al., 2022): because of the criticalities associated with these emissions, the SBTi published the FLAG Guidance, establishing rules on how to account, disclose and set targets for all companies along the value chain whose emissions portfolio is characterized by FLAG-related emissions.

This guidance is in line with the future guidance which will be published by the GHG Protocol in 2025 (Anderson, CM. et al., 2022). The guidance covers near-term (5-10 years) targets and allows two approaches for FLAG management: sector pathway and commodity pathways.<sup>2</sup> The guidance is relevant for food and beverage processing companies, which are required to set FLAG targets according to SBTi rules, independently from energy/industry-related targets (related to the rest of emissions). The FLAG target must cover at least 67% of FLAG-related scope 3 emissions and if scope 3 gross emissions are 40% or more of total emissions, companies must set a FLAG scope 3 target and an energy/industry scope 3 target in order for the target to be SBTi-approved.

In the context of the EU, the food processing sector is extremely relevant in terms of its economic role: in 2020, there were 291 000 F&B processing enterprises in the EU, (14.1 % of manufacturing enterprises), employing 4.6 million people, with a value added of €227 billion. There are a few large F&B processors with a big market reach, accounting for 57.6 % of the total value added in food processing (Eurostat, 2023). SMEs are also a crucial group for food and beverage processing in the EU: SMEs generate 39.1% of the sector's turnover and 40.7% of the value added and provide more than half of jobs in the sector (Eurostat, 2023). These companies are also an important focus of the EU's policies aimed at achieving a more sustainable food system in the context of the Green New Deal policy package. In a report by the EEA (European Environmental Agency), it is also acknowledged that currently policies that target food manufacturers are mainly voluntary. However, the report discusses the EU's commitment to increase coordination and actions across different levels in the food chain are, integrating the food processing sector. Food manufacturers are considered some of the most influential actors of the food supply chain: for this reason, binding measures are envisioned to promote sustainability (Mike Asquith et al., 2023).

Three policies are going to influence companies' behavior regarding sustainability in the food sector: the Corporate Sustainability Due Diligence Directive (CSRD), EU taxonomy, and the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD) (European Commission, n.d.). Increasing corporate reporting through the implementation of the CSRD is considered one of the most transformative future policies affecting food processing companies, and its aim is directly connected to the content of this thesis: to enhance transparency and accountability by mandating comprehensive sustainability reporting. Companies will have to report on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The FLAG sector pathway is aimed at companies with diversified FLAG emissions, while the commodity pathways, which include 11 pathways for specific commodities, is aimed at companies with commodity-based emissions.

environmental protection, social responsibility, human rights, anti-corruption, and board diversity. The policy covers companies with over 250 employees,  $\notin$ 50M turnover, or  $\notin$ 25M in total assets, applying to all listed companies. Starting from January 1, 2024, large companies have started gathering data to report on 2025, meaning that the effects of the directive are already felt by companies in the EU (European Commission, n.d.). A report by Alliance For Corporate Transparency and Frank Bold, analyzing 1000 companies' sustainability reports to assess their preparedness for the EU Non-Financial Reporting Directive, Food & Beverage was shown to be the best-ranking high-risk sector in terms of climate disclosure: 48.4% of companies disclosed scope 1 and 2 emissions. However, the report explicitly excluded scope 3 emissions targets. With scope 3 emissions accounted for, 71.6% of companies in Food & Beverage did not provide information on scope 3 emissions (Alliance for Corporate Transparency, 2019). The 2019 research report already presented a complex situation regarding scope 3 emissions, showing how scope 3 disclosure is a more complex endeavor for the majority of companies in the sector.

The future of disclosure in the EU with the entry into force of the CSRD makes this case study interesting to understand what the different perspectives around scope 3 disclosure and action-taking are now, given the role that the CSRD will have in pushing for mandatory disclosure for the biggest food processing companies, along with the new target-setting rules established by the FLAG Guidance which put scope 3 emissions at the center of food companies' decarbonization strategies.



Figure 5 Visual representation of actors in the food chain in the EU. Source: Own visual, based on Mike Asquith et al., 2023.

#### 2.3 Theoretical framework

The purpose of this section is to provide a background for the two theories which will serve as the basis for the thesis' research design. Stakeholder theory and frame theory will be analyzed and connected to the thesis topic, explaining the relevance for applying them to answer the thesis' research questions.

#### 2.3.1 Stakeholder theory

Stakeholder theory is part of the field of organizational management and conceptualizes firms as influenced by a variety of stakeholders (Donaldson & Preston, 1995). The theory is considered to have emerged after the publication of R. Edward Freeman's Strategic Management: A Stakeholder Approach (Freeman, 1984), which set the basis for a new conceptualization of corporations being influenced and having to manage different stakeholders affected by a firm's operation. The theory's success was a result of a changed perspective with regards of what the firm is responsible for. While the more traditional "shareholder view" of the firm, posits the firm has a primary duty to serve the owners of the company, stakeholder theory highlights that firms have a social, economic and political responsibility towards other actors both within and outside of the firm (Laplume et al., 2008). Beyond the idea of responsibility, stakeholder theory is also interested in how stakeholders influence managerial decisions: the relationship between stakeholders and corporations is thus bidirectional, with important analytical consequences (Donaldson & Preston, 1995).

Stakeholder theory has proved a useful analytical tool to study how firms respond to environmental pressures (De Bakker et al., 2019; Freeman & McVea, 2001). By focusing on stakeholders, the primary end of the firm is still related to profit-making; however, the theory analyses more thoroughly how the means to achieve this end become more entangled with stakeholders' interests (Phillips et al., 2003). Specific issues might involve stakeholders that are not relevant for other operations within the firm. The theory thus considers a firm as a plastic entity which deals with decisions by adapting them to its internal resources, external situations in the market and the general socio-political structure (Donaldson & Preston, 1995). Because of its long tradition and a high number of scholarly publications, stakeholder theory has been applied by referring to the analytical relevance of three aspects: descriptive/empirical, instrumental, and normative (Donaldson & Preston, 1995). The descriptive aspects present a model of how the firm is; the instrumental aspect establishes a framework that connects the theory with how it can be used to explain firms' behaviors; the normative aspect represents what stakeholder theory stands for, as a representation of the interests and of the values of stakeholders for the decisions of firms. Stakeholder theory also provides ways to identify and categorize stakeholders through stakeholder analysis since the creation of the theory by Freeman (1984).

Stakeholder analysis aims to identify all stakeholders with vested interests in the operations of a firm in a particular field, which have different levels of legitimacy. These are influenced by their direct/indirect involvement in a company's decision-making process, which in turn influences their power over the company itself. A first categorization distinguishes internal (actors within the firm) and external stakeholders (actors outside of the firm). Philips (2003) provides the distinction between normatively legitimate stakeholders (moral obligation of the firm to attend to their needs) and derivatively legitimate stakeholders (no moral obligation but with an influence over the firm). Mitchell et al. (1997) provide a theory of stakeholder identification and salience based on three characteristics that stakeholders might or might not possess: power, legitimacy, and urgency. If only one attribute is present, the salience of a stakeholder is low; two attributes show moderate salience and three attributes show high stakeholder salience. Moreover, salience can change if the company' perspective on the stakeholder changes or if the stakeholder manages to become more relevant. For the purpose of the thesis, the distinction between internal and external stakeholders can be expanded by combining the two theories of legitimacy and salience (Mitchell et al., 1997; Philips, 2003). Normatively legitimate external stakeholders (high salience) can be identified as primary external stakeholders, while derivatively legitimate stakeholders (high to moderate salience) can be identified as secondary external stakeholders. This thesis will apply a descriptive model of stakeholder theory: food processing companies operating in the EU are considered as part of a global and regional governance structure whose stakeholders (both internal and external) create pressures around sustainability. Carbon disclosure is one of the results of these pressures. The theory describes carbon disclosure (and more specifically scope 3 disclosure) as influenced by a variety of stakeholders. Stakeholder analysis, performed using the model of stakeholder theory explained in the current section, will help identify and analyze the function of different stakeholders and their ability to influence the system. The aim is to encompass the ideas and perspectives of these internal and external stakeholders.

#### 2.3.2 Frame theory

Frame theory has been developed and used in many disciplines and scholarly research to analyze how different individuals and stakeholders interpret specific issues and instances and give meaning to them, along with the results of these meanings. It is mostly known as an important theory in communication science and has also been used to study climate communication (Mitchell et al., 1997). At the basis there is the idea that meaning is created through discourse (Hajer, 1995). Hajer's seminal work identifies discourse from an analytical point of view, as something that can be analyzed to extract meaning from. A discourse is identified as "a specific ensemble of ideas, concepts and categorizations that are produced, reproduced and transformed in a particular set of practices and through which meaning is given to physical and social realities." (Hajer, 1995, p. 44). The aim of discourse analysis is to identify how different actors find ways to communicate at this inter discursive level and how different forms of knowledge form authoritative narratives on a topic.

Discourse is considered a political act (Dryzek, 1997) and in this sense, the way stakeholders frame scope 3 emission disclosure is fundamental to understand which actions are taken and to motivate the actions themselves. Discourse analysis has been recognized as an important contributor in the study of environmental politics, through the study of changing hegemonic frames and their impacts in advancing new environmental discourses (Hajer & Versteeg, 2005). Discourse analysis finds one of its analytical explanation in frame theory, which is interested in how different discourses (frames) exist at the same time, interact and gain momentum to push for hegemonic narratives. Dewulf et al., (2009) identifies different streams of frame theory by looking at the nature of frames and what is getting framed, identifying frames as being either of cognitive or interactional nature. The first (cognitive frames) focus on frames as mental structures that facilitate the interpretation of incoming information, while the second (interactional frames) focus on the interactions between individuals and the construction of frames and meanings through this interaction. Furthermore, individuals can frame issues, identities and relationships, and processes. In a similar fashion, Entman (1993) identifies four core functions of frames: problem definition, diagnosis of causes, moral judgements and suggestion of remedies. By interpreting Dewulf et al.'s (2009) and Entman's (1993) perspective, the object of study of the present thesis will be cognitive issue frames: that is, the focus will be in on how stakeholders cognitively represent (give meaning to) the substantive issue (scope 3 disclosure and action-taking) in the conflict situation (actions to increase disclosure and reduce emissions): the term 'conflict situation' identifies a process in which different ideas of a concept (frames) are brought forward by different actors in order to win over a community to establish their frame as the hegemonic one. Hegemonic frames are frames that become shared and established among a larger group of people as the ones that best explain the 'true meaning' of the concept that is being framed. For the terms of this discussion, scope 3 emissions disclosure and action taking are identified as a 'quasi-issue' to fit it into the definition of cognitive issue frames.

An overview of Frame theory is provided in **Figure 2.8 (see Appendix).** Frame theory has been used extensively in both environmental policy and organizational management: Eriksson & Reischl (2019) analyze the different discourse around energy policy of the IPCC and the IEA to identify the prevalence of converging or diverging frames. Kaplan (2008), examines the ways actors within a firm attempt to transform their own cognitive frames of a situation into predominant frames through a series of interactions. The literature on frame theory identifies **converging and colliding frames**, that is, frames that push for conflicting narratives and shared frames. While the former are identified as the ones generating conflicts, shared frames can also lead to different interpretations of the same reality: Zimmermann et al. (2022) discusses the role of shared frames in the context of Multi-Stakeholder Initiatives (MSIs) to analyze what leads to different interpretation of shared frames and how solutions can appear by activating

and fostering shared frames. Shared frames can thus still create within-frame conflicts: for instance, a sustainability frame is a broad frame that can be interpreted by actors in different ways, based on different ideas of sustainability. Gray et al. (2015) provides results relevant for MSIs: the paper connects the institutionalization of meanings through an interactional framing perspective, similarly to what institutional entrepreneurs push for specific frames in MSIs, as will be discussed more thoroughly in the literature review (Levy et al, 2009; Pattberg, 2017). The paper also provides an explanation of how framings from the micro level (individual frames) can interact and influence frames at the meso level (e.g., communities).

By looking at the literature on frame theory, it is evident that the concept of framing is extremely plastic and can be adapted to one's specific analysis. In the context of the thesis, the focus will be on **cognitive issue frames**. The aim of the thesis is to identify cognitive frames in a system in which cognitive and interactional frames are connected to one another, as shown, and stated by Gray et al. (2015) (*Figure 7* for visual reference). This connection and interaction cause the evolution of frames at the micro level (individuals) and the creation of hegemonic frames at the meso level (within groups in the same sociotechnical regime) and at the macro level (within institutions and policies). These hegemonic frames then influence individuals, in a cycle which reinforces or shapes new frames.



*Figure 5 Interaction of frames at the micro, meso and macro level. Source: Own visual, based on Gray et al (2015).* 

# 2.3.3 Stakeholder and frame theory in the context of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking

Section 2.3 has given an overview of the theoretical framework which will be used for the analysis of the data, based on the characteristics of the governance structure around carbon disclosure and the need to delve into the different frames that stakeholders might have around scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking. Identifying these frames can advance new ways of dealing with the issues around scope 3 disclosure and action-taking, which will be highlighted in the literature review. This thesis tries to bridge the gap between the previous literature on scope 3 disclosure, and the literature employing frame analysis in the context of MSIs. Stakeholder theory will be employed to identify relevant stakeholders, how they are related to each other and how powerful their frames can be. Framing theory will then be used to identify these frames and how they can inform shared or conflicting views around scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking. The identified frames can inform future research, along with providing knowledge around how future policy can impact the evolution of this governance structure and how companies may act to advance their needs and visions (see Figure 2.10 in Appendix II for an overview of the application of the two theories).

# 3 Literature review on scope 3 emission disclosure in the food sector

# 3.1 Multi Stakeholder Initiatives (MSIs): a focus on corporate carbon accounting and disclosure

Sustainability in production, trade and consumption is governed through a complex system made up of national, regional, and international actors. While public actors are discussed extensively when the issues of climate governance arise, this complex transnational and globalized system has caused the emergence of private and hybrid forms of governance. Multi-Stakeholder Initiatives (MSIs) develop social and environmental standards and are created through the collaboration between business and societal interest groups through governance structures which allow all members to have equal possibilities to influence the initiative (De Bakker et al., 2019). De Bakker et al. (2019) review the literature dealing with MSIs and the different theories used to analyze it. In particular the paper applies a business ethics framework to identify three broad themes of research in MSIs: (1) the input into creating and governing MSIs; (2) the institutionalization of MSIs; and (3) the impact that relevant initiatives create, recognizing the existence of challenges at every level.

Many scholars have studied the role of MSIs from various perspectives, highlighting both its positive and critical aspects. In a seminal study on the topic of MSIs, Mena & Palazzo (2012) discuss the democratic legitimacy of MSIs and their role in the creation of a soft law framework. However, scholars have been more prone to highlighting the shortcomings of MSIs in the global context. Levy et al, (2009) discuss the shortcomings of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) by comparing the initial aim of the institutional entrepreneurs who pushed for it and the final outcome, showing that an emerging institution does not always reflect the intentions of its founders, and that the initial win-win ideal which pushed the adoption of the GRI has proved ineffective. In a similar study, Moog et al. (2015) highlight how the Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) was able to create good deliberative communication among actors but failed in terms of the original goal.

The literature on carbon accounting identifies similar issues, as the governance structure of Corporate Carbon Accounting (CCA) is influenced by two important MSIs: the GHG Protocol and the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP). The literature on carbon accounting and disclosure discusses different aspects of this governance structure: (1) Evolution of accounting and disclosure mechanisms; (2) Analysis of why companies disclose; (3) Analysis of the state of disclosure and associated issues.

Concerning the evolution of accounting and disclosure mechanisms, He et al. (2022) show how the literature has developed into four major streams of carbon accounting: carbon disclosure, management, performance and assurance, and that carbon accounting is emerging as a distinct discipline. Carbon accounting is characterized by a lack of transparency, comparability and reliability of carbon accounting measurements and a lack of research on the effectiveness of disclosure (Dingwerth & Eichinger, 2010; Marlowe et al., 2022). Meanwhile, the institutionalization of carbon disclosure is also attributed to the role of governance entrepreneurs, similar to other MSIs, which were able to use shareholders' pressure as leverage for a widespread adoption of CDP guidelines (Kolk et al., 2008; Pattberg, 2017). However, governance entrepreneurs had to adapt to the pre-existing hegemonic structures to institutionalize carbon accounting (Pattberg, 2017). This adaptation is discussed by Ascui & Lovell (2011) with an analysis of the different conceptions of the meaning of carbon accounting. Tensions and contradictions in carbon accounting are studied as the result of colliding frames. The research highlights the political nature of carbon accounting and how relevant stakeholders' interpretations of its meaning is to advance towards a more effective framework. Concerning the reasons behind disclosure, Hummel & Schlick (2016) suggest that voluntary theory and legitimacy theory provide an understanding of the motivations behind disclosure. Stakeholder theory is also used to explain companies' willingness to disclose (Liesen et al., 2015). Many papers address the issue of quality of reporting (Bazhair et al., 2022; He et al., 2022; Liesen et al., 2015; Morrison et al., 2023). The term 'quality' is however an issue itself, since there is no consistency in how quality is determined in the literature. This connects to the general issue of incomparability of sustainability reports given the high degree of freedom that companies have in choosing how to report (He et al., 2022; Marlowe et al., 2022). Much of the research highlights the gaps in disclosure, showing the low percentage of companies actually disclosing GHG emissions (Bazhair et al., 2022; Liesen et al., 2015; Matisoff et al., 2013). Matisoff et al. (2013), while highlighting a convergence of disclosure across firms and an increasing role of the CDP in promoting disclosure, highlights the issue of defining what quality of disclosure means, making a difference between increased reporting vs increased quality of reporting. After more than a decade, these issues are still relevant in the world of carbon disclosure. This quantitative rationale behind the definition of quality is criticized even more by Morrison et al. (2023): by determining the quality in terms of number of information, carbon disclosure creates a mechanism in which the role of the company is to report as much information as possible while distancing itself from the effects of its operations on the environment.

#### 3.2 Scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking

The literature on scope 3 emission is mostly recent, and it also identifies the same issues associated with carbon accounting, but with a focus on scope 3 the scholarship shows how emissions in this area have been neglected in the past despite constituting a big share of emissions for most companies. Issues regarding scope 3 disclosure and action-taking can be identified along the whole process of disclosure.

Calculating scope 3 emissions along the supply chain is crucial for firms to identify hotspots and reduce emissions (Downie & Stubbs, 2012). Stenzel & Waichman (2023) highlight the issue of accessing reliable data for Scope 3 calculations in the upstream value chain, and how lack of coordination hinders access to primary data. Secondary data also represent an issue for companies: Busch et al. (2022) show how scope 3 data are the most inconsistent, and that the consistency of third party data is lower than company's reports. Primary data are the most reliable, however accessing them can prove costly, complex and time consuming, especially for companies with complex value chains (Hertwich & Wood, 2018). Issues related to data availability and inconsistency also influence the effectiveness of target setting, since effective reduction plans can only happen with consistent and comparable scope 3 accounting (Li et al., 2020).

In terms of reporting, Xia & Cai (2023) show that disclosure is mostly analyzed in terms of economic benefits. It highlights the connection between Scope 3 emissions and value chain operations, identifying the drivers to Scope 3 emissions reduction; however, these drivers have not helped reduce Scope 3 emissions. Lack of knowledge on how to operationalize change is discussed as one of the main barriers. Hettler & Graf-Vlachy (2023) highlight the importance of disclosing scope 3 emissions to allow companies to understand hotspots in the supply chain. However, they also highlight the need for more research on the consequences of Scope 3 emissions reporting. Mahapatra et al. (2021) hypothesize that Scope 3 disclosure is linked to higher economic performance: the results of their study, however, does not identify this positive connection. These results show that the idea of extending the win-win narrative to scope 3 disclosure has resulted in mixed and inconsistent results. When analyzing the issues regarding scope 3 reporting and investigating why scope 3 disclosure is not successful.

Patchell (2018) identifies issues both in the system itself and within firms. The system is accused of being more concerned with asking firms to report rather than assessing why certain firms have not reported. Using transaction cost theory, the research highlights that transaction costs for firms are too high and benefits too low for firms to put effort into scope 3 disclosure. Klaaßen & Stoll (2021) show that issues with reporting are associated to lack of knowledge, data issues and cost and administrative burdens. These issues are identified across different sectors, showing the need for sector-specific research to overcome lack of engagement by companies and underreporting (Blanco et al., 2016).

Recent reports regarding the state of disclosure highlight the complexity of both reporting and acting. A report by Carbon Market Watch (Thomas Day et al., 2024) highlights how "the limited depth of emission reduction targets for companies' up- and downstream value chain emissions (scope 3) remain a key limitation for the integrity of most companies' 2030 climate pledges" (Thomas Day et al., 2024), while CDP report on supply chain disclosure (CDP, 2023) has shown that while 41% of companies reported emissions for at least one Scope 3 category, only 39% of respondents engage with their suppliers on climate-related issues, covering an average of 41% of their procurement spend. Moreover, only 0.04% of companies require suppliers to set SBTs, and while category 1 represents the biggest share of scope 3 emissions, only 36% of companies reported having absolute and/or intensity targets. Finally, there is a huge disparity between leading and bottom companies. The report shows that scope 3 emissions are still clouded by doubts and inaction, as shown by the literature.

#### 3.2.1 Scope 3 emissions in the food sector

The food sector represents an interesting case study to evaluate the limitations of Scope 3 emissions disclosure and performance. Hansen et al. (2022) discuss the status of GHG reporting in the food sector, highlighting many shortcomings. The food sector is characterized by the failure to accurately calculate emissions in the agricultural sector, leading to many unreported emissions. Moreover, it criticizes the lack of emission reduction targets for many companies in the food sector, along with the lack of transparency of the Science-based target initiative (SBTi) in approving the feasibility of many dubious net zero pathways. Among the companies analyzed, it appears that data access and sector-specific guidance for emissions reduction need to be improved. Some companies highlighted the importance of certain data along with the lack of their disclosure, showing that a critique of the corporate world risks simplifying a more complex and systemic issue.

A report from TPI (Simon Dietz et al., 2022) aims at assessing the management quality and carbon performance of food producers through a methodology created by the TPI. The report highlights the relevance of food sector emissions and that only 3 out of 10 companies disclose sufficiently high-quality scope 3 emissions data. The study acknowledges that the different organizational boundaries chosen by the companies poses a problem in terms of the quality of comparison. Moreover, they highlight how a lack of reporting from food producers around Scope 3 emissions, especially linked to land- use change, prevented more companies from being included in the sample. A report from Carbon Market Watch (Thomas Day et al., 2024) also provides an overview of the state of scope 3 emissions in the food sector, focused on the state of disclosure and target-setting of the biggest food and beverage companies. The report shows that emissions mostly come from upstream agricultural emissions, and that some companies have improved the quality of reporting and target-setting. However, companies still lag behind in terms of actions to reduce emissions, and while many companies' targets are aligned with the FLAG guidance, there is a high reliance on carbon sequestration to reduce emissions, with a lack of critical transition n measures. Action-taking remains a critical point for food companies.

Schulman et al. (2021) assess the state of food & beverage companies GHG emissions' disclosure, showing an incomplete and inconsistent disclosure of Scope 3 emissions. Due to the voluntary nature of Scope 3 disclosure, companies choose to report scope 3 categories at their discretion, and among the 153 companies analyzed, only four companies commented on future goals to reduce emissions. The system around Scope 3 emissions has been shown to have multiple limitations, and in the food sector these limitations are particularly related to supply chain engagement in every step of corporate carbon accounting. Reavis et al. (2022) also evaluates the state of GHG disclosure, goal setting and climate science alignment of the top 100 Food and Beverage companies, primarily using Sources from the CDP and SBTi. While both disclosure and target-setting are on the rise in the food and beverage sector, the research shows that there is great variation of publicly disclosed GHG emissions: the research highlights that food companies still have limited GHG disclosure, along with the complexity of tracking progress toward climate goals and the lack of science-aligned goals. The authors also discuss the possibility and benefits of mandatory scope 3 disclosure in order to increase transparency; however, since data issues are still present, they also highlight a discrepancy between actual and reported emissions and the need to focus on better data access.

The issue of data access and reliability is the focus of Romijn et al.'s research (2018): more detailed data, increased transparency in available datasets and online platforms and integration of national and independent data sources, showing the role of both the public and private sector. Teske & Nagrath (2022) also highlight how the variability of data assumptions and methodologies hinders the comparability of industry-specific data for energy intensities, recommending the standardization of calculation and reporting methodologies for the food sector. They also highlight that the need to act by promoting sector-specific guidance could unlock the reporting of CO2 emissions but also of CO2 sequestration, given the unique characteristic of agriculture as a potential carbon sink. Soil management, reducing yield gap, and dietary shifts can help reduce some Scope 3 emissions in agriculture, and further research is needed to understand the contributions of different pathways to complete decarbonization of the agriculture sector.

Finally, case-study research on companies' show that frontrunners are increasing disclosure, but that research on companies' actions to reduce scope 3 emissions is still lagging behind. Asif et al. (2022) study Walmart's actions to increase scope 3 disclosure to highlight the use of different programs to monitor supply chain sustainability. Walmart is considered a leader in scope 3 disclosure; however, the research does not delve into the actions taken by the company to reduce emissions. Walmart's case shows that a major challenge for companies, researchers and practitioners is the identification of supply chain hotspots, and the programs used by Walmart are presented as a best practice to solve this issue: innovative technologies are shown to be crucial in dealing with SSCM and integration of scope 3 disclosure across the supply chain, and an effective calculation of Scope 3 emissions can happen only through a collaboration with suppliers. Qian et al. (2022) present an assessment of emission reduction pledges of PepsiCo, showing the important role of scope 3 emissions in the company's value chain (93% of GHG emissions). While the research shows the opportunities to engage with the value chain it recognizes that scope 3 emissions are still rising for the company. Overall, the literature review highlighted how issues related to carbon disclosure are heightened when scope 3 emissions come into the picture, and that the food sector represents an interesting case study to identify ways to unlock higher disclosure and a reduction of scope 3 emissions across the value chain (see Figure 3.1 in Appendix II for a summary of the main issues identified by the literature review).

# 4 Research design, materials, and methods

The following chapter outlines the research design of the thesis, explaining the methods employed for data collection and analysis, the motivations behind these choices along with some limitations and approaches to mitigate them.

#### 4.1 Research design

The research method used in this thesis is motivated by the current situation with regards to scope 3 disclosure and action-taking in the food processing sector and the gaps identified in the literature review. The literature review on scope 3 emissions, particularly within the food sector, shows that while scope 3 emissions are becoming more relevant in the world of carbon disclosure, many issues still cloud companies' actions to calculate and reduce emissions in their supply chain. Accessing reliable data for scope 3 calculations still poses a substantial challenge, with inconsistency in secondary data and issues accessing primary data due to lack of coordination, resources, and time. In terms of reporting, despite recognizing the drivers for emissions reduction, there is a lack of effective action to achieve reductions, with many challenges for food companies. Transaction costs for firms are deemed too high, outweighing the benefits of scope 3 disclosure, and while progress is highlighted in terms of disclosure and target-setting, there remains a gap between reported emissions and actual reductions, with an emphasis on the need for better data access and standardization of methodologies. Despite efforts by frontrunners to increase disclosure, research on actions to reduce scope 3 emissions lags behind, pointing to the need for innovative solutions and collaborative approaches.

These issues highlight the need to analyze the current framework of disclosure and action-taking to improve the understanding of how different stakeholders frame issues, opportunities, and future directions of the system. For this reason, the thesis consists of a series of qualitative analyses used to answer the two research questions. In order to narrow down the results and the insights deriving from the analysis, the thesis will focus on food processing companies operating in the EU and on and two methods of data collection and analysis based on two research questions.

The thesis is thus an **exploratory case study** (Lucas et al., 2018): this definition is the most suitable because despite having been studied in a number of papers (as the literature review shows), the combination of stakeholder theory and frame theory has not been used to analyze stakeholders' perspectives in the context of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking. In particular, the case study is exploratory both in its methodology (theoretical frameworks used) and in its method (case study chosen and choice of resources for the analysis). The rationale for the choice of the methodology is given by the novelty of the study (based on the literature review on which the thesis is based). The rationale for the method is provided below and is connected to the limitations of a master's thesis and to the aim of analyzing different perspectives in a qualitative study. The research design is based on the two research questions, where the second builds directly upon the first:

# <u>RQ1:</u> How do different stakeholders frame the impacts of Scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking in the food processing sector in the EU?

**<u>RQ2</u>:** How do these frames inform shared or conflicting views around Scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking in the food processing sector in the EU?

RQ1 is also accompanied by a sub-question, which is necessary to provide a contextual foundation of the analysis of the two RQs:

• What is the current state of Scope 3 emissions disclosure in the food processing sector in EU14?

In particular, the structure of the analysis will start by answering the sub question, to then move to the two research questions. The case study for sub-RQ is more restricted compared to the overall case study of the thesis, and it consists of food processing companies operating in the European Union with either headquarters or subsidiaries. In particular, the case study stems from RQ1 and the need to filter the high number of companies in the EU for its specific analysis. Given the time frame allocated for thesis-writing, the focus had to be restricted to provide consistent and timely results. For these companies, an analysis of the sections related to scope 3 emissions (specifically looking at category 1: purchased goods and services) of CDP questionnaires (if present) and/or sustainability reports will be carried out. This document analysis will serve to understand the current state of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking for the companies analyzed and will also provide the basis for the qualitative analysis of RQ1 and RQ2.

The second part of the study, related to RQ1 and RQ2, aims at understanding how different stakeholders in the EU frame scope 3 disclosure and action-taking and the information that these frames can give to the stakeholders involved.

#### 4.2 Data collection and analysis

#### 4.2.1 Data collection and analysis for the sub-question

The data collected for the sub-question analysis is based on a list of companies compiled using the Orbis database, with the following inputs:

1. Status	Active companies, Unknown situation	
2. World region	European Union [14]	
3. NACE Rev. 2 (Primary codes only)	10 - Manufacture of food products	
4. Listed/Unlisted companies	Formerly publicly listed companies, Unlisted companies,	
_	Publicly listed companies	
5. Number of employees	min=500	

The companies chosen are thus active companies (unlisted and publicly listed) operating in the EU14 in the manufacture of food products with more than 500 employees. The top 50 companies in terms of operating revenue were chosen. After this first filtering, some companies were excluded since their operations was not directly connected with food processing. Then, companies with no CDP report or sustainability report were excluded from the analysis. A total of 38 entries represents the final case study (see <u>Appendix III</u> for the list of companies). The database already presented some limitations regarding the identification of some food processing companies as retailers, which did not appear in the final list.

After the creation of the final list, CDP questionnaires and Sustainability/annual reports referring to 2022 were gathered for each company. The data thus refers to 2021, in order to gather results for all companies in the list. The methodology of analysis will follow a similar one to those of Hansen et al. (2022) and Reavis et al. (2022), whose research has already been mentioned in the literature review. In particular, the analysis follows a series of key steps inspired by these two papers, to gather information on:

- The percentage of companies disclosing scope 3 emissions (both in CDP questionnaires and in sustainability reports).
- The percentage of companies with SBTi approved targets including Scope 3 emission reduction (absolute and intensity-based).
- The average percentage of scope 3 emissions over total GHG emissions
- The average percentage change in scope 3 emissions
- The average percentage of scope 3 emissions coming from raw materials (pertaining to Category 1: Purchased Goods and Services).

The results will then be discussed in relation to previous research and to data from the World Benchmarking Alliance's 2023 Food and Agriculture Benchmark data set<sup>3</sup>, and they will also be tied with a more qualitative analysis of a set of 15 Sustainability Reports chosen among the 38 reports of the dataset, to identify a connection between the quantitative results and the way companies report and discuss their performance on scope 3 disclosure and action-taking.

#### 4.2.2 Data collection for RQ1 and RQ2

The data collected for the two RQs are derived from interviews (primary sources) and documents. In order to ensure the coverage of the majority of stakeholders, a proportional number of documents and interviews were collected, so that stakeholders' opinions were represented equally. The data sources complement and expand the information of the current literature because of the qualitative nature of the research and the opinions emerging from the interviews. The data sources (12 interviews, 38 Sustainability/Annnual Reports, 8 Reports, 1 Webinar, 5 Podcasts, 18 Websites and the observation of a conference; see <u>Appendix IV</u> for the full list of documents) were triangulated to ensure the validity of the results. Figure 4.1 (see <u>Appendix II</u>) shows the result of the stakeholder analysis aimed at identifying relevant stakeholders.

The documents chosen are reports of sustainability practitioners operating in the food and agricultural sector, as well as news articles covering scope 3 disclosure and action-taking in the food sector. They serve as a foundation for more specific media. Podcasts and webinars were included to have a more thorough insight into the issues and solutions discussed among different stakeholders operating in different areas of the GHG disclosure framework. Because of time constraints, the document review was conducted before and during the interviews period, to ensure the improvement of the questionnaire with more specific questions, and to enable effective interviews despite the time constraint.

**Interviews** are a valuable tool to collect information which may be difficult to capture through an analysis of written documents cite. The interviews were conducted to gain insights from representatives of the majority of stakeholders involved in scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking, the positions that they hold as representatives of a company/organization along with their ideas and opinions which may not be captured without specific questions. It was chosen to provide anonymity to informants: anonymity allowed for a more relaxed environment during the interviews, as well as the capturing of unfiltered opinions. As this thesis aims to understand shared and conflicting frames, the information emerging from interviews regarding controversial aspects of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking – which will be discussed in the next section – provided some interesting insights regarding the future of this framework.

The observation of the Conference on The Future of Food and Beverage organized by Innovation Forum (IF) was a final addition to the information gathered from documents and interviews. The conference was held in Amsterdam on the 14<sup>th</sup> and 15<sup>th</sup> of May, with a series of panel discussions on relevant topics affecting the future of the food and beverage sector, with a focus on Europe and on EU regulations affecting the sector. The aim of the observation was to capture how stakeholders interacted between each other in the collaborative environment that the conference was able to create, as well as capturing insights from the panels which were directly and indirectly related to scope 3 disclosure and action-taking. The conference was centered on the discussion of crucial topics from a variety of stakeholders across the food supply

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For more information on the dataset: <u>https://www.worldbenchmarkingalliance.org/research/2023-food-and-agriculture-benchmark-data-set/</u>

chain, and was held under Chatham House Rule<sup>4</sup>, meaning that opinions and information emerging through panels and discussions can be shared but not attributed to a specific person. The conference was attended by over 200 sustainability professionals, and information on the panelists can be accessed on the website of Innovation Forum<sup>5</sup>.

12 interviews with sustainability professionals from different stakeholder groups were conducted for this thesis (see <u>Appendix V</u> for a summary of interviewees' roles, stakeholder group and type of organization). The selection of sustainability professionals was based on two criteria:

- 1. The thesis scope and case study (as outlined in section 4.1). The aim was to select professionals with knowledge of the food sector and its role in the EU.
- 2. The aim to cover the majority of perspectives coming from internal (working within a company) and external (working with companies or evaluating companies' actions) stakeholders. In order to reduce the weight of biased opinions related to the stakeholder's affiliation with their specific company/organization, more than one stakeholder per stakeholder group was interviewed.

Interviews were conducted in semi-structured form for comparability and reliability, allowing some flexibility for additional questions which varied depending on the depth of the conversation and type of stakeholder. The questions were also adjusted when necessary, depending on whether the interviewee was an internal or external (primary or secondary) stakeholder. Information from documents and from companies'/organizations' websites was used to add specific questions. The length of the interviews varied between 30-60 minutes depending on the sustainability professional's availability. Questions were phrased in an objective, unbiased way, prioritizing vague wording when asking for examples of issues without listing possible drivers. The questionnaire was pre-tested with two participants who had no specific knowledge of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking in the food processing sector to test the level of comprehension and adequacy of the questions. As mentioned above, the questions were adjusted as more interviews and documents were analyzed, given the exploratory nature of this thesis. The final questionnaire is provided in **Appendix VI**. Subsequently, interviews were recorded according to the interviewees' consent, and transcribed for data analysis. A transcription software was used to facilitate the transcription process.

#### 4.2.3 Data analysis for RQ1 and RQ2

For data analysis, a qualitative content analysis was conducted using the software NVivo. The coding framework (see <u>Appendix VII</u>) was developed deductively based on coding categories emerging from the literature review and from the analysis of some initial documents, considering the theoretical framework of framing theory, which provided the main coding groups. The literature review gave rise to 5 main codes, while the subcodes created during the analysis of some of the documents and interviews. The deductive identification of new codes was a process that continued throughout the analysis, as new stakeholder groups were interviewed and analyzed. The categories were then analyzed again to check for redundancy and repetitions, and some codes were expanded or deleted when necessary.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For more information regarding Chatham House Rules: <u>https://www.chathamhouse.org/about-us/chatham-house-rule</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> For more information on the conference: <u>https://www.innovationforum.co.uk/conferences/the-future-of-food</u>

#### 4.3 Limitations

Limitations of the methods employed are related to the time constraints of a master's thesis: given the limited amount of time for data collection and analysis, the number of companies analyzed for the sub-question is limited, along with the inferences analyzed for the purpose of the thesis from this dataset. Regarding interviews, finding an appropriate number of professionals willing to be interviewed is a complex endeavor, with the risk of incurring in low response and acceptance rates. The number of practitioners and the low response rate of the professionals contacted. Around 60 stakeholders were contacted, with an acknowledgement that a small percentage of them would answer positively to the request, and 13 agreed to be interviewed. Moreover, interviews may incur in a higher number of biases related to the personal opinions of the stakeholders interviewed, and cognitive biases represent a limitation associated with information shared during interviews. To limit this, questions covered both past, present and future expectations regarding scope 3 disclosure and action-taking and covered different aspects of the process (e.g. data collection, disclosure, target-setting, supplier engagement etc.).

On the other hand, while grey literature and written documents may provide a less biased and broader view of the topic, it may also be more superficial. Thus, podcasts, webinars were all aimed to complement the information of grey literature and interviews, striking a balance between the formalization of reports and the biases of interviews. Documents, podcasts, and webinars are safer to handle as the negative aspects related to sensitive information and privacy issues are less present. Interviews, on the other hand, may present limitations regarding both the issue of anonymity and the complexity around eliciting sensitive information from interviewees. To mitigate these issues, information concerning how the data is stored, anonymized, used and published was provided at the beginning of every interview. Interviewees were also asked to sign a consent form in accordance with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 2016/679 of the European Union, which entered into force in May 2018.

# 5 Findings and analysis

This section presents and analyzes the results from the sub-question and the qualitative analysis conducted in NVivo (see **Appendix VII for final coding framework**). As described in the method chapter, the stakeholders included for the analysis were divided into three main groups (internal, primary external, secondary external, see Figure 4.1), and the data was triangulated from **12 interviews conducted for this thesis (see Appendix V for list of interviewees)**, **38 Sustainability/Annnual Reports**, **8 Reports**, **1 Webinar**, **5 Podcasts**, **18 Websites and the observation of a conference (see Appendix IV)**. Information from interviews is referenced in square brackets, with interviewees coded with capital letters. Information gathered from the conference will be mentioned explicitly (e.g., "A practitioner at the conference highlighted..."; "Conversations during the conference showed...") or will be accompanied by a citation in square brackets [The Future of Food and Beverage, IF, 2024].

This chapter is structured as follows: Section 5.1 will present the results of the sub-question analysis, making the case for a focus on raw materials in the food supply chain as the hotspot of scope 3 emissions for companies in the food processing sector and highlighting the criticalities of the system as shown by the literature review. Section 5.2 will then provide an answer to RQ1, outlining the different frames identified in the analysis and how they relate to the various stakeholders. Finally, section 5.2 will relate to RQ2, highlighting shared and conflicting frames emerging from the analysis across and within stakeholder groups.

#### 5.1 Findings from the sub-question

This section provides an overview of the findings from the sub-question of RQ1: What is the current state of Scope 3 emissions disclosure in the food processing sector in EU14? As mentioned in section 4.2.1, the methodology of analysis will follow a similar one to those of Hansen et al. (2022) and Reavis et al. (2022). Table 1 displays an overview of the quantitative results from the analysis:

Disclosure	
% of companies disclosing scope 3 emissions over total (top 50)	48%
% of companies disclosing scope 3 emissions over reporting companies (38)	63%
Target-setting	
% of companies with SBTi-approved targets over reporting companies	66%
% of companies with supplier targets over reporting companies	58%
% of companies with scope 3 reduction intensity targets over reporting companies	55%
% of companies with scope 3 absolute reduction targets over reporting companies	16%
Scope 3 emissions overview	
Average % of scope 3 emissions over total	92.3%
Average % of emissions coming from Purchased Goods and Services	74.5%
Average % change in scope 3 emissions	5.5%
Average negative % change in scope 3 emissions (reduction of scope 3 emissions)	-5%
Average positive % change in scope 3 emissions (increase in scope 3 emissions)	28.3%

Table 1 Summary of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking for the companies analyzed

The table provides an overview of the main quantitative results, divided in terms of disclosure, target-setting, and an overview of scope 3 emissions. The aim is to contextualize the relevance of scope 3 emissions and the focus of the thesis on Purchased Goods and Services, which makes up 74.5% of total emissions for the companies analyzed.

#### 5.1.1 State of scope 3 disclosure

The results of the analysis show that out of all companies analyzed (top 50), 48% disclosed scope 3 emissions. When accounting only for the companies disclosing ESG information through Sustainability, Annual or CDP Reports, the figure goes up to 63%. This result is in line
with the literature (Hansen et al., 2022; Reavis et al., 2022) and with the 2023 Food and Agriculture Benchmark of the World Benchmarking Alliance<sup>6</sup>, showing that 53% of companies met the scope 3 disclosure target, while the remaining 48% did not meet the target. Both datasets used for the analyses show that around half of companies in the food and beverage processing sector do not disclose scope 3 emissions. However, an analysis of reports shows that 7 out of the 26 companies not disclosing scope 3 emissions are in the process of calculating scope 3 emissions for future disclosure. This indicates a positive trend in terms of disclosure, which may be associated with the future entry into force of the CSRD (see section 2.2 for more information), which will mandate scope 3 disclosure for a series of companies based on their size, revenue, and total asset (European Commission, n.d.).

A first observation is that despite the low percentage of scope 3 disclosure, when accounting only for companies disclosing ESG information, the figure rises from 48% to 63%. This suggests that pressures from ESG disclosure may be associated with more transparency, as shown by some research on the matter (Belkhir et al., 2017; Hummel & Schlick, 2016; Matisoff et al., 2013). Moreover, of the companies disclosing scope 3 emissions, 63% do so through CDP reports, showing that disclosure of climate change information may lead to disclosing scope 3 emissions too (despite it not being mandatory). The role of the CDP as an MSI which leads to higher levels of transparency regarding GHG emissions is confirmed by this figure.

With regards to the data used to calculate scope 3 emissions, there is high variety among companies: the majority of companies use average product methods or spend-based methods, which are easier to access for companies but are also highly variable. Some companies use hybrid methods with a percentage of emissions coming from supplier (supplier-specific). The different data used for calculation is a prime example of the variability of the process leading to scope 3 disclosure. Evaluating the quality of this disclosure beyond transparency and the performance after disclosure beyond target-setting is a complex endeavor given the extreme variability of data used.

# 5.1.2 State of scope 3 action-taking: target setting and supplier engagement

This section will analyze the state of scope 3 action-taking, with a focus on target setting and supplier engagement. Because the aim of the sub-question is also to draw insights from the companies disclosing scope 3 emissions, figures from target-setting onwards represent the percentage over the reporting companies (38), showing more 'positive' results over the total.

Data regarding SBTi targets were gathered from the database of the SBTi7. The SBTi is the main reference to understand whether companies have set targets for GHG reduction. 66% of companies analyzed have set SBTi-approved targets, with 58% of them disclosing scope 3 emissions have SBTi-approved supplier engagement targets. However, there is a scarce amount of information in reports: companies mostly mention commitments and willingness to engage, with few information regarding measures to actually reduce emission, and when mentioned they refer to small-scale projects (e.g. milk premium program by Arla, agroecology program by Mars, agroforestry by Barry Callebaut). The issue of scalability of such programs will emerge in the qualitative analysis. Moreover, not all companies set reduction targets that go beyond scope 1 and 2. 55% of companies have scope 3 reduction intensity targets, meaning a reduction of scope 3 emissions over generated revenue or products sold. Committing to an intensity reduction means that companies focus to reduce the carbon intensity of their products and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> For more information on the dataset: <u>https://www.worldbenchmarkingalliance.org/food-and-agriculture-benchmark/</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> <u>https://sciencebasedtargets.org/target-dashboard</u>

operations, while still allowing an increase of overall emissions in the future. This commitment is less ambitious compared to an absolute reduction of emissions. When looking at companies committed to an absolute reduction of their scope 3 emissions, the figure drops to 16%. Only 10 companies have SBTi-approved targets which include an absolute reduction of scope 3 emissions. This figure suggests that the path from disclosure to taking action to reduce emissions is still complex for many companies, and that low percentage of commitments to absolute scope 3 reduction may be connected to a variety of issues that need to be further explored.

**Overall**, the current situation shows that the trend for both target-setting and supplier engagement is a positive one. However, transparency issues remain, with low levels of information regarding what happens after targets are set and commitments are expressed in sustainability and annual reports.

# 5.1.3 Scope 3 emissions overview: increase in emissions and the role of raw materials

The sample analyzed confirms what had been shown in previous research: by comparing scope 3 emissions to the total of the companies' GHG emissions, scope 3 represents on average 92.3% of a company's GHG emissions. Moreover, of the 21 companies disclosing additional information on the distribution of scope 3 emissions, on average 74.5% of emissions are related to Category 1. The result of this analysis has made the focus of the qualitative analysis on Category 1 emissions a definitive one. Despite commitments to reduce emissions, scope 3 emissions from the sample have been rising of an average of 5% from 2020 to 2021. However, the aim of this overview is not to discuss extensively rising emissions, since these numbers do not show a complete and contextualized picture of the EU's food processing sector: the companies analyzed are extremely different, with different emission portfolios and different commodities in their supply chain. This adds another dimension of complexity when wanting to compare across companies.

## 5.1.4 Discussion of results

The analysis reveals the increasing intention among companies to disclose their scope 3 emissions, indicating a positive trend in transparency and accountability, with clear frontrunners in scope 3 disclosure. However, scope 3 emission disclosure is still lagging behind among more than half of the companies included in the sample. Ultimately, there is an increasing acknowledgement of the importance of scope 3 emissions, with more companies committed to disclose, but many issues are still present. Supplier engagement is vaguely mentioned by many companies, while actions taken by frontrunners to implement more sustainable practices in agricultural supply chains remain small-scale projects and scalability remains a critical issue. Moreover, the lack of data comparability and transparency hinders an analysis that focuses of the process that led to disclosure beyond its results; this lack of transparency is present also when evaluating SBTi-approved targets. Finally, scope 3 emissions are on average still rising among the companies analyzed, highlighting the complexity of tackling scope 3 emissions as opposed to scope 1 and 2.

**Overall**, these results are in line with what is discussed in the literature. The choice of not delving into the reasons behind disclosure and the causal relationships between the types of companies and their actions (through a more thorough quantitative analysis) is motivated by the fact that there are already a series of scientific articles discussing and inferring on the causes of corporate disclosure (Marlowe et al., 2022; Reavis et al., 2022; Xia & Cai, 2023). The results of this analysis have shown that understanding how companies and external stakeholders deal with scope 3 emissions is essential to advance solutions to bridge the gap between the current

situation and what needs to be done to reduce emissions across the food value chain. The next sections will thus focus on the application of framing theory to understand how stakeholders frame scope 3 emissions disclosure and target-setting, and whether there are some shared understandings of how to advance solutions both in terms of scope 3 disclosure and in terms of the actions to be taken to reduce emissions in the value chain.

# 5.2 Stakeholder Frames of Scope 3 Emissions Disclosure and Actiontaking

As mentioned in the previous section, the sub-question has shown the importance of scope 3 emissions from raw materials in the agricultural supply chain. For this reason, the focus of the qualitative analysis is on Category 1 emissions. The term 'Scope 3' mentioned in the next sections will thus refer to these emissions specifically.

The following chapter will present the results of the analysis of stakeholder frames of scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking. The sections are divided based on the four macro-frames mirrored and expanded after the literature on framing theory and the results of the literature review (see section 2.3.2). The latter showed a particular focus on **Key Issues** and **Solutions**, which informed two of the macro-frames. Moreover, given the qualitative nature of the research, two more frames were added:

- **Moral judgements/current situation**: the aim of this code was to identify how the stakeholders frame the current system of disclosure and action-taking in relations to the food sector, and how they connect this judgement with problems and/or solutions.
- Envisioning the future: the aim of this code is to understand how stakeholders imagine the evolution of the system, and whether this evolution is informed by a positive and/or negative vision of the current system, of its problems and its solutions.

Within each section, different specific frames emerging from the analysis will be analyzed and discussed in relations to the three main groups of stakeholders (internal stakeholders, primary external stakeholders, secondary external stakeholders). These specific frames relate to scope 3 disclosure and/or scope 3 action-taking: the analysis of these two dimensions will be performed jointly because of the connection emerging between them. Therefore, some frames are shared among the two dimensions, while others specifically relate to either disclosure or action-taking. The connection between disclosure and action-taking emerging from the analysis is in line with the theory of change, which is the theory on which MSIs like the CDP base their objective: according to the theory of change, you cannot manage what you do not measure, meaning that carbon disclosure is necessary to unlock decarbonization strategies (CDP, n.d.). Moreover, when opinions by both primary and secondary external stakeholders will present similarities, their insights will be aggregated under the term 'external stakeholders'.

# 5.2.1 Scope 3 disclosure and action-taking contextual to the food system

Before delving into the insights emerging from the frames, the frames emerging were all connected by stakeholders to some characteristics of the food system which were deemed important to highlight. The analysis will thus start with an overview of which characteristics emerged as specific of and contextual to the food system.

The first characteristic relates to the way the food industry is built: food supply chains are mostly characterized by short-term relationships, short-term contracts with an inherent transient nature of the relationships between different tiers, which makes it difficult to monitor GHG emissions long-term, and also to calculate emissions and engage to reduce them. The food supply chain is a commodity-based supply chain [J, G]. This has consequences across all levels of the supply chain: the volatility of this commodity-based supply chain is connected to the

farming system, which is 'very site-specific and very complex' [L]. This has resurfaced multiple times in interviews [A, B, E, L, S], podcasts and reports (Coller FAIRR Climate Risk Tool 2023 Report, 2023; Marion Verles, n.d.-a, n.d.-b).

Food supply chains are also extremely complex, diversified and long, with lots of actors involved (Thomas Day et al., 2024): raw materials are usually aggregated through middlemen (e.g. crop, dairy, meat resellers), which make it difficult for companies to trace the raw material back to the origin farm and therefore monitor, account and reduce emissions. Companies are asked 'to understand their supply chains and the regions from where they are sourcing independently of the middlemen of the big traders. This is really complicated because it all gets mixed' [L]. Internal stakeholders are aware of this characteristic, which clashes with the GHG Protocol's focus on traceability, which many supply chains do not possess (Marion Verles, n.d.-a). This lack of transparency and traceability is a characteristic of the food system, which causes consumers to have a lack of understanding of where food comes from, how it is produced and the impact it has on the economy, on society and on the environment [M, A, J].

These impacts also relate to the **power structure of food supply chains**, which sees food processing companies and retailers holding the most power compared to farmers upstream in the supply chain. Moreover, the knowledge gap reduces consumers' power to change the system, but the power imbalance across the supply chain is mentioned by stakeholders particularly with regards to farmers: the space of maneuver in which farmers operate, along with how food processing companies deal with farmers in the context of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking, needs to be considered [C, I, G, F, B, J, K, E].

As in many other sectors, **GHG accounting tries to quantify climate impacts, trying to fit an ecological system into a numeric structure**. Interviewees from all stakeholder groups recognize that quantifying the impact of crops and farming *'isn't perfect because life isn't perfect, and nature isn't perfect. It was never meant to be perfect and fit into our square or counting boxes'*. (Marion Verles, n.d.-b). This characteristic ties with another one: many stakeholders, both internal and external, recognize that climate is not the only impact that the food system has on nature (role of biodiversity loss, water use, waste, antibiotics, use of pesticides), and also that GHG emissions are 'only' a driver of those impacts and a metric to assess anthropogenic impacts on the environment [J, L]. Scope 3 is recognized as one tool among many to reduce anthropogenic impacts on nature [I, J], with some stakeholders focusing more on the limitations of this framework [L, H].

Many stakeholders mention how general the term 'food sector' is, and how **different subsectors have different risks and solutions** [J, M, H]. These differences also extend to SMEs and big companies, and on the way different issues and solutions may play out for them. As mentioned in section 2.2, SMEs are a crucial component of the food processing sector in the EU: 99.2% of European food and drink businesses are SMEs, accounting for 40.5% of the sector's turnover and 58.4% of employment (Luc Schmerber et al., 2022). Finally, **the role of the public sector** highlighted, especially in relation to the issue of the subsidization of the food system in the context of the EU (see section 2): subsidies are considered by external stakeholders as a huge issue (Marion Verles & Thomas Blackburn, n.d.; Morgan Gillespy, 2024). This topic will be discussed thoroughly in the Solutions section.

To sum up, there are a series of context-specific characteristics emerging from the analysis:

- **Complex and Transient Supply Chains**, with volatile contracts closely tied to agriculture and farming practices and based on commodity-based supply chains.
- Lack of transparency and traceability in the food system and of consumer knowledge of the food system.

- The role of farmers and the power imbalances in the food supply chain.
- Quantification of ecological systems and broad environmental impacts beyond GHG emissions, impacting stakeholders' perspectives on the effectiveness of scope 3 disclosure as a framework for capturing climate impacts.
- The breadth of the food sector and the existence of many sub-sectors also impacts the variety of drivers for change and actionable solutions within the sector.
- **Differences Between SMEs and Large Companies** exist at every step of a company's action, from disclosure to the actions taken to reduce emissions.

# 5.2.2 Moral Judgements/Current Situation

To understand how problems and solutions are framed it is necessary to understand how the current situation is framed by stakeholders. The aim of the current section is to identify moral judgements around scope 3 disclosure and action-taking, with three frames of analysis emerging:

- 1. Opportunity/Risk
- 2. Lack/Presence of External Pressure
- 3. Disclosure and Guidelines' System in Evolution

#### **Opportunity/risk**

**Internal stakeholders** mostly frame scope 3 as an opportunity to avoid further risks. Big companies consider scope 3 disclosure as an opportunity to make strategic relationships, to advance products with sustainable portfolios, to become the frontrunners in scope 3 disclosure. The insights from interviews add another layer: opportunities in terms of financial benefit for the companies were not mentioned by the sustainability consultants interviewed. One of them mentioned that the current situation does not allow their company to reap the benefits of disclosure through price premiums, since customers and consumers are 'not ready to discuss if this would give a price premium. Or they discuss, but they will refuse it, basically, or the premiums are ridiculously low in in relation to the cost.' [B]. More than opportunity to act scope 3 was framed as a risk not to act, especially given the future development of the CSRD in the EU and the risk of lagging behind. [A]

**Primary and secondary external stakeholders** both mention risks of not disclosing and reducing scope 3 emissions but focus more on the opportunities that engaging with scope 3 brings about: reducing costs, growing market share, building new businesses, mitigating supply chain risks (Charlotte Bricheux et al., 2024; Olivia Bertham, n.d.). Neglecting scope 3 disclosure is identified as 'a triple-natured risk: Reputational, financial, operational' (Sofia Pyrgioti, 2023). There is also an opportunity to learn and show progress: one consultant mentions the opportunity that scope 3 disclosure gives company to learn and to identify hotspots [H, I], this opportunity to learn is identified also by data providers (Marion Verles & Thomas Blackburn, n.d.). Finally, companies can move from measurement into action through data in line with the theory of change [F, J, C]. *Disclosure can drive action, which is the ultimate goal*' [L], and this opportunity to act and improve 'is one of the other key reasons why we need to do this and why', since 'improved scope 3 reporting is an essential foundation for any of those initiatives to really show and gain credibility on the impact, because at the end it has to add up to a reduction in the scope 3' [C].

To sum up, all stakeholders seem to share the idea that scope 3 is necessary, either because it is an opportunity to act or because it is a risk not to. Scope 3 disclosure and action-taking is framed as an opportunity by external stakeholders, but as a risk by internal ones, which still fail to see the benefit of embarking in scope 3 disclosure in the first place.

#### Lack/presence of external pressure

All stakeholders identify a variety of pressure sources pushing companies to disclose. **MSIs are** an important source of pressure, particularly the CDP, which as the research has shown

(Anastasia Volkova, 2022a; Anay Mridul, 2024; Olivia Bertham, n.d.), it was able to leverage on investors to pressure big companies to disclose GHG emissions. This source of pressure is recognized to be more applicable to big MNCs, as one sustainability manager also highlights [A], but it is also identified by many interviewees as a general pressure for all companies to engage more [H, C, I]. **Pressure from investors** is also identified as a stand-alone pressure source by internal and external stakeholders (Guillaume Boinnard et al., 2023). However, there are different opinions regarding the extent of investor's pressure: investors' organizations such FAIRR highlight the role of investors' pressure (Philippa Thornton, 2020, 2021), however some interviewees are skeptical regarding the influence of investors at the current level [E].

**Pressure from future government regulations** (in particular the CSRD in the EU) is mentioned by both interviewees [A, B], pushing companies to 'not do it by choice anymore' [A]. This is backed by a recent survey by SustainCert, showing that respondents believed that 'changes to the legal environment will have implications for how their businesses ensure their interventions have accurate and credible results' (Blakeney LAB, n.d.). External pressure from retailers is also mentioned, with particular relevance for SMEs: the sustainability manager from the SME interviewed has highlighted that the reason the company started disclosing emissions was because they contributed significantly to a series of supermarket chains' scope 3 emissions [A]. This pressure from retailers is also mentioned by all stakeholders, highlighting a consensus around the fact that the reason for disclosure does not come from consumers [M, G, J], (Helena Wright et al., 2022).

To sum up, several actors are identified in connection to presence or lack of pressure: MSIs; Governments and regulatory requirements; Investors; Retailers and Consumers. External pressure is generally framed positively, which suggests that stakeholders are determined to improve the system rather than discard it altogether. Pressure points coming from MSIs, and regulations are deemed the most significant for food processing companies. Pressure for retailers is also important, with a significant cascading effect leading less engaged companies in the value chain to adhere to disclosure requirements (especially relevant for SMEs). Some stakeholders are more skeptical of investors' pressure, and all stakeholders identify a lack of pressure for consumers.

#### Disclosure and guidelines' system in evolution

Despite the issues associated with the current framework of disclosure (as will be outlined in the Key Issues section), all stakeholders recognize that the system of scope 3 disclosure is a system in evolution, meaning that it is not fully set up yet [A, B, D, F, H, M]. In particular, **both internal and external stakeholders** frame their role and actions with regards to this constant evolution of the system: **internal stakeholders** recognize that the disclosure system is improving, providing a more coherent outline for companies on how to navigate the system , and levels the playing field for companies in case of policies like the CSRD aimed at mandating scope 3 disclosure [A, B]. **Both internal and external stakeholders**, however, also highlights the limits that companies might have in adjusting to this rapidly evolving field [A], both in terms of the actions taken by companies and the accuracy in reporting emissions [H]. Moreover, there is a shared understanding that the focus on disclosure might negatively impact actions: the tradeoff between better disclosure and actionable and scalable solutions is mentioned by both internal and external stakeholders (Marion Verles, n.d.-a, n.d.-b; Marion Verles & Thomas Blackburn, n.d.) [B, C, E, I], and will be discussed in the Key Issues section.

**External stakeholders** share the idea that this evolving system will lead to more disclosure, which is backed up by the increasing numbers of companies reporting (Blakeney LAB, n.d.) and more action, allowing us 'to understand what actions work and what actions don't work' [C]. Regarding guidelines to drive action, one interviewee frames the current system as being in a pilot phase [E]. Stakeholders across all three groups also mention the evolution of data available [B, E, H].

This characteristic presents both issues and opportunities to improve (as discussed in the following sections).

# Shared and conflicting frames of Moral Judgements/Current Situation

To sum up (see <u>Table 5.2</u> for overview), stakeholders across various sectors acknowledge the importance of Scope 3 emissions, viewing them either as an opportunity for action or a risk if not addressed. External stakeholders emphasize the benefits of Scope 3 disclosure, highlighting financial, reputational, and climate-related risks of inaction, while internal stakeholders perceive it more as a risk. Pressure from multiple sources, including MSIs, regulations, investors, retailers, and consumers, is recognized as crucial for driving change, particularly in the food processing industry. However, there are concerns about regulatory issues, the effectiveness of disclosure pressure in prompting action, and power dynamics within the supply chain. The evolving nature of the system is seen both positively and negatively, presenting opportunities for sector-specific approaches but also raising uncertainties and challenges in implementation. There is a recognized **tradeoff between data accuracy in disclosure and action**: the system is evolving but many stakeholders recognize that companies cannot wait to solve the accounting challenges before enacting action on the ground.

# 5.2.3 Key Issues

The following section will present how stakeholders frame the issues associated with scope 3 disclosure and action-taking, with four frames of analysis emerging:

- 4. Data Issues
- 5. Cost and Administrative Burdens
- 6. External Pressure/Lack of internalization
- 7. Lack of Knowledge to Operationalize Change

These four frames are connected to each other and cause stakeholders to doubt the effectiveness of the system. After explaining the main characteristics of each frame, these doubts will be presented, along with a summary of shared and conflicting frames for Key Issues.

## <u>Data Issues</u>

**Issues regarding data quality are recognized by all stakeholders** to be a relevant barrier to scope 3 disclosure, in accordance with a lot of the literature (Blanco et al., 2016; Busch et al., 2022; Stenzel & Waichman, 2023). Data issues are related to (1) the complexity of the process of data-gathering and of accessing high-quality data, (2) the use of secondary data and its lack of transparency and interoperability, and (3) the high variety of data used by companies along the supply chain. As shown by many reports, data quality and accessibility currently represent the biggest obstacle for scope 3 disclosure (FAIRR Initiative, 2024; Guillaume Boinnard et al., 2023; Silvana Paniagua Tufinio et al., n.d.). Data for raw materials along the supply chain is considered extremely difficult to access, along with being cost and time intensive. Currently, most of the data used are secondary data based on different emission factors (Hansen et al., 2022; Reavis et al., 2022; Stenzel & Waichman, 2023; Wenning et al., 2022), and companies calculate emissions mostly through spend-based methods, which is not considered to be the most reliable and representative method to assess a company's GHG emissions (Stenzel & Waichman, 2023).

**Internal stakeholders** are mostly concerned with the complexity of the process. The data is considered "not very stable and reliable" [A], and the process of data-gathering is seen as a cumbersome exercise when the situation regarding data is still unsolved (Marion Verles & Thomas Blackburn, n.d.). Interviews have shown that the concern is shared by both multinational companies and SMEs. The different emission factors yielding different results lead to a lot of uncertainty among companies, and the data which is then gathered through secondary methods do not materialize the issue for some companies [A,B], for which this is still seen as a

bureaucratic exercise with no effect on the company's awareness towards its climate impact, as mentioned by one interviewee: "right now with the data I have there's never going to be any difference in my scope 3 emissions when I don't have the real data and it's all an estimate" [A]. The Conference has highlighted the fact that most companies still use secondary data, but that primary data are seen as better performing [A, B]. Given the current situation and the primacy of secondary data, the issue of data transparency thus becomes a relevant one [B].

Primary external stakeholders also identify data issues as relevant for companies' scope 3 disclosure and action-taking. For sustainability consultants, data is considered inconsistent, leading to partial scope 3 inventories (Olivia Bertham, n.d.) and recognize the reluctance of companies to gather data and the fact that "some clients are scared about the amount of data they have to collect" [G]. Data and tech providers frame the lack of transparency in terms of the accuracy gap between companies and the source of the data they use (Marion Verles & Thomas Blackburn, n.d.). Spend-based data are recognized as an issue due to their lack of precision, along with accessing more transparent data due to the existence of a series of black boxes at different levels of data access (Marion Verles & Thomas Blackburn, n.d.), slowing down progress on accurate disclosure. The problem for many primary external stakeholders lies in the use of secondary data which lack granularity. Secondary data are seen as insufficient [F] (Anay Mridul, 2024), while primary data present stronger incentives for farmers to reduce emissions. However, while the importance of primary data is advocated by many [I, G], there are a lot of internal stakeholders that still problematize the access to primary data [A, B] (Marion Verles, n.d.-a, n.d.b), and the results of the previous analysis (see section 5.1) shows that companies still use secondary data to disclose scope 3 emissions. Secondary external stakeholders share similar insights regarding data issues, albeit being more critical regarding the way data is used, shared, and owned in the scope 3 framework. They express different opinions regarding primary data: for some (as for internal stakeholders), it is considered a complex endeavor, and does not seem to be considered a solution [L]. However, others recognize the importance of primary data [C, D, J], recognizing the issue of outdated emission factors [L] (Guillaume Boinnard et al., 2023).

To sum up, all stakeholders recognize data quality as a significant barrier to scope 3 disclosure, including concerns about the complexity of data-gathering processes, lack of transparency, and the use of inconsistent data. Moreover, accessing primary data is extremely difficult, costly, and time-intensive, while secondary data, which are commonly used by companies, are considered problematic due to uncertainties, lack of transparency, and inconsistencies, leading to different scope 3 estimates. Internal stakeholders are primarily concerned with the complexity of the data-gathering process and the reliability of the data. They perceive data issues as hindering their ability to accurately assess their scope 3 emissions and take meaningful action. External stakeholders, while recognizing the issues related to data gathering, advocate for better ways to deal with data and highlight the importance of primary data and of data-sharing among companies.

#### Cost and Administrative Burdens

The process of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking is also framed in terms of cost and administrative burdens for companies. **All stakeholder groups** recognize the process as a burden for companies, from the cost of setting up the process of accounting and disclosure, to gathering data and then to ultimately reducing emissions.

The cost is not framed as one worth pursuing for an improvement of the company, but only as a result of external pressure [A, D]. The cost of gathering data is also recognized by data and tech suppliers [F, J, M] (Marion Verles & Thomas Blackburn, n.d.), and it is exacerbated by the need for more investment to improve the whole system (David Burrows, 2022). **External stakeholders** are more positive, highlighting how the field is improving, but also mentioning disadvantages for SMEs in terms of budget constraints for sustainability projects [A, G, H].

Moreover, they consider the risk of not acting (both in terms of regulatory frameworks but also risks for the companies because of climate degradation) as a good driver. Internal stakeholders are generally aware of both risks, as shown by interviewees [A, B], with regulatory frameworks being a stronger driver to act and disclose emissions.

In terms of administrative burdens, all stakeholders focus on data-gathering but also on setting up the whole system, and the uncertainty on what to do afterwards. These uncertainties are contextual to the food sector (as mentioned in the previous section): the existence of big supply chains in which raw materials get aggregated limits traceability of raw materials to the farms of origin, therefore limiting the possibility of accounting for emissions and acting on them [E, L] (Guillaume Boinnard et al., 2023; Guillaume Bône et al., 2024). Both internal stakeholders [B] and external stakeholders highlight these barriers to traceability in the supply chain [D, ]]. The complexity of engaging with a high number of suppliers was a common issue raised by companies during the conference [The Future of Food and Beverage, IF, 2024]. It is necessary for companies to develop capabilities that they had never had to develop before [A] (Marion Verles, n.d.-a). Moreover, external stakeholders also recognize that the cost and burden that scope 3 disclosure and action-taking exist for all actors in the supply chain, with a particular focus on farmers [G, L, E, J, F]: the power imbalance in the supply chain risks shifting the burden towards farmers, with companies requesting data and raw materials with specific characteristics. In the conference, the issue emerged in relation to both scope 3 disclosure and action-taking. A member of a UK Farmers' Association highlighted the lack of trust that farmers have in projects implemented by companies, which are usually short-term and lack the necessary distribution of risks [The Future of Food and Beverage, IF, 2024]. The relationship between companies and farmers (B to F, business to farm) is a crucial dimension in which engagement is needed, and external stakeholders are shown to be steering frontrunners' attention towards it

**Overall**, there is a general consensus that scope 3 emissions represent a financial and administrative cost for food processing companies. These costs are connected to data issues and are contextual to the food supply chain and the lack of transparency and traceability of raw materials back to the farm of origin. **All stakeholders** see mandatory disclosure forcing companies as an important driver, but **internal stakeholders** frame it as a burden, apparently failing to recognize that the cost of not disclosing is also a physical risk for food companies due to the effect of climate change of raw materials' supply chains. Moreover, while companies mainly focus on internal costs, **external stakeholders** also focus on costs for farmers during the process of data gathering and the actions taken to reduce emissions. It is important to address how to shift the perception of companies with regards to viewing scope 3 disclosure mainly as a financial burden while making sure that disclosure incentivizes GHG reduction efforts.

## External Pressure/Lack of Internalization

As mentioned in the previous section, there is a shared understanding that external pressure is not inherently bad: however, there is a recognized risk that external pressure might hinder the ultimate action of scope 3 disclosure, which is to reduce emissions. As expressed by one interviewee: 'We're at danger of hitting the goal but missing the point [...] there is a danger with disclosure, with reporting, that you're so focused on that that you missed the point of what we're trying to do, which is to build a more resilient, healthy food system'. [I]. There is a shared consensus that external pressure might fail in its objective due to a lack of internalizing the process and the final aim of the process.

For internal stakeholders, mandating ESG disclosure through a regulation such as the CSRD is seen as a push to disclose: however, stakeholders also express while they may solve the issue of disclosure in the long run, in the short run they will redirect resources towards accounting,

away from action [A, B]. The way stakeholders are acting is by 'trying to be compliant without doing anything because it's so much work and we have such a broad supply base that it's not really possible to engage with all those suppliers that you would have to take into consideration.' [A]. Sustainability managers present at the conference raised the issue of bringing the long-term perspective within the company's behavior. Scope 3 disclosure, and more importantly the actions to reduce emissions are not internalized by companies because the way the system works prioritizes short-term gains as opposed to long-term securitization of a company's supply chain. Implementing this long-term vision of resilience is seen as an obstacle by many, despite the recognition that it is a necessary shift [The Future of Food and Beverage, IF, 2024].

**Some external stakeholders** also recognize the facet presented by internal stakeholders: one sustainability professional mentions the risk that disclosure might lead to companies being *'hammered down by regulations'* [E], and another expresses the concern that regulations such as the CSRD might play out to be counterproductive if not internalized by companies [L]. Moreover, **external stakeholders** also recognize that this lack of internalization leads companies to shift the external pressure further up the value chain: theoretically, the regulation aims at pushing companies to act within their supply chain to reduce emissions, but according to two primary external stakeholders, the way companies approach the issue is by putting high demands on farmers with too little remuneration, treating it as a revenue model with funds flowing to the company and not to farmers, causing farmers to lose the motivation to participate [C, D]. This lack of internalization can become a vicious circle affecting the willingness to act of the company at the end of the supply chain and of the farmers at its beginning.

The way stakeholders frame this external pressure shows that they all recognize positive aspects in terms of increasing accountability, but that it also needs to be accompanied and directed appropriately to avoid two things:

- That companies just disclose and set targets because they have to without changing their operations. So we need pressure to be directed towards accountability but also towards action and rewarding companies that act, by creating an environment that does so.
- That companies shift the pressure towards farmers and actors with less power in the supply chain. So we need pressure to push companies to act, to make it profitable for farmers to collaborate and to create a more collaborative supply chain

Balancing external pressure to provide more incentives rather than obstacles, while avoiding that the negative pressure is shifted to farmers up the value chain, is considered crucial by stakeholders to allow actions to take place.

## Lack of Knowledge to Operationalize Change

All stakeholders mention that both disclosure and action-taking are characterized by a lack of knowledge to operationalize change. In particular internal stakeholders emphasize how this lack of knowledge becomes an obstacle to reduce emissions because after disclosure happens, there is no clear strategy on how to use disclosure to enact change [B, A] (Marion Verles, n.d.-a, n.d.-b). Companies risk to focus on the wrong things since the system is *'completely under construction'* [A]. This lack of knowledge also affects action-taking, and is attributed by internal stakeholders to a general aversity to change within the food sector [A] (EcoVadis, n.d.; Marion Verles, n.d.-a). In particular, it is complex for companies to change operations that have been the core of a company's revenue: as one stakeholder mentions, the company produces a specific kind of product, *'that's what we do at the end of the day, we make food and we sell it to customers'* [A], while disclosing and reducing scope 3 emissions impose a fundamental shift in the way a food company operates.

**External stakeholders** also recognize this lack of knowledge connecting it to the food sector as a whole and to its *'opacity'* [E] and lack of traceability  $[\Pi]$  (Corrina Filipović, n.d.). There are

many ways to interpret the guidance on scope 3 disclosure, and there is no 'silver bullet' for a lot of commodities 'other than just decreasing the amount of some of the commodities that we know have a larger footprint' [J]. Despite recognizing the role that organizations such as the GHG Protocol and the CDP had in promoting GHG disclosure, many external stakeholders highlight the complexity of following the guidance for a lot of different players in the sector (Marion Verles & Thomas Blackburn, n.d.), highlighting the need for more specific guidance [J] (Guillaume Boinnard et al., 2023). However, they also highlight that food processing companies can mitigate the issue through increasing transparency within the supply chain (as will be discussed in the solutions section) [D, C, J, L, E] (Guillaume Boinnard et al., 2023; Silvana Paniagua Tufinio et al., n.d.; Thomas Day et al., 2024).

**Overall**, we can see that all stakeholders recognize the lack of knowledge as a barrier to operationalize change in the supply chain. The main focus of all stakeholders is connected to the lack of knowledge to reduce emissions after they have been disclosed: this issue is explicitly connected to the food sector as a whole, to its adversity to change and to its opaque supply chains. There is a focus on improving the guidance, especially for actions: companies want more information on what can be reported as action, so tackling the guidance is fundamental to push companies to act. **External stakeholders** seem to have a more positive attitude. They focus on the need for transparency in the supply chain, and on the role that food processing companies need to have by engaging farms and middlemen in the supply chain. Acting on these two areas can reduce barriers regarding traceability of raw materials and complexity of engaging with farmers. However, like internal stakeholders, external stakeholders recognize that the current food system needs to change as companies' behaviors change in order for this knowledge gap to be overcome.

# Doubts on System's Effectiveness

All mentioned issues converge into a final issue: all stakeholders highlight that they have some doubts regarding how effective the concept and idea of scope 3 emissions is for food processing companies. Some stakeholders fear that disclosure and reporting will not lead to the actions needed to reduce emissions. This fear is motivated by the fact that the focus for companies and regulators is still on reporting, while **what happens between reporting and setting targets is still clouded by doubts,** [B, A, I]. Many stakeholders are unsure on whether these targets will be reached, an issue connected to how targets are set and the lack of communication of the path that companies intend to take to reach the targets [B, J, L], showing that despite target-setting, doubts are still widespread across companies. This issue is mirrored by the food system, which focuses on the commodities (the results) and not on what happens in the farm to grow those commodities (the process). This connection shows that scope 3 disclosure and action-taking for food processing companies is intertwined with the food supply chain, and that issues and solutions are connected.

## Shared and Conflicting Frames of Key Issues

There is a common thread connecting all of the issues (see <u>Table 5.3</u> for overview): data issues and cost and administrative burdens influence the lack of knowledge to operationalize change in companies' supply chains (problem for action-taking specifically). This lack of knowledge is also caused by a lack of internalization of both scope 3 disclosure and actions to reduce emissions, which are mostly perceived as coming from outside (external pressure). While external pressure was framed positively by all stakeholders – as shown in the previous section – here we can see how pressure which is not accompanied by knowledge-building within and across companies creates obstacles for an increase in disclosure and the uptake of actions reducing emissions across the supply chain. All of these issues feed doubts on whether the system is actually able to do what it is meant to do, which is ultimately achieve a more sustainable and climate-neutral food system. These doubts can circle back to the initial issues fueling more

uncertainty (see Figure 5.1 in Appendix II). It is thus important to understand how these issues link to each other to envision solutions and contextualize them.

Looking at shared frames, we can notice the general focus on the lack of transparency of the food supply chain, which complicates data-gathering processes and exacerbates the knowledge gap for food companies. There is a need for improvement and standardization of secondary data across companies and within the supply chain. This lack of knowledge is present both during disclosure and action-taking processes, with action-taking being more crucial and facing the biggest knowledge gap. Moreover, all stakeholders agree that regulatory compliance drives companies to disclose, as the cost of not disclosing is high. However, external pressure to disclose may prioritize reporting over emissions reduction, hindering the ultimate goal of the system.

Looking at conflicting frames, for some internal stakeholders the nature of the food sector creates limits to the level of transparency and traceability achievable: they express doubts regarding the role of primary data, while external stakeholders disagree on issues related to data ownership and data sharing. The cost of disclosure and action-taking is also framed more narrowly by companies, prioritizing internal costs, while external stakeholders also focus on the cost for farmers. This shows that scope 3 disclosure is not an internalized process: for external stakeholders, the issue lies with companies viewing the process only as a cost in the present and not as an opportunity to reduce climate-related costs in the future. Finally, all stakeholders recognize the mismatch between disclosure and action-taking. Pressure needs to be directed towards accountability but also towards action and rewarding: however, external stakeholders fear that companies might shift the pressure towards farmers and actors with less power in the supply chain.

# 5.2.4 Solutions

The following section will present how stakeholders frame the solutions associated with scope 3 disclosure and action-taking, with four frames of analysis emerging:

- 1. Accessibility/Affordability of Data
- 2. Standardization for transparency
- 3. Financing, Incentivizing, and Scaling Up
- 4. Public and Private Sector

These four frames will ultimately connect to the issues highlighted in the previous section, showing how to advance actionable solutions for the food processing sector, how different solutions affect the actors involved and which solutions still need further research to understand how to shift from conflicting to shared frames. After an in-depth explanation of the 4 frames, the final section will present shared and conflicting frames for Solutions.

## Accessibility/Affordability of Data

As shown in the previous section, stakeholders identify data quality and availability as an important issue to address, recognizing the issue of accessing primary data, and the uncertainties that still characterize secondary data. For internal stakeholders, the first step to solve the issue of data-gathering is to have better and more affordable data. One sustainability manager mentions this in relation to the complexity of calculating emissions every year to update the process of disclosure [B]. A solution was seen in automating data collection, and using technology to speed up the process, hence reduce the cost associated with data-gathering. Companies involved in accurate data-gathering processes, such as HowGood, Regrow and Normative, already provide more accurate databases for companies to engage in their value chain with a clearer picture of their scope 3 emissions. In order to solve the issue of the variety of data sources and emission factors, internal stakeholders propose to have shared data across the supply chain through the use of public databases [B]: this is also shared by external

stakeholders [H, J, L]. The use of public databases could also redirect companies' resources towards action rather than on calculation, speeding up the process of GHG reduction [B]. Therefore, affordability is seen as a driver for action, although reliable data are still seen as necessary by all stakeholders to drive action [B, C, E, F, G, I].

All external stakeholders share many of the concepts expressed by internal stakeholders. As mentioned in the Key Issues section, both primary and secondary data have their limitations, and choosing between primary and secondary data has a trade-off, between obtaining higher quality data and allocating more time and resources to do so [I, C]. Therefore, while primary data are recognized to be of higher quality, access to reliable secondary data is important to allow all companies to disclose emissions which can then be acted upon. For many external stakeholders there is potential to ultimately reduce emissions using both data sources by establishing a 'data journey' and calculating primary data when specific raw materials require more effort [F, D] (David Burrows, 2022): this concept is seen as having the potential to shift companies' perception of data gathering. Frontrunners share this idea, showing commitment to increasing data quality and having the advantage of having started the journey before the rest of the sector (Anastasia Volkova, 2022b): according to General Mills, 'data collection and a cost effective analysis methodology that is aligned with carbon accounting standards' is a critical component of the company's sustainability journey (Anastasia Volkova, 2022b).

However, it is important to recognize SMEs' and non-frontrunners' concerns regarding data accessibility [A]. This is why secondary external stakeholders also consider making emission factors of important raw materials public at the national level and sharing data across companies in the value chain. The latter is important to create a network within a company's value chain that starts with data-gathering and strengthens through collaboration to reduce emissions (Can tech help us). Both primary and secondary external stakeholders also mention the role of technology to automate, reduce costs and make disclosure scalable, accessible and helping all companies in the supply chain [F] (Sofia Pyrgioti, 2023). Stakeholders working with farmers mention the role of technologies for data gathering in farms [C, D, E, F]: 'encouraging the adoption of innovative technologies such as using farm management software for more efficient crop management can enable farmers to optimize inputs, reduce waste, and improve overall efficiency.' (Corrina Filipović, n.d.). Automation is also seen as an important resource to reduce the burden of primary data collection on farmers, thereby reducing the power imbalance across the supply chain and allowing more space for collaboration [F, I]. Moreover, automation will also allow SMEs to track emissions in a cost-effective way [F]. However, all stakeholders recognize that these initiatives are not moving fast enough for companies to be able to wait for definitive solutions coming from technology [F, B] (Sofia Pyrgioti, 2023). This is where the role of regulators might come in, as highlighted by Stenzel and Weichmann (2023). Public regulators could ease the process of data access and data sharing across companies, aside from providing public databases for reliable emission factors and incentivizing common data platforms across a company's supply chain to avoid sensitive data-sharing (Stenzel & Waichman, 2023).

Finally, in order to allow companies to report on actions using granular data while accounting for the transient nature of supply chains (described in section 5.2.1), **mass balance is discussed by external stakeholders** [F, I, D,] as a way to align the guidelines on reporting actions to the reality of the supply chain: given the complexity of sourcing the origin of a crop back to the farm in which it was grown, companies can account for emissions reduction actions carried out within a supply shed, meaning a specific group of suppliers growing a similar crop in proportion to the volume of goods produced (Alexi Ernstoff, 2023). Using mass balance allows companies to be recognized for actions in the supply chain even if traceability is currently not high, incentivizing actions through accountability.

To sum up, there is a consensus on the role of the public sector in facilitating data-sharing by easing regulations and establishing public databases, as mentioned by Stenzel and Weichmann (2023). All stakeholders share the idea that technology is a crucial enabler for both primary and secondary data collection processes. In particular, primary data has the potential to become more accessible thanks to automation of in-farm data gathering, with positive outcomes for both companies and farmers by reducing burdens and improving efficiency. External stakeholders recognize that frontrunners will initially benefit more from these technological advancements, and that SMEs will struggle more to access granular data. For this reason, internal stakeholders ask for reliable public databases to allow free access to reliable emission factors to ease the initial process of data collection. Additionally, achieving data granularity while accommodating the concept of mass balance is emphasized to enable companies in the food sector to monitor emissions effectively, even in the face of volatile supply chains. Finally, there's a shared understanding that despite data imperfections, action remains the final objective: external stakeholders emphasize that the discourse around the trade-off between data quality and action needs to be shifted to a more positive one enhancing a data journey for companies, whose destination is the reduction of GHG emissions in the food value chain.

#### Standardization for transparency

The focus on the following frame is on solutions to increase transparency through standardizing scope 3 disclosure. **Standardization through mandatory disclosure is seen as an important driver to lead to higher levels of disclosure**. This idea is shared by all stakeholders: **internal stakeholders** recognize that mandatory disclosure will help level the playing field and force everyone, and not only the companies already committed to sustainability, to disclose scope 3 emissions [A, B]. Standardization is thus mainly framed as mandatory disclosure by stakeholders across all groups [A, B, L, C, G, I, J] (ClientEarth, 2019; Morgan Gillespy, 2024; Sofia Pyrgioti, 2023).For companies standardization is also important to be able to claim action (EcoVadis, n.d.; Marion Verles, n.d.-a, n.d.-b; Morgan Gillespy, 2024), and a mandated disclosure will allow frontrunners to claim better performance with regards to disclosure.

In order to claim action, internal stakeholders also call for exhaustive guidance, given the above-mentioned mismatch between disclosure and the actions taken to reach the targets set by companies. Among all stakeholders interviewed and the documents analyzed, a specific concept is presented as a potential solution, albeit with many different opinions on the matter: allowing market-based mechanisms to be accounted for in scope 3 disclosure. Market-based mechanisms are already allowed to account and disclose scope 2 emissions, to account for the purchase of renewable energy and the eventual reduction of the emission intensity of the company's operations because of the use of renewable energy (GHG Protocol, n.d.). The implementation of market-based mechanisms for agricultural emissions is currently debated by the GHG Protocol (GHG Protocol, 2024): this would allow companies to account for actions aimed at reducing scope 3 emissions for commodities purchase from common pools with other companies, and in which direct contracting with suppliers or traceability are not possible (GHG Protocol, 2024). Stakeholders have mentioned market-based instruments in the interviews, but no consensus has emerged on the implementation of the measure. In particular, different measures regarding its implementation have been mentioned (inset credits, supply shed interventions, mass balance certifications) [C, E, F, G, H].

However, there are different opinions regarding market-based mechanisms. The framework is still a debated one, however there is a recognition that marked-based mechanisms could solve the difficulty of accessing the specific origin of some raw materials in the food supply chain, along with allowing companies to report actions from a supply shed even when supply chains are changing every year. The concept emerged as a solution in the making and needs more research to understand which type of mechanism could benefit the most the food system as a whole. Market-based mechanisms are mentioned specifically by MNCs, which

because of their complex and tentacular supply chains could benefit from such a framework (Barry Callebaut, Nestle, Mars, General Mills). Particularly, collaboration between companies in the food processing sector to define a feasible framework [I] (Marion Verles, n.d.-a) could solve the issue of allocating emissions and emission reduction in supply chains in which companies source from the same middlemen. Some stakeholders are more skeptical with regards to market-based mechanisms [B, L, N, M]. These issues are related to the issues brought forward by many stakeholders after market-based calculations were allowed for scope 2 emissions: one stakeholder mentions the controversial effects that this mechanism has had in pushing for a faster adoption of renewable energy [L], and it is backed by some research on the matter (Brander et al., 2018). Moreover, they mention the possibility that such a mechanism could backfire, becoming a market for profit rather than a market for reductions: 'are we able to control these markets to produce the type of output that they need to produce, and not just trade' [L]. Looking at the current discussion brought forward by the GHG protocol, along with the doubts expressed, there is still not a general consensus on how to implement and regulate such a framework.

Regardless of market-based mechanisms, **some internal stakeholders** advocate for companies in the food processing sector to collaborate to standardize monitoring and calculation processes to create a more collaborative and standardized environment [B] (Marion Verles, n.d.-a, n.d.-b; Morgan Gillespy, 2024) to then compete for impacts. **According to external stakeholders**, these collaborative structures can also benefit SMEs through the creation of consortiums: one sustainability manager mentions this as a solution to standardize disclosure across a series of small companies engaged in the same sector, to also overcome the issue associated with cost [G], while both internal and external stakeholders see consortiums as a way to also generate impact in SMEs' supply chains through collaborations and engagement with common suppliers [B, E, I].

To sum up, all stakeholders recognize the role of mandatory disclosure as an important driver for standardization. Internal stakeholders highlight not only the need to push, but also the need to guide: the concepts of mass balance and market-based instruments are discussed as potential drivers. However, they still lack a consensus across all three stakeholder groups, but there is the acknowledgement that the food sector is a specific sector which needs specific solutions. Moreover, some stakeholders put emphasis on collaboration across companies to achieve consensus on reporting practices, encouraging competition on actions rather than reporting.

# Financing, Incentivizing, and Scaling Up

All stakeholders recognize financing as the most important measure to act and reduce emissions. A recent Climate Policy Initiative (CPI) study indicated that agriculture has traditionally received low investments when it comes to climate mitigation (2.5% of total climate finance in 2020), and that the sector would need 26 times more annual funding (USD \$423 billion in annual investment by 2030), to align with the low-carbon trajectory. In addition, the investment gap in nature-based solutions remains exceptionally high (Daniela Chiriac et al., 2023).

To achieve the necessary reductions in the agricultural supply chain, **stakeholders** recognize the need to increase in-farm projects to shift to more sustainable practices: the solution identified by most stakeholders lies in the financing of regenerative agriculture<sup>8</sup> (RA), which is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Regenerative agriculture is an alternative means of producing food identified as having lower or even positive social and environmental impacts. In a paper by Newton et al. (2020), the authors recognize that there is still no legal or regulatory definition of the term. The authors identify process-based and outcome-based definitions, with a rapidly growing research field. Schreefel et al. (2020) reviewed 28 peer-reviewed articles to provide a definition of Regenerative Agriculture: the term relates to environmental themes such as resource management, water quality and availability, alleviate climate change, with a strong focus on

mentioned as the go-to solution by **internal stakeholders** (EcoVadis, n.d.; Marion Verles, n.d.b, n.d.-a; Morgan Gillespy, 2024)To achieve the necessary level of implementation, farmers need to be incentivized through economic schemes (premiums) which can make regenerative agriculture a preferred alternative [C]. **The conference** highlighted the need to understand how to implement RA beyond pilot products, to reshape the way the food system works and to put farmers at the center: companies need to establish implementation strategies that put farmers at the center of the conversation, to support them through the implementation of RA. However, as the literature also shows (Newton et al, 2020; Schreefel et al., 2020), RA has been adopted as a concept by all stakeholders, however the strategy and actions to implement it are still embryonal also because there is no common definition of what RA is. The different metrics used by companies to define RA present challenges for upstream suppliers: it is necessary to align on a common framework (Morgan Gillespy, 2024).

**Creating financing schemes** is also discussed in conjunction with implementing a mechanism of penalties for unresponsive suppliers [A, B, D, E] (Sofia Pyrgioti, 2023). This is identified as a solution by some stakeholders, but also as an issue: a sustainability manager mentions that switching suppliers may present risks in securing commodities for the company [A], while an external stakeholder also mentions that switching suppliers will not solve the issue within the farm, and it will just lead to a different company sourcing from it [I]. The issues brought forward by these stakeholders show that penalty measures are not seen as a solution by all. Finally, **the conference** brought forward the discussion on whether companies have the necessary financial resources to drive change. A particular finding is that the biggest companies see the private sector as ready to act: the role of business financing is seen as crucial, however they recognize that a disaggregated financing is not the solution to drive change. **Frontrunners** highlighted the need for all companies to finance action so as to allow farmers to receive financing from multiple sources to bridge the lack of trust that the latter have in companies' commitments. Moreover, it was highlighted as a necessary step to build resilience in the supply chain and for the future of the company [The Future of Food and Beverage, IF, 2024].

External stakeholders highlight the power structure of the food system and the role of business financing. According to them, companies need to ensure that farmers who have already put in the effort to adopt sustainable practices are not overlooked in terms of accessing available financing [C]. Farmers need continuous advisory support throughout their sustainability journey (Webinar). Farmers do face challenges in terms of how to navigate the system, with low access to information about carbon markets and sustainability frameworks. Therefore, companies must educate farmers to ensure that all farmers have equal opportunities to participate in and benefit from sustainable practices [L, C]. What emerged from external stakeholders' insights is that financing is also framed in terms of a shift to more sustainable products (plant-based), and the fact that most companies are reluctant to address this portfolio change [E, F, G]: according to an analysis by Carbon Market Watch, among the biggest food processing companies, only Danone and Nestle discuss their actions in term of switching to more plant-based products (Thomas Day et al., 2024). Moreover, no company in FAIRR's engagement has set time-bound, board-endorsed commitments to transition towards low-carbon ingredients and products (Jo Raven, 2020). External stakeholders consider the shift to plant-based products a solution and a necessary action, given extensive research on the need for dietary shifts in order to feed a growing population within planetary boundaries (Tim Searchinger et al., 2019). The topic was not mentioned extensively during the conference by companies until advocates for plantbased diets brought it to the table. There is still a reluctance to think about this necessary shift.

improving soil quality, with the soil being the base of RA and that RA strongly focusses on the environmental dimension of sustainability.

The main reason brought forward by companies is that the lack of pressure from consumers in shifting to plant-based diets fast enough does not push companies to invest.

The issue of consumers' role in pushing for companies' action emerged during the conference, with a shared consensus that consumers are not going to drive the change that is needed in the food sector. According to one sustainability manager, consumers do care about the environment, however they expect companies to move first, to increase commitment while keeping food affordable and nutritious.

**Scaling up** is characterized by uncertainty, many stakeholders are unsure on how to effectively scale up solutions to the level needed [A, B, C, D, E]. **Discussions during the conference** highlighted the need to get buy-in for the whole supply chain, from farmers to the board. **Farmers**, as mentioned above, need financial support, but also social and agronomic measures are needed to support them during the shift to more sustainable practices: addressing farmers with a different focus, focusing on better quality, better management of the land and the positive role of technology rather than a one-dimensional environmental perspective is considered a solution to unlock more long-lasting collaboration. **The board**, on the other hand, needs to understand how environmental risks affect the company on a financial level: this risk management perspective is much more impactful compared to the environmental and social one. **Overall**, there is a need to push for a holistic perspective, acknowledging the connection between the environmental and social dimension for farmers, and of the risk management dimension for the board. This also means going beyond the financial aspect of farmers' support, and the need to build relationships which are long- term, built on trust, and that reduce the distance between farmers' and companies' needs.

This holistic narrative leads all stakeholders to highlight the role of collaboration, which was discussed extensively during the conference. Collaboration within the supply chain means investing in farmers to build resilience, framing actions as programs and not as projects. Stakeholders highlighted the need to end small-scale pilot projects to focus on long-term programs (4-10 years). To do so, companies must collaborate with external partners as well, leveraging the know-how of NGOs and experts from academia. Collaboration across companies is considered crucial in order to finance scope 3 reductions. Stakeholders from all groups mention the need to bring companies together in a pre-competitive fashion [B, D, E, F, H], something highlighted also by podcasts and the webinar (Marion Verles, n.d.-a, n.d.-b; Marion Verles & Thomas Blackburn, n.d.; Morgan Gillespy, 2024), and during the conference. In particular, organizations such as SAI Platform and TRACT aim to create a space for collaboration between companies to achieve a shared vision of what it means for companies to disclose and action scope 3 emissions. External stakeholders also mention these collective and pre-competitive frameworks for farmers and SMEs, through the creation of cooperatives fostering collaboration. Collaboration between public and private sector was also highlighted [C, F]. This collaboration inserts into the holistic vision that the food sector needs, and it will be discussed in the following frame.

To sum up, all stakeholders highlight the need for increased investments in agricultural projects, with regenerative agriculture seen as a potential driver to scale up sustainable practices. However, to achieve this it is necessary to incentivize farmers through economic schemes. Collaboration is recognized by all as a crucial driver. Despite uncertainties surrounding how to implement and scale up solutions, stakeholders see collaboration as an important catalyst, coupled with financing efforts. On the other hand, conflicting frames emerge concerning how to direct financing. External stakeholders advocate for shifting from a commodity-based system to a process-based system, prioritizing actions within farms over products leaving the farms. In contrast, internal stakeholders are more reluctant in envisioning radical changes in the food sector. Additionally, external stakeholders emphasize how financing schemes must acknowledge

the power imbalances in the food supply chain, and advocate for transitioning to plant-based products as part of sustainable practices, compared to companies' hesitancy in committing to such a shift, citing concerns about consumer preferences and potential risks.

#### Public and Private Sector

While all solutions mentioned above have focused on the role of food processing companies, the focus of this is on the role of the public and private sector in pushing for solutions mentioned above and where to draw the line. In particular, how can companies' actions and EU policies lead us to implementing the solutions mentioned above? As mentioned above, there is consensus among stakeholders regarding the importance of the collaboration between the public and private sector.

**CSRD** and mandatory scope 3 disclosure has already been mentioned extensively, with a consensus that the role of regulators will be beneficial: regulators can ease the process of data gathering and data sharing and incentivize companies to disclose and subsequently to act. However, as mentioned in previous sections, the conference also highlighted two sides of increasing regulations on disclosure:

- 1. Accountability for all companies, therefore leveling the playing field for companies that are acting beyond industry average.
- 2. Taking resources away from action.

Moreover, the transformative potential of the CSRD will mostly be for companies lagging behind. Data harmonization and the role of regulations has also been discussed: companies hope that regulations will help but the space that regulations leave for interpretations (by different companies, by regulators themselves) is an obstacle. In order to solve this harmonization needs to happen across stakeholders' ideas on what to bring forward (precompetitive environment).

There are also a number of policies indirectly connected to scope 3 disclosure and actiontaking for food processing companies discussed by stakeholders, which however lack a widespread consensus across all three stakeholder groups:

- Corporate Sustainability Due Diligence Directive (CSDDD)<sup>9</sup>: insights from the conference have shown how the CDDD has been framed as having transformative potential to push companies to act in order to implement sustainable practices in their supply chain.
- **Carbon pricing**<sup>10</sup>: in particular, frontrunners consider future public policies on carbon pricing a risk, focusing on implementing internal carbon pricing mechanisms to build capacity before an eventual regulation is put in place.
- ETS for agriculture (AG ETS)<sup>11</sup>: insights from the analysis have shown how the idea of an ETS system for agriculture has surfaced among all stakeholder categories. The system

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The CSDD is an EU directive requiring companies operating in the EU and covered by the scope of the directive to engage in due diligence to identify, prevent and mitigate negative social and environmental impacts within their operations, subsidiaries, and value chains. Large companies must also develop a trajectory to reduce emissions and align to the 1.5° threshold set by the Paris Agreement. This framework ensures both compliance with regulatory requirements and the promotion of sustainable and ethical business practices (SOURCE EU COMMISSION). For more information, visit the website of the EU Commission (<u>https://commission.europa.eu/business-economy-euro/doing-business-eu/corporate-sustainability-due-diligence\_en</u>)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> 'Carbon pricing is an instrument that captures the external costs of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions—the costs of emissions that the public pays for, such as damage to crops, health care costs from heat waves and droughts, and loss of property from flooding and sea level rise—and ties them to their sources through a price, usually in the form of a price on the carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) emitted' (SOURCE WORLD BANBK). For more information, visit the website of the World Bank (<u>https://carbonpricingdashboard.worldbank.org/what-carbon-pricing</u>)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> An Agricultural Emission Trading System (ETS) applies the polluter pays principle to agricultural emissions, pricing emissions and allowing emission allowances to be traded among polluters. Ideas regarding the application of

would be based on carbon pricing mechanisms, and if implemented it would give credit to frontrunners' evaluation of future risks for companies. In particular, some external stakeholders have mentioned how the system could lead to lower emissions in the agricultural sector in the long term: a policy analyst highlighted the role an ETS system targeting scope 3 emissions of food processing companies could increase accountability without shifting the burden on farmers [K], and the opinion is shared by other external stakeholders as well, who see it as a solution to push companies to implement large-scale emission reduction strategies [C, D]. However, not all stakeholders see an ETS system as beneficial, highlighting how it will inevitably impact farmers as well, causing the anti-institutional sentiment shared among farmers across Europe to exacerbate even more [J, L]. **Overall,** these regulations need more research to be given a precise role in the context of scope 3 emissions, as these policies are either not implemented yet or not yet envisioned as future policies.

**Despite these uncertainties, external stakeholders** still consider the role of the EU food policy as crucial to achieve a more sustainable food system and to impact food companies' scope 3 reduction strategies. In particular, the role of subsidies is discussed, and the need for the EU to embark in a radical transformation of the food sector by redirecting subsidies towards more sustainable practices (Marion Verles & Thomas Blackburn, n.d.; Morgan Gillespy, 2024): however, external stakeholders also highlight the complexity of changing the system of subsidies allocation in a system whose power imbalance is fueling farmers' protests, directing their concerns towards environmental protection policies [E, L]. Insights from stakeholders show that while the role of food policies can be transformative, social, and political issues make the path a complex one.

To sum up, there is a consensus on the role of the CSRD as a positive driver in terms of increasing disclosure, despite some concerns regarding unintended consequences. Regarding other policies mentioned, there is not a shared consensus on which policies will be more beneficial and easier to implement, as they are all characterized by doubts. The role of the EU food policy is highlighted as a core policy influencing the agricultural supply chain. The evolution of EU food policies will thus be an important leverage to increase or reduce companies' commitment to reduce emissions in their agricultural supply chain.

## Shared and Conflicting Frames of Solutions

All stakeholders identify actionable solutions to mitigate the issues associated with scope 3 disclosure and action-taking. These solutions are connected to the emerging themes from Key Issues (see <u>Table 5.4</u> for overview).

Solutions connected to data issues, the lack of transparency of the system and the knowledge gap limiting actionable choices relate to the role of the public and of sector-specific guidance in easing regulations on data-sharing and creating public databases to standardize the process, benefiting SMEs and non-frontrunners who are approaching the issue of scope 3 disclosure. Technology is acknowledged to be an important driver to automate data collection, with the potential to benefit both companies and farmers. Stakeholders mention new concepts to be adopted to favor companies' adoption of scope 3 disclosure, with particular emphasis on mass-balance (to monitor emissions given the volatility of food supply chains) and market-based instruments. However, the role and effectiveness of the latter is still characterized by a

the policy are diverse, and it can operate at different points in the agri-food chain (On-farm ETS, Upstream ETS, Downstream ETS) (**SOURCE TRINOMICS REPORT**). For more information on current ideas and potential applications, see <a href="https://ieep.eu/publications/applying-the-polluter-pays-principle-to-agricultural-emissions/#:~:text=An%20emissions%20trading%20system%20(ETS,on-farm%20mitigation%20measures%20available.">https://ieep.eu/publications/applying-the-polluter-pays-principle-to-agricultural-emissions/#:~:text=An%20emissions%20trading%20system%20(ETS,on-farm%20mitigation%20measures%20available.</a>

variety of opinions, highlighting the need for more dialogue across stakeholder groups. **Moreover, there are conflicting opinions regarding the feasibility of scaling up solutions,** especially regarding the role that technology and automation. All stakeholders agree on the necessity of taking actions to reduce emissions, however the tradeoff between data quality and action is still hindering progress. There is a necessity to overcome this tradeoff by shifting the way solutions are thought of in a system that is inherently volatile and imperfect.

Stakeholders also emphasized the need for disclosure to lead to actions and the risk that regulatory compliance would stop at disclosure. All stakeholders recognize mandatory disclosure (EU CSRD) as a driver for emissions reduction, since it will increase transparency and accountability among the food processing companies covered by the regulation in the EU, along with a cascading effect on the supply chain. A solution to avoid the risk of disclosure becoming the goal of the system instead of a driver for GHG reduction is the focus on creating more specific guidance for companies. To push for action, companies need to collaborate not only within their supply chain, but also between each other to reach a consensus on how to act jointly within shared supply sheds, understanding how to allocate emissions and reductions between them and how to push for more sector-specific guidance. Collaboration to standardize in-farm emissions reporting is an important driver to focus the majority of resources on financing transitions within farms. Regenerative agriculture is seen as a potential solution, along with the use of economic schemes that make the transition truly a better option for farmers. Like for technology and automation, the way to scale up these processes needs more attention, however more financing and collaboration are seen as relevant drivers.

Stakeholders identified farmers as important actors to tackle scope 3 emissions, highlighting the risk for the cost to shift towards farmers and the need to address emissions within farms. Stakeholders see the collaboration between the private and public sector as a way to balance the power structure in the supply chain in favor of farmers. As mentioned above, the evolution of the disclosure framework prioritizing in-farm emissions will lead to a heightened focus on farms, unlocking financing for farmers. Financial incentives are just one of the solutions: companies need to build knowledge within the supply chain, allowing farmers to benefit from regenerative agricultural practices (a solution mentioned by all stakeholders) and carbon removals.

The public sector has a role to play beyond mandating scope 3 disclosure, despite there are still a series of doubts on the effectiveness of policies coming from the EU. Stakeholders see subsidies as an obstacle to the transition: public financing needs to be redirected towards regenerative agriculture and context-specific policies based on the location of farms. However, the process to shift subsidies needs further research on the socio-economic context of EU food policies. These policies provide interesting insights into the potential of regulators in influencing scope 3 disclosure and action-taking beyond direct regulations on the matter, showing how scope 3 disclosure and action-taking operate within a holistic system – the food system – whose impact on the environment goes beyond GHG emissions. However, they still need further research regarding their feasibility and applicability.

# 5.2.5 Envisioning the Future

The following section will briefly present how stakeholders frame the future of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking, with three frames of analysis emerging:

- 1. Benefits/Hindrances for the food system
- 2. Extending Commitment (Mandatory/Voluntary)
- 3. Fragmentation of the Food Sector

These frames are closely tied with the solutions envisioned by stakeholders, highlighting how enacting specific solutions might impact the future of the system and of the food sector in the EU.

#### Benefits/Hindrances for the food system

**Internal stakeholders** predominantly view the benefits in financial terms, particularly for entities involved in the emerging disclosure market, such as consultants, data companies, and third-party verifiers. This perspective aligns with the notion that many companies still perceive scope 3 as an external factor that does not directly benefit them. While some frontrunners acknowledge potential benefits for companies, it's important to note that these viewpoints may not fully represent the broader spectrum of European food processing companies.

In contrast, external stakeholders offer a more nuanced perspective on the potential beneficiaries, focusing in particular on three actors. Frontrunners stand to gain not only from enhanced disclosure but also from actions taken to reduce emissions, including the opportunity to scale up regenerative agriculture. SMEs might be negatively affected by the evolution of the system of disclosure and action-taking, highlighting the need for targeted policies on SMEs and for them to create collaborative structures (e.g. cooperatives) to share and withstand the financial burden of the transition [G, I]. Finally, external stakeholders express hopes that the system will benefit farmers. Collaboration with farmers is seen as essential, offering them the opportunity to leverage carbon removals and insetting to increase their bargaining power.

**Overall,** while internal stakeholders focus primarily on financial benefits, external stakeholders adopt a more holistic perspective, recognizing the broader implications for three categories of stakeholders. This difference in framing highlights how companies still frame scope 3 as a financial issue and the complexity in assessing the long-term benefits of the system.

#### Extending Commitment (Mandatory/Voluntary)

As mentioned in previous sections, **all stakeholders** recognize the role of mandatory disclosure. At the same time, stakeholders question whether increased disclosure will effectively lead to action, highlighting the need to focus on actionable outcomes.

**However, external stakeholders** express uncertainty regarding the impact of future European elections on climate policies, recognizing the political nature of these decisions [C, L]. Despite these uncertainties, many stakeholders view scope 3 disclosure as a social norm that will continue to drive companies towards transparency, regardless of political shifts [C, D, F, L]. Policies such as carbon taxes and Agricultural Emissions Trading Systems (AG ETS) are discussed as potential incentives for emissions reduction, although there is a lack of consensus on their effectiveness. Additionally, the role of consumers in driving demand for sustainable products is highlighted as an important future policy direction: policies aimed at increasing consumers' knowledge are seen by some stakeholders as a necessary future development to exert pressure on companies to prioritize emissions reduction throughout their supply chains [K, L, M]. Finally, retailers – which are already identified as key pressure sources for scope 3 accountability – are expected to continue to be relevant players. Despite challenges and uncertainties, stakeholders remain optimistic about the trajectory of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking, highlighting the importance of advancing research and collaboration to address emerging issues and scale up solutions.

## Fragmentation of the Food Sector

**External stakeholders** highlighted the evolution of the system of disclosure and action-taking as being more and more fragmented in its effects on food companies (FAIRR 2, Carbon Trust, E, F, H, I, L). In particular, according to external stakeholders, this fragmentation will happen on two different levels:

- 1. **Different food sub-sectors** will be affected in a different way, with dairy and meat having the most difficulty to decarbonize. This future direction aligns with what was highlighted by external stakeholders in the Solutions frame with regards to the reluctance of food companies to shift to plant-based portfolios (Jo Raven, 2020).
- 2. Different path for MNCs and SMEs: as mentioned in the previous frame, SMEs will have more difficulties in adapting to the system, and despite not being directly targeted by regulations regarding disclosure (e.g. CSRD), external stakeholders mention the cascade effect that scope 3 disclosure will have on SMEs due to retailers' pressure, lead more SMEs to disclose. This idea brought forward by external stakeholders [E, I] was confirmed by a sustainability manager interviewed, who highlighted that the pressure from supermarket chains led the company disclose scope 3 emissions.

## Shared and Conflicting Frames of Envisioning the Future

Looking at how stakeholders envision the future of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking for the EU's food processing sector, **internal stakeholders** primarily focus on the financial benefits of scope 3 disclosure for consultants, data providers, and third-party verifiers, while **external stakeholders present** a more nuanced view, with hopes that the system will not only benefit frontrunner companies, but also farmers, highlighting how successful collaboration within the supply chain could benefit a wider number of stakeholders. **All stakeholders** foresee extending commitments for companies, particularly through the evolution of mandatory disclosure under the CSRD. External stakeholders are however more cautious regarding its effects, due to uncertainties on how the future political climate of the EU might affect the Union's commitment to environmental protection. Despite these uncertainties, **all stakeholders** view scope 3 disclosure as an emerging social norm albeit there is still no consensus on specific policies like carbon taxes or agricultural emissions trading systems, which – as shown in the solutions section – need further research.

**Stakeholders** also agree in viewing the future of scope 3 emissions becoming more fragmented in relation to the food sub-sectors: dairy and meat will face significant challenges in decarbonization, and the disparity between multinational corporations (MNCs) and small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) shows the need for a focused approach on SMEs within the EU. To conclude, the transition from target-setting to emissions reduction remains a contentious point. **External stakeholders** envision the need to shift to process-based approaches focusing on actions within farms rather than setting targets and reporting results, but many remain skeptical about the potential for meaningful emissions reduction in the short term. This highlights the need to focus on actions within the food supply chain and to set up process-based frameworks to effectively tackle emissions reduction challenges in the food supply chain.

# 5.3 Shared and conflicting frames emerging from the analysis

**Insights from the qualitative analysis** has identified four macro-frames, whose insights can be connected to identify a pattern of shared and conflicting frames. **Overall,** stakeholders universally recognize the importance of addressing Scope 3 emissions, albeit with varying degrees of urgency. External stakeholders view Scope 3 disclosure as an opportunity, emphasizing its potential financial and reputational benefits, while internal stakeholders perceive it primarily as a risk. Pressure from regulatory bodies and market forces is acknowledged as essential for driving change, particularly within the food processing industry. However, the analysis of moral judgements highlighted that all stakeholders are concerned regarding how to best implement regulatory frameworks, while external stakeholders also focus on the power dynamics within the supply chain. The evolving nature of the system presents both opportunities and challenges, and stakeholders recognize the schism between acting to reduce emissions and complying to the norms of disclosure and target-setting. **Key Issues** show how data issues, lack of transparency, and knowledge gaps are interconnected, each one contributing to inhibit actionable solutions. While all stakeholders recognize regulatory compliance as a driver for disclosure, there's a risk of it stagnating at reporting, neglecting meaningful emissions reduction actions in the agricultural supply chain. Conflicting frames relate to the nature of the food sector, particularly regarding transparency and traceability, and to the perceived cost of disclosure and action-taking, with internal stakeholders focusing more narrowly on internal costs. External stakeholders also highlight the mismatch between reporting and action-taking, with concerns that external pressure may inadvertently shift the burden to less powerful actors in the supply chain, most importantly farmers.

**Solutions** encompass the role of the public sector in easing regulations on data-sharing, technology-driven automation, and achieving data granularity. All stakeholders recognize that collaboration within and between sectors is crucial, along with the need for specific guidance to bridge the gap between disclosure and action-taking. However, conflicting views persist regarding the feasibility of scaling up solutions, particularly concerning technology and market-based instruments. There's an emphasis on ensuring that disclosure leads to meaningful action, with attention to avoid regulatory compliance stagnating at reporting. Additionally, the importance of focusing on farmers and incentivizing regenerative agriculture is underscored, although uncertainties remain regarding the scalability of such practices. However, internal stakeholders fail to acknowledge the need to shift to plant-based portfolios to reduce emissions. Policy interventions beyond direct regulations are proposed, reflecting a holistic approach to addressing Scope 3 emissions within the broader food system.

The solutions highlighted also connect to **the future envisioned by stakeholders**: while internal stakeholders focus primarily on the financial benefits of the system, external stakeholders highlight benefits for frontrunner companies while hoping for farmers to benefit from the system as well. All stakeholders recognize the emergence of scope 3 disclosure as a social norm, despite some external stakeholders expressing caution regarding the effects of mandatory disclosure due to political uncertainties in the EU. Stakeholders foresee a fragmented future for scope 3 emissions across food sub-sectors and between MNCs and SMEs, with the latter requiring focused attention within the EU. Finally, the transition from target-setting to emissions reduction is contentious, highlighting the need for action-oriented frameworks and incentives.

The insights gathered from observing the conference have highlighted how collaborative environments characterized by stakeholders' interest to gather information from other sustainability professionals can unlock new possibilities to advance solutions for the food sector:

- Focus on farmers and on unlocking change through action.
- Focus on the need to finance the transition to a more sustainable food system
- Focus on collaboration within the supply chain and across the sector.
- **Projects building trust need to last longer**, long-term vision to be established from the farmer to the board.
- **Consumers cannot lead the transformation**: companies and policies must lead the way.

A summary and overview of the results of the analysis can be observed in Appendix II (Figure 5.2)

# 6 Discussion

The aim of this chapter is to review the findings of this thesis and analyze them critically to build the foundation for its concluding remarks. First, the results are contextualized and analyzed in relation to their significance and relevance to the research questions and the sub question, to contribute to the current state of knowledge on scope 3 disclosure and actiontaking. Second, the research method will be discussed in relation to its design, implementation, and considerations of validity, reliability, and generalizability, along with the acknowledgement of its limitations. The last section will discuss the implications for both research and practical applications, along with identifying potential directions for further research and implementation strategies.

The aim of this thesis is to provide stakeholders and the academic world with insights on which directions the system of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking in the EU's food processing sector might take in the future and the nodes to address. To do so, the thesis has identified shared and conflicting frames among stakeholders regarding the system, its current situation, its issues, its solutions, and its future direction. Research on scope 3 disclosure has largely been quantitative in nature, with a focus on assessing drivers and issues related to scope 3 disclosure (see Chapter 3). The qualitative nature of this thesis has aimed to go beyond this level of analysis and delve into what stakeholders working in the food processing sector think of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking, to identify not only issues, but also solutions and future directions, and how their understanding is shared or diversified. By highlighting shared and conflicting frames, this thesis highlights which solutions aimed at increasing companies' commitment to scope 3 disclosure and action-taking are characterized by a shared consensus and which ones need more collaboration and further research to provide the benefits that some stakeholders identify. The research questions addressed in this thesis are as follows:

<u>RQ1:</u> How do different stakeholders frame the impacts of Scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking in the food processing sector in the EU?

• What is the current state of Scope 3 emissions disclosure in the food processing sector in EU14?

**<u>RQ2</u>:** How do these frames inform shared or conflicting views around Scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking in the food processing sector in the EU?

# 6.1 Interpretation of Findings, significance, and relevance

Comparing the empirical results with the literature review, which reviewed research and grey literature focused on MSIs, carbon disclosure and scope 3 disclosure in the food sector, there are recognized issues associated with scope 3 disclosure and action-taking. These issues are related to the nature of scope 3 and the indirect influence that companies have on their value chains, and an analysis of the food sector shows that value chain emissions are particularly relevant for food processing companies. The literature highlighted the inaccurate emissions calculation of the agricultural sector, the inadequate level of disclosure of food companies, the issue with data accuracy and availability and the complexity of taking actions to reduce emissions, also providing a positive picture of the increasing number of companies disclosing and solutions to reduce data issues (Blanco et al., 2016; Hansen et al., 2022; Hertwich & Wood, 2018; Patchell, 2018b; Reavis et al., 2022; Stenzel & Waichman, 2023). However, the focus on quantitative studies have mostly highlighted the issues of scope 3 disclosure without envisioning a way forward. Understanding stakeholders' perspectives on the evolution of the system is important to capture how the issues emerging connect to the solutions and which solutions exist versus which ones still need more consensus among practitioners. Moreover, previous research has highlighted that increasing disclosure is not accompanied by a reduction of emissions, so understanding how scope 3 disclosure connects to the actions taken is also important.

The research has tried to answer these questions using qualitative research aimed at capturing stakeholders' perspectives of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking in the EU's food processing sector. In particular, different research questions were answered:

# What is the current state of Scope 3 emissions disclosure in the food processing sector in EU14?

The sub-question has highlighted the increasing intention among companies to disclose scope 3 emissions, indicating a positive trend in transparency and accountability in the EU14, with clear frontrunners in terms of disclosure and target-setting. **Supplier engagement** is mentioned by companies, but **the term remains a vague one**, with few examples of actions to reduce emissions, limited to small-scale, pilot programs. Despite an increasing acknowledgement of the importance of scope 3 emissions, **more than half of the companies analyzed** still did not disclose scope 3 emissions. There is also a **lack of data comparability and transparency** hindering the analysis of the process behind disclosure and SBTi-approved targets. Finally, **action-taking remains problematic, with scope 3** emissions on the rise, highlighting a complexity to address those emissions compared to scope 1 and 2. The results of the study have also highlighted the importance of emissions from the agricultural supply chain (Category 1: Purchased Goods and Services).

<u>RQ1:</u> How do different stakeholders frame the impacts of Scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking in the food processing sector in the EU?

**Frames were shown to be contextual to the nature of the food system**. Particularly, stakeholders highlighted the complex and transient nature of food supply chains, with volatile contracts and commodity-based supply chains. The complexity of food supply chains causes a lack of transparency and traceability in the system, which adds up to the presence of many subsectors within the system itself. Stakeholders also mentioned the role of farmers and the power imbalances in the food supply chain, the differences between SMEs and large companies and the role of regulations driving actions.

Given these characteristics, the thesis has highlighted **different ways in which internal and external stakeholders frame scope 3 disclosure and action-taking**. Internal stakeholders (sustainability managers) highlight the risk of not disclosing scope 3 emissions, focusing on the role of upcoming regulations in pushing for disclosure. Frontrunners, however, also highlight the opportunity to establish strategic relationships, advance sustainable products. They recognize the evolving nature of scope 3 disclosure, highlighting issues related to data quality, accessibility, and transparency, along with the cost of disclosure and the variability of data used along the supply chain. The issue of cost makes stakeholders frame scope 3 disclosure as a financial and administrative burden, with some acknowledging its importance in increasing transparency but failing to fully recognize the cost of not disclosing. Only frontrunners recognize the need to shift the perspective within the company to highlight risk management: to do so, a more long-term vision in companies' operations is needed at the board level.

Mandating ESG disclosure through regulations like the CSRD is seen as a push to disclose by internal stakeholders, although it's viewed as a bureaucratic burden that may redirect resources away from action in the short term. There is still lack of knowledge on how to use disclosure to push for actions to reduce emissions, highlighting the need for exhaustive guidance to encourage the shift in companies' long-term vision. In terms of solutions, increased investments in agricultural projects, particularly regenerative agriculture, are seen as essential by all stakeholders to achieve emissions reductions, along with collaboration within the supply chain and between public and private sectors. However, there are conflicting views on the direction of financing and the need for radical changes in the food sector. Regulations, particularly through established policies like the CSRD and CSDDD, are viewed as a driver for increasing disclosure: however, stakeholders hope that these policies will align to companies' current actions and to international guidance, to avoid further confusion, aiming at standardization to allow for a focus on actions to reduce emissions.

There is a common thread connecting both primary and secondary external stakeholders, who emphasize the opportunities that engaging with scope 3 brings about, including reducing costs, growing market share, building new businesses, mitigating supply chain risks, and increasing transparency to appeal to customers and investors. Like primary stakeholders, they recognize the evolving nature of the scope 3 disclosure system, along with data issues. External stakeholders focus on the importance of standardizing secondary data and promoting the adoption of primary data leveraging technology. The complexity of the food supply chain leads to a focus on transparency and collaboration with farmers, which are mentioned much more compared to internal stakeholders. Financing schemes, long-term collaboration between companies in shared supply sheds to increase trust in companies' behaviors are seen as crucial actions to implement actions to reduce emissions. Overall, external stakeholders offer a more holistic perspective, connecting scope 3 disclosure and action-taking to the need to shift to an overall more sustainable food system: to do so, a shift from a commodity-based to a process-based system (from a focus on farm's outputs to a focus on sustainable management of agricultural systems) is highlighted. Moreover, they highlight the importance of switching to more plant-based products to reduce emissions from intensive subsectors (e.g. dairy and meat).

**<u>RQ2</u>:** How do these frames inform shared or conflicting views around Scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking in the food processing sector in the EU?

All stakeholders recognize the importance of addressing Scope 3 emissions, albeit with various degrees of urgency. There is a shared consensus in recognizing that scope 3 action-taking is ultimately the objective of scope 3 disclosure, and that reducing scope 3 emissions is what companies need to focus on in the short-term too, while increasing transparency through disclosure and identifying hotspots through better data. Data issues are also recognized as pressing by all stakeholders, along with a general lack of knowledge on how to operationalize change, particularly in terms of scaling up the necessary actions to reduce emissions. Disclosure needs to happen with better quality data: on-farm primary data are needed, along with better access to good-quality secondary data, easing data-sharing regulations within the supply chain, allowing access to public databases.

The insights have highlighted how **regulatory pressures are a crucial driver for change**, particularly within the food processing industry, however stakeholders also express concerns regarding regulatory directives and guidelines: companies risk stagnating at the reporting stage, neglecting meaningful emissions reduction actions in the agricultural supply chain. Moreover, stakeholders express concerns regarding the risk of the regulations not aligning with companies' actions on the ground. Harmonization between the public and private sector is needed, and it can be unlocked through collaboration between the two sectors. All stakeholders also recognize the need for **collaboration beyond public and private sector**, highlighting that collaboration is also needed within a company's supply chain, particularly targeting farmers, and across companies to advance solutions in shared supply sheds in a pre-competitive fashion.

The research has also highlighted some topics which lack consensus and are still framed differently by stakeholder groups. Internal stakeholders still fail to frame disclosure as an opportunity, unlike external stakeholders, framing it mostly as a risk. However, this framing does not appear in relation to the need to reduce emissions: external stakeholders have

highlighted the need to enhance the relevance of acting on emissions reductions across the whole supply chain, from the farmers to the board, and the **risk management frame** is an opportunity to unlock actions. Another characteristic not mentioned extensively by internal stakeholders relates to the power dynamics within the supply chain. While the mismatch between reporting and action-taking is recognized by all, external stakeholders highlight concerns that external pressure may inadvertently shift the burden to less powerful actors in the supply chain, particularly farmers. Uncertainties emerged also related to the best avenues to allow pre-competitive collaborative structures to flourish: while all stakeholders recognized collaboration across companies fundamental, frameworks to incentivize them are still needed.

Moreover, there is also a lack of consensus on the feasibility and implementation of marketbased instruments to be accounted for in scope 3 disclosure. There are also conflicting views regarding the feasibility of scaling up solutions, especially related to regenerative agricultural practices: this lack of consensus also extends to the role of public policies and regulations. While consensus exists regarding the role of mandatory disclosure (CSRD), external stakeholders also mention additional policies, albeit with no consensus on their feasibility and on whether they will be beneficial for the system. Finally, internal stakeholders fail to mention the need to shift to more plant-based portfolios, a topic mentioned instead by external stakeholders, despite the scientific consensus that meaningful emissions reductions can only be achieved with a reduction of per capita consumption of meat and dairy products (Clonan et al., 2016; González et al., 2020; Stoll-Kleemann & O'Riordan, 2015; Westhoek et al., 2014). This reluctance to address such a crucial topic needs further attention within the system and by research.

Overall, these insights are important to understand the future direction of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking, along with which solutions are shared across the stakeholder groups and which ones still need dialogue to advance shared understandings. In the EU, the food processing sector will be pushed to disclose and to act on scope 3 emissions, so understanding the present and future direction as well as core debates regarding this direction is crucial for all stakeholders engaged to understand what is expected by companies covered by this framework.

# 6.2 Methodology and limitations

This section discusses the applicability of the research design, methodological rigor, and limitations. The research design was influenced by the findings emerging from the literature review, while the research problem showed the emergence of scope 3 emissions as an important focus for companies in the EU, and the relevance of the food processing sector in terms of GHG emissions in the agricultural supply chain.

This research design followed an exploratory approach based on a case study (Food processing companies operating in the EU) to investigate these shared and conflicting perspectives. The research design was restricted to focus on a specific area of the supply chain, that of food processing: the focus on food processing companies was motivated by the aim to highlight scope 3 emissions, which represent the highest share of GHG emissions for food processing companies. However, the views emerging from the analysis highlighted how solutions for the food processing sector are connected to other actors in the supply chain, both upstream and downstream. The broad focus on 'food processing' does not provide specific recommendations to specific sub-sectors, while the focus on a specific geographical and political entity (the EU) might impair generalizability to other geographies. However, the choice of not focusing on food subsectors lies in the exploratory nature of the thesis, which has highlighted how some subsectors require more specific research. Moreover, the EU is also an interesting case study to highlight the role that policies – both directly tackling scope 3 disclosure and action-taking or indirectly aimed at achieving a more sustainable food system – have and how they relate to companies' actions in the supply chain.

The present case study can be an interesting example of the evolution of companies' actions when policies are in the horizon and how to understand the role of private and public sector in a system which is becoming increasingly more regulated. The EU is where GHG disclosure is evolving faster, given the entry into force of the CSRD, thus providing an interesting first case to be analyzed for the evolution of future systems of disclosure in other geographies.

**Regarding validity,** the results would have benefitted from a larger sample: specifically, more interviews would have given better insights, especially with internal stakeholders beyond sustainability managers (procurement, CFOs, CEOs). Insights from stakeholders which are not as engaged in these issues as the sustainability managers interviewed would have provided additional insights on companies' process of internalization of the framework. However, this was ameliorated via perspectives gathered from the observation of the conference. Inserting farmers in the stakeholder analysis was an option which was reviewed, however the difficulty in accessing farmers and the variability of farmers' behaviors across the EU would have made it difficult to gather comprehensive opinions. More nation-specific studies on the matter might provide insights on farmers' behaviors towards food processing companies. To account for potential gaps, the analysis also covered **reports, podcasts, webinars, and websites**, which were able to give a more nuanced view and balance the potential biases that emerged during the interviews and the observation. Regarding the observation, the viewer's biases are in particular an important characteristic to address, however the results were cross sectioned with insights from the documents and the interviews to limit observation bias.

**Regarding reliability,** qualitative methods are prone to variability, however interviews all followed the same structure to limit excessive variability from the stakeholders' insights and were all analyzed using the same macro and micro frames. The interviews were still kept in a semi-structured format to be able to dive deeper into some concepts emerging during the discussion and contributed to expanding the richness of data. **There is no general,** one-size-fits-all result regarding solutions to scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking. This was however never the aim of the thesis: despite this, the research was able to highlight the connection between the climate dimension of environmental sustainability (focus on scope 3 emissions) to a more holistic perspective on food sector sustainability, in which climate is one of the many proxies to understand a company's impact on the environment.

**Framing theory is the core theory of the thesis.** While stakeholder theory is also performed to identify relevant stakeholders, framing theory applied to environmental management is not a common research methodology. Framing theory was able to provide insight behind the persistence of some issues, and whether existing or envisioned solutions show consensus from different stakeholders. It was also able provide an understanding of which solutions are shared and which ones are not and still need a shared perspective to be built around them. Critiques of framing theory, as it is mostly applied in political and science communication, relate to the push for biased perspectives on contentious issues and lack of generalizability (Entman, 1993). The latter has already been discussed, and while some issues related to generalizability may arise, the thesis has also provided some insight which can be applied and analyzed beyond the case study of the thesis.

The focus of the thesis has been on scope 3 emissions in the food processing sector in the EU, and it has provided a broad number of insights and topics to address and delve into. Because of the nature of the master's degree and given the author's background in international relations, the overall thesis is highly interdisciplinary, covering carbon accounting and disclosure, supply chain management, stakeholder engagement, policymaking, sustainability governance, development studies etc. Depending on the focus of the reader and on their background, some of the insights might appear more relevant and may be perceived as in need of further attention. Issues such as the role of specific public policies (CSRD, CSDDD, AG ETS, Food policies), the role of actions from the private sector (regenerative agriculture, financing schemes, internal

carbon prices, insetting), the role of actors in the supply chain and beyond (farmers, middlemen, retailers, consumers, NGOs), the power structure of food supply chains, collaborative structures and environments have all arisen. While the thesis could have delved into these concepts more, this was never the aim and scope of the research. The identification of these concepts was ultimately a consequence of embarking into an exploratory study: by looking at how scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking are evolving through the emergence of these frames pushed forward by different stakeholders, the final framework emerging provides a number of avenues to expand more through companies' actions, research and/or policymaking, with the next section providing an explanation of these different future directions.

# 6.3 Implications for practice and research

**Concerning research implications**, there are a series of research opportunities based on the relevance of different insights emerging from the shared and conflicting perspectives on scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking. **Regarding data issues**, research on the possibility for standardization of emission factors at the EU level in conjunction with the implementation of the CSRD is needed, to understand how companies will deal with mandatory disclosure given the existing issues regarding data reliability and issues of data variability within supply chains. Moreover, as the need for publicly available, reliable secondary data emerged, understanding how to unlock data access is crucial not only at the EU level (as emerging from **section 5.2.4**).

The role of farmers in the transition in the EU has also emerged as an important topic: farmers' actions to allow companies to report reductions, such as insetting measures, or the effect of a possible implementation of market-based mechanisms, are interesting avenues to explore (*Standardization for transparency* frame). In particular, the understanding of these measures may be analyzed from an economic and/or social perspective, to understand the financial benefits for farmers and the social constraints that these measures may imply, and the effects of these measures on scope 3 reductions for food companies engaged. Facilitating collaborative structures for MNCs and SMEs to harmonize the process of disclosure and act in shared supply sheds to reduce GHG emissions has emerged as a crucial topic. However, as highlighted in *section 5.2.4* by external and internal stakeholders, more research is needed in how to bring companies together in these pre-competitive structures, and the role that organizations such as SAI Platform and TRACT can have on the system of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking. Moreover, the integration of farmers in these collaborative environments brings an additional layer of complexity but may unlock new possibilities to reach a more equitable food system (*Financing, incentivizing, and scaling up* frame).

**Research focused on food processing sub-sectors** can also provide specific insights based on the commodities purchased by food processing companies: particularly, crops at risk of land use change (cocoa, coffee) and hard to abate sectors (dairy and meat) present specific characteristics which may benefit from specific research on the evolution of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking. For meat and dairy companies, these specificities are also related to the need to reduce global consumption of meat and dairy and to the effects that this has on companies. This research also highlighted the complexity of leveraging the power of consumers to steer companies' investments towards plant-based and more sustainable commodities, so future research might focus on understanding how to leverage change through public and private financing (see **sections 5.2.4 and 5.2.5**).

Another interesting avenue for research is the focus on the **feasibility of policies affecting scope 3 disclosure**. A future analysis of the first years of the implementation of the CSRD and the effect on companies' scope 3 disclosure and action-taking in the EU will provide an answer to whether an increase in disclosure will happen. Moreover, research on carbon pricing might also provide interesting findings, with a focus on the effects of private carbon taxes (within the

company) vs EU-regulated carbon pricing and the introduction of an ETS system for agriculture. Research might also be expanded to understand the feasibility of policies incentivizing regenerative agriculture in the EU, understanding how to achieve a legal definition of regenerative agriculture through a collaboration between private and public sector (*Public and private sector* frame).

What this thesis has highlighted is that there is a need for more interdisciplinary research which goes beyond the assessment of companies' level and/or quality of disclosure from a quantitative point of view. The focus on the social motives behind the barriers to disclosure and action-taking highlighted that the food system is an important variable that needs to be considered. This insight might also be applicable to other sectors, in which the focus should not only be on GHG accounting, but also on what enables or prevents this framework to be effective within the system. Particularly, the thesis highlighted that there needs to be more research on actions rather than disclosure. A body of evidence has been found on the need for more research on collaborative structures, social dimensions of supply chain relationships and context-based, actionable projects (regenerative agriculture, agroforestry, financing, and insurance schemes) if reductions in scope 3 emissions are to be achieved.

**Practical implications** of the thesis relate to how the conceptual framework can help stakeholders from all groups to understand how other stakeholders view and frame the framework of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking. The thesis has provided some important insights regarding what is shared among stakeholders and what needs to be discussed more to advance solutions beyond the context of the EU. There are contentious issues to be defined, but also actionable solutions that can be implemented through collaboration. The focus on collaboration has highlighted how all stakeholders are willing to share insights and harmonize disclosure and actions in the context of scope 3 emissions. Implications for companies relate to the need to focus efforts on scope 3 disclosure for the upcoming regulations on mandatory disclosure, while collaborating to harmonize data sources and to advance requests which can aid companies in reporting actions within the supply chain. Financing has shown to be crucial, along with collaboration across company groups to create a common front and compete on actions rather than on disclosure.

**Policymakers can also draw interesting conclusions from the analysis.** The role of policy in the EU is shown to be an important driver for disclosure, however harmonizing policies to companies' action is important to avoid disclosure to become the ultimate goal of this increasing transparency. Policies aimed at incentivizing actions to reduce emissions are needed, while easing data-gathering processes and involve actors from the whole supply chain in the discussion. The role of the EU's food policy can be a transformative one and scale up actions in the agricultural supply chain, and the thesis has shown how the complexity of the food sector needs to be tackled by companies' actions and by sound policies in a collaborative fashion.

To sum up, relevant considerations that can be drawn from this study and framework include: Scope 3 disclosure is an important driver of transparency. Data policies are needed to ease the process of disclosure for all companies, from frontrunners to laggards. Scope 3 disclosure is not the ultimate goal, and actions are needed within the agricultural supply chain. Companies, through sustainability departments, need to involve all actors in the supply chain, especially focusing on farmers and on steering boards' decisions to highlight risk management for the company. Farmers are the core solution to unlock scope 3 emissions reductions, and trust needs to be built through long-term collaboration. Collaboration needs to happen across companies to act on common supply sheds, and between the public and private sector to scale up financing schemes. Policies need to incentivize disclosure without redirecting companies' resources away from actions, allowing companies to credibly report emissions reductions while working to solve issues within the EU's food system which go beyond scope 3 disclosure and action-taking.

# 7 Conclusion

This thesis aimed to provide stakeholders and the academic world with insights on the current and future direction of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking in the EU's food processing sector, identifying stakeholders' shared and conflicting frames on the system. For this reason, this thesis hoped to contribute to a more informed perspective on which barriers are identified by stakeholders, consensus on solutions to overcome these barriers (shared frames) and the lack of consensus (conflicting frames) of some enablers. While a series of topics emerged at every level of the supply chain, the focus of this thesis was to highlight the topics and the stakeholders' perspectives on their feasibility rather than delve specifically into their specificities. For this purpose, qualitative empirical data was collected and analyzed with the application of framing theory, to answer the following research questions:

<u>RQ1:</u> How do different stakeholders frame the impacts of Scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking in the food processing sector in the EU?

• What is the current state of Scope 3 emissions disclosure in the food processing sector in EU14?

**<u>RQ2</u>:** How do these frames inform shared or conflicting views around Scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking in the food processing sector in the EU?

The sub-question highlighted a positive trend in scope 3 disclosure among food processing companies in the EU, indicating increasing transparency and accountability. However, supplier engagement remains vague, and actions to reduce emissions are limited to pilot programs. More than half of the companies still do not disclose scope 3 emissions, with persisting issues with data comparability and transparency. Scope 3 emissions continue to increase, and agricultural emissions (Category 1) were shown to be the most significant. Given these results, the focus on stakeholder's perspectives was deemed insightful to understand the framing of issues, solutions, and future direction of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking in the food processing sector in the EU.

The first research question (RQ1) has shown frames are contextual to the nature of the food system, particularly to its commodity-based supply chain, its lack of transparency and the transient nature of relationships between suppliers and customers. For this reason, internal stakeholders highlight the risk of not disclosing scope 3 emissions (see section 5.2.2), with frontrunners also highlighting the opportunity to establish strategic relationships; data quality, accessibility, and transparency, along with the cost of disclosure are shown to be crucial issues for internal stakeholders. Mandating ESG disclosure through the CSRD is seen as a push to disclose, but the system can also redirect resources away from actions. The lack of knowledge on how to reduce emissions, highlights the need for exhaustive guidance to encourage the shift in companies' long-term vision. In terms of solutions, internal stakeholders focus on increased investments in agricultural projects, along with collaboration between all actors involved. External stakeholders emphasize the opportunities of engaging with scope 3 emissions: cost reduction, market share growth, new business development, risk mitigation, and increased transparency. They also highlight data issues, stressing the importance of standardizing secondary data and adopting primary data, using technology to reduce costs and complexity. Collaboration with farmers and financing schemes are also seen crucial for emission reduction. A shift to a process-based system and a focus on plant-based portfolios are recommended to achieve a sustainable food system.

The second research question (RQ2) has highlighted how these frames inform shared and conflicting views around scope 3 disclosure and action-taking. There is a shared consensus that scope 3 disclosure is the core of GHG disclosure for food processing companies, and that external pressure is going to increase, pushing more companies to disclose. There is consensus

on the role of policies mandating scope 3 disclosure in increasing the level of transparency of food processing companies. Disclosure also needs to happen with better quality data, and that the focus needs to be on actions, avoiding that disclosure may cause a lack of resources being allocated towards actions to reduce emissions. To reduce emissions, financing farmers in the transition is crucial: collaboration is needed to build trust, and collaborative structures are needed also between the public and private sector and across companies. This direction is seen as necessary to build resilience in the supply chain, focusing on engaging actors from the farm to the board level. Regarding conflicting views, the research has shown that there are doubts on whether and how to implement market-based instruments to create a framework that incentivizes food companies to act. Moreover, the role of regenerative agriculture is recognized by all, but there are doubts on how to scale up in-farm projects. While collaboration across companies through pre-competitive frameworks is seen as a solution by all, the way to achieve this collaboration is still clouded by doubts. Finally, the reluctance of food processing companies of discussing the shift to plant-based portfolios highlights how companies are still grappling with how to deal with risky commitments.

The thesis' insights have contributed to highlighting the need for more research to unlock actionable interventions in the supply chain. It showed that in the EU, the food processing sector will be pushed to disclose and to act on scope 3 emissions; for this reason, understanding the present and future direction as well as core debates regarding this direction is crucial for all stakeholders engaged to understand how to push for more solutions to be adopted and for issues to be solved. It showed how going beyond an analysis of the state of scope 3 disclosure, understanding what motivates the framing of issues and solutions, can unlock connections, and provide a more holistic view of the food sector. Finally, it showed that – connected to the previous point – actions aimed at reducing scope 3 emissions are connected to a variety of social, economic, political, and environmental issues.

- **Social aspect**: the role of farmers in the transition and the role of collaboration.
- **Economic aspect**: the role of financing and the different financing streams (public and private).
- **Political aspect**: the role of policies beyond the ones directly mandating scope 3 disclosure.
- Environmental aspect: acting on scope 3 means also increasing the overall sustainability of the food sector, in which water, soil and biodiversity are all connected to climate issues.

The thesis achieved its aim, which was to provide insights on the current and future direction of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking in the EU's food processing sector through stakeholders' shared and conflicting frames, contributing to a more informed perspective on identified by stakeholders, consensus on solutions to overcome these barriers and lack of consensus around some enablers. Implications for research have shown the importance of focusing on researching ways solve data issues through data-sharing policies and the creation of public databases to ease disclosure. Research on the role of farmers and the social dimension of engagement is also important to incentivize large-scale projects to be implemented, along with understanding how to facilitate collaborative structures along the three dimensions identified by the thesis (within supply chains, across companies, between public and private sector). Research on the consequences of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking for food sub-sectors can also prove insightful, along with researching the effects of EU policies on scope policies on scope 3 disclosure and action-taking. The thesis has shown the relevance of interdisciplinary research beyond the quantitative assessment of companies' level and/or quality of disclosure, and the importance of increasing research on action-taking rather than disclosure.

Key practical implications include insights for all stakeholders on the way other stakeholder groups view and frame the framework of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking. The thesis has highlighted contentious but also actionable solutions to be implemented through collaboration.

Implications for food processing companies are connected to the role of mandatory disclosure policies increasing companies' transparency and financing the transition through collaboration within the supply chain, across companies and with the public sector. Implications for policymakers relate to the role of policy in the EU and the need to harmonize disclosure policies to companies' actions to incentivize large-scale reduction strategies.

In **conclusion**, scope 3 disclosure and action-taking in the food processing sector in the EU has shown to be an established framework which will evolve, incorporating more companies in the sector. Issues curbing scope 3 disclosure must be solved to allow companies to focus on actions more extensively, and collaboration across all steps of the value chain can unlock solutions to increase financing of large-scale projects, easing the process of reporting scope 3 reductions, allow farmers to gain from a shift to a more sustainable food system and companies' boards to understand the risks of not implementing reduction strategies in the agricultural supply chain. The insights gathered for this research have shown that in the EU, there is momentum for companies to act. Allowing for these actions to take place is up to future implementation of the solutions identified, while it is up for future research to go beyond the first step of this research to delve more into the many avenues which will not only achieve scope 3 reductions in the food processing sector, but a transition to a more sustainable food system.

# **Bibliography**

A Guide to Future-Proof Scope 3 Reporting for Food Brands and CPGs. (2022). [White Paper]. HowGood.

- Acampora, A., Ruini, L., Pratesi, C. A., & Lucchetti, M. C. (2022). Carbon Neutrality in the Agri-food Sector: Challenges and Opportunities in a Dynamic Setting. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-88048-4
- Alexi Ernstoff. (2023, October 16). Sustainable land management requires a shift in mindset—And metrics. *Agriculture Dive*. <u>https://www.agriculturedive.com/news/regenerative-sustainable-agriculture-outcome-based-metrics-climate-opinion/696342/</u>
- An analysis of the sustainability reports of 1000 companies pursuant to the EU Non-Financial Reporting Directive. (2019). [Research Report]. Alliance For Corporate Transparency, Frank Bold. <u>https://www.sustentia.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/2019-Research-Report-Alliance-for-Corporate-Transparency\_compressed.pdf</u>
- Anastasia Volkova. (2022a, November 22). Embracing Scope 3 Opportunities in the Agrifood Sector—Part 1. Regrow. <u>https://www.regrow.ag/post/embracing-scope-3-opportunities-in-the-agrifood-sector</u>
- Anastasia Volkova. (2022b, December 6). Embracing Scope 3 Opportunities in the Agrifood Sector—Part 2. *Regrow*. <u>https://www.regrow.ag/post/embracing-scope-3-opportunities-in-the-agrifood-sector-part-2</u>
- Anastasia Volkova. (2022c, December 12). Embracing Scope 3 Opportunities in the Agrifood Sector—Part 3. *Regrow*. <u>https://www.regrow.ag/post/embracing-scope-3-opportunities-in-the-agrifood-sector-part-3</u>
- Anay Mridul. (2024, March 4). How This Carbon Calculator is Helping Food Companies Better Report & Reduce GHG Emissions. *Green Queen*. <u>https://www.greenqueen.com.hk/howgood-carbon-ghg-scope-3-emissions-food-reporting/</u>
- Anderson, CM., Bicalho, T., Wallace, E., Letts, T., & Stevenson, M. (2022). Forest, Land and Agriculture Science- Based Target-Setting Guidance [Guidance]. SBTi. <u>https://sciencebasedtargets.org/resources/files/SBTiFLAGGuidance.pdf</u>
- Ascui, F., & Lovell, H. (2011). As frames collide: Making sense of carbon accounting. Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, 24(8), 978–999. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09513571111184724</u>
- Ashley Allen. (2021, November 2). Voices: Ashley Allen, chief sustainability officer at Oatly [Economist Impact]. <u>https://impact.economist.com/sustainability/ecosystems-resources/voices-ashley-allen-chief-sustainability-officer-at-oatly</u>
- Asif, M. S., Lau, H., Nakandala, D., Fan, Y., & Hurriyet, H. (2022). Case study research of green life cycle model for the evaluation and reduction of scope 3 emissions in food supply chains. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, 29(4), 1050–1066. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.2253</u>

- Ballentine, R. (2024). Scope 3: What question are we trying to answer? *Frontiers in Sustainable Energy Policy*, *3*, 1378390. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fsuep.2024.1378390</u>
- Bazhair, A. H., Khatib, S. F. A., & Al Amosh, H. (2022). Taking Stock of Carbon Disclosure Research While Looking to the Future: A Systematic Literature Review. *Sustainability*, 14(20), 13475. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su142013475</u>
- Belkhir, L., Bernard, S., & Abdelgadir, S. (2017). Does GRI reporting impact environmental sustainability? A cross-industry analysis of CO 2 emissions performance between GRIreporting and non-reporting companies. *Management of Environmental Quality: An International Journal*, 28(2), 138–155. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/MEQ-10-2015-0191</u>
- Bjørn, A., Tilsted, J. P., Addas, A., & Lloyd, S. M. (2022). Can Science-Based Targets Make the Private Sector Paris-Aligned? A Review of the Emerging Evidence. *Current Climate Change Reports*, 8(2), 53–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40641-022-00182-w</u>

Blakeney LAB. (n.d.). Scope 3 Research Report.

- Blanco, C. C. (2021). Supply Chain Carbon Footprinting and Climate Change Disclosures of Global Firms. Production and Operations Management, 30(9), 3143–3160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/poms.13421</u>
- Blanco, C., Caro, F., & Corbett, C. J. (2016). The state of supply chain carbon footprinting: Analysis of CDP disclosures by US firms. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 135, 1189–1197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.jclepro.2016.06.132</u>
- Brander, M., Gillenwater, M., & Ascui, F. (2018). Creative accounting: A critical perspective on the market-based method for reporting purchased electricity (scope 2) emissions. *Energy Policy*, *112*, 29–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2017.09.051</u>
- Busch, T., Johnson, M., & Pioch, T. (2022). Corporate carbon performance data: Quo vadis? *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, 26(1), 350–363. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.13008</u>
- CDP. (2023). Scoping out: Tracking nature across the supply chain (Global Supply Chain Report 2022). CDP. <u>https://www.cdp.net/en/research/global-reports/scoping-out-tracking-nature-across-the-supply-chain</u>
- Charlotte Bricheux, Jonas Lehr, Lucas Ponbauer, & Sebastian Gatzer. (2024, January 17). Tackling Scope 3 emissions through supplier collaboration. *McKinsey - Sustainability Blog.* <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/capabilities/sustainability/our-insights/sustainability-blog/tackling-scope-3-</u> <u>emissions-through-supplier-collaboration</u>
- Chong, D., & Druckman, J. N. (2007). Framing Theory. *Annual Review of Political Science*, 10(1), 103–126. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.polisci.10.072805.103054
- ClientEarth. (2019, July 24). EU can better protect environment by strengthening corporate responsibility. *ClientEarth Communications*. <u>https://www.clientearth.org/latest/news/eu-can-better-protect-environment-by-strengthening-corporate-responsibility/</u>
- Clonan, A., Roberts, K. E., & Holdsworth, M. (2016). Socioeconomic and demographic drivers of red and processed meat consumption: Implications for health and environmental

sustainability. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, *75*(3), 367–373. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0029665116000100

- Coller FAIRR Climate Risk Tool 2023 Report: The Financial Impact of Climate Change on the Livestock Sector. (2023). FAIRR Initiative. <u>https://www.fairr.org/resources/reports/financial-impact-climate-change-livestock</u>
- Corrina Filipović. (n.d.). Why Are Scope 3 Emissions a Key Concern for Food Manufacturers? [Agrivi]. *Digital Agriculture*. <u>https://www.agrivi.com/blog/scope-3-emissions-in-food-production/</u>
- Dahlmann, F., & Roehrich, J. K. (2019). Sustainable supply chain management and partner engagement to manage climate change information. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 28(8), 1632–1647. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2392</u>
- Daniela Chiriac, Harsha Vishnumolakala, & Paul Rosane. (2023). Landscape of Climate Finance for Agrifood Systems. Climate Policy Initiative. <u>https://www.climatepolicyinitiative.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/2023/11/Landscape-of-Climate-Finance-for-Agrifood-Systems.pdf
- David Burrows. (2022, November 21). The world's largest food companies have gone backwards on net zero. *JustFood*. <u>https://www.just-food.com/features/the-worlds-largest-food-companies-have-gone-backwards-on-net-zero/</u>
- De Bakker, F. G. A., Rasche, A., & Ponte, S. (2019). Multi-Stakeholder Initiatives on Sustainability: A Cross-Disciplinary Review and Research Agenda for Business Ethics. *Business Ethics Quarterly*, 29(03), 343–383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/beq.2019.10</u>
- Detailed Summary of Responses from Market-based Accounting Approaches Stakeholder Survey. (2024). [Draft]. GHG Protocol. <u>https://ghgprotocol.org/blog/ghg-protocol-releases-market-based-accounting-approaches-survey-draft-summary-report-0</u>
- Dewulf, A., Gray, B., Putnam, L., Lewicki, R., Aarts, N., Bouwen, R., & Van Woerkum, C. (2009). Disentangling approaches to framing in conflict and negotiation research: A metaparadigmatic perspective. *Human Relations*, 62(2), 155–193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726708100356</u>
- Dingwerth, K., & Eichinger, M. (2010). Tamed Transparency: How Information Disclosure under the Global Reporting Initiative Fails to Empower. *Global Environmental Politics*, 10(3), 74–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/GLEP\_a\_00015</u>
- Donaldson, T., & Preston, L. E. (2024). The Stakeholder Theory of the Corporation: Concepts, Evidence, and Implications.
- Downie, J., & Stubbs, W. (2012). Corporate Carbon Strategies and Greenhouse Gas Emission Assessments: The Implications of Scope 3 Emission Factor Selection. Business Strategy and the Environment, 21(6), 412–422. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.1734</u>

Dryzek, J. S. (2013a). The politics of the earth: Environmental discourses (3rd ed). Oxford university press.

Dryzek, J. S. (2013b). The politics of the earth: Environmental discourses (3rd ed). Oxford university press.
- Elizabeth Petykowski, Kitty Parker Brooks, Alexandre L'Heureux, Abel Hemmelder, Paul Limpens, Liz Kirk, & Talia Smith. (2024). *Future Fit Food and Agriculture: Developments in voluntary frameworks and standards and their influence on legislation for businesses*. FOLUC, We Mean Business Coalition, WBCSD. <u>https://www.foodandlandusecoalition.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/03/FOLU-Future-Fit-report\_compressed.pdf</u>
- Entman, R. M. (1993). Framing: Toward Clarification of a Fractured Paradigm. *Journal of Communication*, 43(4), 51–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.1993.tb01304.x</u>
- Eriksson, J., & Reischl, G. (2019a). Worlds apart, worlds together: Converging and diverging frames in climate and energy governance. *Globalizations*, 16(1), 67–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14747731.2018.1518864</u>
- Eriksson, J., & Reischl, G. (2019b). Worlds apart, worlds together: Converging and diverging frames in climate and energy governance. *Globalizations*, 16(1), 67–82. https://doi.org/10.1080/14747731.2018.1518864
- European climate risk assessment: Executive summary. (2024). [Executive Summary]. European Environment Agency. <u>https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/european-climate-risk-assessment</u>
- European Commission. (n.d.). Corporate Sustainability Due Diligence. European Commission. Retrieved May 5, 2024, from <u>https://commission.europa.eu/business-economy-euro/doing-business-economy-euro/doing-business-eu/corporate-sustainability-due-diligence\_en</u>
- Eurostat. Key Figures on the European Food Chain 2023 Edition. EUROSTAT, Nov. 2023 https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/15216629/18054337/KS-FK-23-001-EN-N.pdf
  - FAIRR Initiative. (2024). Tackling the Climate-Nature Nexus: Climate and nature solutions for sustainable livestock production. FAIRR Initiative. <u>https://www.fairr.org/resources/reports/tackling-climate-nature-nexus</u>
  - Fischer, F., & Forester, J. (1993). *The Argumentative turn in policy analysis and planning*. Duke University Press.
  - Freeman, R. E. (1984). Strategic management: A stakeholder approach. Pitman.
  - Freeman, R. E. E., & McVea, J. (2001). A Stakeholder Approach to Strategic Management. SSRN Electronic Journal. <u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.263511</u>
  - Friedman, A. L., & Miles, S. (2010). Stakeholders: Theory and practice. Oxford Univ. Press.
  - Fyall, A., Garrod, B., & Wang, Y. (2012). Destination collaboration: A critical review of theoretical approaches to a multi-dimensional phenomenon. *Journal of Destination Marketing & Management*, 1(1–2), 10–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdmm.2012.10.002</u>
  - Giesekam, J., Norman, J., Garvey, A., & Betts-Davies, S. (2021). Science-Based Targets: On Target? *Sustainability*, 13(4), 1657. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su13041657</u>

- González, N., Marquès, M., Nadal, M., & Domingo, J. L. (2020). Meat consumption: Which are the current global risks? A review of recent (2010–2020) evidences. *Food Research International*, 137, 109341. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2020.109341</u>
- Gray, B., Purdy, J. M., & Ansari, S. (Shaz). (2015). From Interactions to Institutions: Microprocesses of Framing and Mechanisms for the Structuring of Institutional Fields. *Academy of Management Review*, 40(1), 115–143. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2013.0299</u>
- Greve, H. R., & Argote, L. (2015). Behavioral Theories of Organization. In International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences (pp. 481–486). Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-097086-8.73121-7</u>
- Guillaume Boinnard, Abigail Snyder, Pierre Bloch, & Gustave Coste. (2023). Challenges & Solutions For Allocating Greenhouse Gas Mitigation Outcomes: Contextualized In Agricultural Supply Chain. SustainCert. https://www.sustain-cert.com/documents/allocating-greenhouse-gas-mitigation-outcomes
- Guillaume Bône, Antoine Pugliese, & Sebastien Godinot. (2024). Corporate Climate Targets: Ensuring the Credibility of EU-Regulated Commitments [Policy Report]. WWF France. https://www.wwf.fr/sites/default/files/doc-2024-02/WWF\_Climate\_Targets\_Report\_2024.pdf
- Gupta, J. (2010). A history of international climate change policy. WIREs Climate Change, 1(5), 636– 653. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.67</u>
- Hajer, M. A. (1995a). The politics of environmental discourse: Ecological modernization and the policy process. Clarendon Press; Oxford University Press.
- Hajer, M. A. (1995b). The politics of environmental discourse: Ecological modernization and the policy process. Clarendon Press; Oxford University Press.
- Hajer, M., & Versteeg, W. (2005a). A decade of discourse analysis of environmental politics:
  Achievements, challenges, perspectives. *Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning*, 7(3), 175–184. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/15239080500339646">https://doi.org/10.1080/15239080500339646</a>
- Hajer, M., & Versteeg, W. (2005b). A decade of discourse analysis of environmental politics:
  Achievements, challenges, perspectives. *Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning*, 7(3), 175–184. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/15239080500339646">https://doi.org/10.1080/15239080500339646</a>
- Hansen, A. D., Kuramochi, T., & Wicke, B. (2022). The status of corporate greenhouse gas emissions reporting in the food sector: An evaluation of food and beverage manufacturers. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 361, 132279. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.jclepro.2022.132279</u>
- Harrison, J. S., Barney, J. B., Freeman, R. E., & Phillips, R. A. (n.d.-a). The Cambridge Handbook of Stakeholder Theory.
- Harrison, J. S., Barney, J. B., Freeman, R. E., & Phillips, R. A. (n.d.-b). The Cambridge Handbook of Stakeholder Theory.

- He, R., Luo, L., Shamsuddin, A., & Tang, Q. (2022). Corporate carbon accounting: A literature review of carbon accounting research from the Kyoto Protocol to the Paris Agreement. *Accounting & Finance*, 62(1), 261–298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/acfi.12789</u>
- Helena Wright, Nicola Meyer, Tim Benton, & Michael Obersteiner. (2022, October 20). Science Based Targets in Agriculture Must Drive Robust Transition. FAIRR Initiative. <u>https://www.fairr.org/news-events/insights/science-based-targets-in-agriculture</u>

Hennink, M. M., Hutter, I., & Bailey, A. (2011). Qualitative research methods. SAGE.

- Hertwich, E. G., & Wood, R. (2018). The growing importance of scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions from industry. *Environmental Research Letters*, 13(10), 104013. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aae19a</u>
- Hettler, M., & Graf-Vlachy, L. (2023). Corporate scope 3 carbon emission reporting as an enabler of supply chain decarbonization: A systematic review and comprehensive research agenda. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, bse.3486. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.3486</u>
- Hoogerbrugge, C., Van De Kaa, G., & Chappin, E. (2023). Adoption of quality standards for corporate greenhouse gas inventories: The importance of other stakeholders. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 260, 108857. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2023.108857</u>
- Hummel, K., & Schlick, C. (2016a). The relationship between sustainability performance and sustainability disclosure – Reconciling voluntary disclosure theory and legitimacy theory. *Journal of Accounting and Public Policy*, 35(5), 455–476. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2016.06.001</u>
- Hummel, K., & Schlick, C. (2016b). The relationship between sustainability performance and sustainability disclosure – Reconciling voluntary disclosure theory and legitimacy theory. *Journal of Accounting and Public Policy*, 35(5), 455–476. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2016.06.001</u>
- Ishinabe, N., Fujii, H., & Managi, S. (2013). The True Cost of Greenhouse Gas Emissions: Analysis of 1,000 Global Companies. *PLoS ONE*, 8(11), e78703. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0078703
- Iwona Cameron, Alfredo Lopez, & Aaron Yule. (2021). Decarbonisation road map for the European food and drink manufacturing sector [Technical Report]. RICARDO. <u>https://www.fooddrinkeurope.eu/wpcontent/uploads/2021/09/Decarbonising-the-European-food-and-drink-manufacturing-sector\_v2.pdf</u>
- Jo Raven. (2020, August 14). The Road to Protein Diversification for Global Food Companies. *FAIRR Initiative*. <u>https://www.fairr.org/news-events/insights/the-road-to-protein-diversification-for-global-food-companies</u>
- Julia Bognar, Krystyna Springer, Martin Nesbit, Elisabet Nadeu, & Nora Hiller. (2023). *Applying the polluter pays principle to agricultural emissions*. Institute for European Environmental Policy. https://ieep.eu/publications/applying-the-polluter-pays-principle-to-agriculturalemissions/#:~:text=An%20emissions%20trading%20system%20(ETS,onfarm%20mitigation%20measures%20available

- Kaplan, S. (2008). Framing Contests: Strategy Making Under Uncertainty. Organization Science, 19(5), 729–752. <u>https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1070.0340</u>
- Katherine Devine & Emily Moberg. (2023). Reducing Greenhouse Gases with Incentives at the Farm: How companies are moving from setting climate targets to delivering on them [Technical Report]. WWF. <u>https://files.worldwildlife.org/wwfcmsprod/files/Publication/file/4u5n95bhrj\_5b9pj28bm3\_GHG\_Incentives</u> <u>8\_10.pdf?\_ga=2.920113.120406084.1716451575-1589240197.1716451575</u>
- Klaaßen, L., & Stoll, C. (2021). Harmonizing corporate carbon footprints. *Nature Communications*, 12(1), 6149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-26349-x</u>
- Kolk, A., Levy, D., & Pinkse, J. (2008). Corporate Responses in an Emerging Climate Regime: The Institutionalization and Commensuration of Carbon Disclosure. *European Accounting Review*, 17(4), 719–745. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180802489121</u>
- Laplume, A. O., Sonpar, K., & Litz, R. A. (2008). Stakeholder Theory: Reviewing a Theory That Moves Us. *Journal of Management*, 34(6), 1152–1189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206308324322</u>
- Lessons from a Practitioner: Why tackling scope 3 is absolutely key in reducing Mars' carbon footprint. (n.d.). https://open.spotify.com/episode/1YTgDpGAds0b1Mp3ZDKpLG
- Levy, D. L., Brown, H. S., & de Jong, M. (n.d.). The Case of the Global Reporting Initiative.
- Li, M., Wiedmann, T., & Hadjikakou, M. (2020). Enabling Full Supply Chain Corporate Responsibility: Scope 3 Emissions Targets for Ambitious Climate Change Mitigation. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 54(1), 400–411. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b05245</u>
- Liesen, A., Hoepner, A. G., Patten, D. M., & Figge, F. (2015). Does stakeholder pressure influence corporate GHG emissions reporting? Empirical evidence from Europe. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, 28*(7), 1047–1074. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/AAAJ-12-2013-1547</u>
- Lovell, H. (2004). Framing sustainable housing as a solution to climate change. Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning, 6(1), 35–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1523908042000259677</u>
- Lovell, H., & MacKenzie, D. (2011). Accounting for Carbon: The Role of Accounting Professional Organisations in Governing Climate Change. *Antipode*, *43*(3), 704–730. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8330.2011.00883.x</u>
- Luc Schmerber, Rene Tõnnisson, & Mart Veliste. (2022). Supporting the agrifood sector: A Policy Brief from the Policy Learning Platform on SME competitiveness [Policy Brief]. Interreg Europe. https://projects2014-2020.interregeurope.eu/fileadmin/user\_upload/tx\_tevprojects/library/file\_1667473258.pdf
- Lucas, P., Fleming, J., & Bhosale, J. (2018). The utility of case study as a methodology for work-integrated learning research.
- Mahapatra, S. K., Schoenherr, T., & Jayaram, J. (2021). An assessment of factors contributing to firms' carbon footprint reduction efforts. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 235, 108073. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2021.108073</u>

Marion Verles. (n.d.-a). Dercarbonizing Chocolate (Episode 2, Series 3). https://sustain-cert.com/podcast

- Marion Verles. (n.d.-b). *How can we decarbonize the food and agriculture sector?* (Episode 1, Series 3). https://sustain-cert.com/podcast
- Marion Verles & Thomas Blackburn. (n.d.). *Can tech help us feed the world more sustainably?* (Episode 3, Series 3). <u>https://open.spotify.com/episode/5Y8clLsRkRpwcAtBIwtAxQ</u>
- Marlowe, J., Clarke, A., Memorial University of Newfoundland, Grenfell Campus, Newfoundland, Canada, & University of Waterloo, Ontario, Canada. (2022). Carbon Accounting: A Systematic Literature Review and Directions for Future Research. *Green Finance*, 4(1), 71–87. <u>https://doi.org/10.3934/GF.2022004</u>
- Matisoff, D. C., Noonan, D. S., & O'Brien, J. J. (2013a). Convergence in Environmental Reporting: Assessing the Carbon Disclosure Project. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 22(5), 285–305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.1741</u>
- Matisoff, D. C., Noonan, D. S., & O'Brien, J. J. (2013b). Convergence in Environmental Reporting: Assessing the Carbon Disclosure Project. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 22(5), 285–305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.1741</u>
- McKenna Smith & Paulina Moreno López. (2023). Engaging Supply Chains on The Decarbonization Journey: A Guide to Developing and Achieving Scope 3 Supplier Engagement Targets [Guidance]. SBTi. https://sciencebasedtargets.org/resources/files/Supplier-Engagement-Guidance.pdf
- Mena, S., & Palazzo, G. (2012). Input and Output Legitimacy of Multi-Stakeholder Initiatives. Business Ethics Quarterly, 22(3), 527–556. <u>https://doi.org/10.5840/beq201222333</u>
- Mike Asquith, Adina Dumitru, Henrik Larsen, Cathy Maguire, Florian Kern, Sabine Hielscher, Gijs Diercks, Aniek Hebinck, & Minna Kaljonen. (2023). *Transforming Europe's food system—Assessing the EU policy mix* [Policy Report]. European Environment Agency. <u>https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/transforming-europes-food-system</u>
- Mitchell, R. K. (2024). Toward a Theory of Stakeholder Identification and Salience: Defining the Principle of Who and What Really Counts.
- Mitchell, R. K., Agle, B. R., & Wood, D. J. (1997). Toward a Theory of Stakeholder Identification and Salience: Defining the Principle of Who and What Really Counts. *The Academy of Management Review*, 22(4), 853. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/259247</u>
- Moog, S., Spicer, A., & Böhm, S. (2015). The Politics of Multi-Stakeholder Initiatives: The Crisis of the Forest Stewardship Council. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 128(3), 469–493. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-013-2033-3</u>
- Morgan Gillespy. (2024, April 11). How can businesses secure a more sustainable, equitable and resilient future for the food sector? [Webinar].
- Morrison, L. J., Wilmshurst, T., & Shimeld, S. (2023). Counting nature: Some implications of quantifying environmental issues in corporate reports. *Meditari Accountancy Research*, 31(4), 912– 937. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/MEDAR-09-2020-1023</u>

- Newton, P., Civita, N., Frankel-Goldwater, L., Bartel, K., & Johns, C. (2020). What Is Regenerative Agriculture? A Review of Scholar and Practitioner Definitions Based on Processes and Outcomes. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, 4, 577723. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2020.577723</u>
- O'Dwyer, B., & Unerman, J. (2020). Shifting the focus of sustainability accounting from impacts to risks and dependencies: Researching the transformative potential of TCFD reporting.
   Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, 33(5), 1113–1141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/AAAJ-02-2020-4445</u>
- Olivia Bertham. (n.d.). Towards consistent measurement of Scope 3 emissions in the food and drink sector. *Deloitte Consumer Business*. <u>https://www2.deloitte.com/uk/en/blog/consumer-business/2023/towards-consistent-measurement-of-scope-3.html</u>
- Pankaj Bhatia, Cynthia Cummis, Andrea Brow, David Rich, Laura Draucker, & Holly Lahd. (2011). Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard [Guideline]. GHG Protocol. https://ghgprotocol.org/sites/default/files/standards/Scope3\_Calculation\_Guidance\_0.pdf
- Patchell, J. (2018). Can the implications of the GHG Protocol's scope 3 standard be realized? Journal of Cleaner Production, 185, 941–958. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.03.003
- Pattberg, P. (2017). The emergence of carbon disclosure: Exploring the role of governance entrepreneurs. *Environment and Planning C: Politics and Space*, 35(8), 1437–1455. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2399654417723341</u>
- Philippa Thornton. (2020, September 3). Why Ambitious Scope 3 Emission Target-Setting Is Becoming an Industry Standard. FAIRR Initiative. <u>https://www.fairr.org/news-events/insights/why-ambitious-scope-3-emission-target-setting-is-becoming-an-industry-standard</u>
- Philippa Thornton. (2021, April 22). Why Investors Need to Pay Closer Attention to Net Zero Targets. FAIRR Initiative. <u>https://www.fairr.org/news-events/insights/why-investors-need-to-pay-closer-</u> attention-to-net-zero-targets
- Phillips, R., Freeman, R. E., & Wicks, A. C. (2003). What Stakeholder Theory is Not. Business Ethics Quarterly, 13(4), 479–502. https://doi.org/10.5840/beq200313434
- Qian, D., Dargusch, P., & Hill, G. (2022). Carbon Management behind the Ambitious Pledge of Net Zero Carbon Emission—A Case Study of PepsiCo. *Sustainability*, 14(4), 2171. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su14042171</u>
- Reavis, M., Ahlen, J., Rudek, J., & Naithani, K. (2022). Evaluating Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Climate Mitigation Goals of the Global Food and Beverage Sector. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, 5, 789499. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2021.789499</u>
- Robert Philips. (2003). Stakeholder Theory and Organizational Ethics. Berren-Koehler Publishers Inc.
- Robinson, O. J., Tewkesbury, A., Kemp, S., & Williams, I. D. (2018). Towards a universal carbon footprint standard: A case study of carbon management at universities. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 172, 4435–4455. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.02.147</u>

- Romijn, E., De Sy, V., Herold, M., Böttcher, H., Roman-Cuesta, R. M., Fritz, S., Schepaschenko, D., Avitabile, V., Gaveau, D., Verchot, L., & Martius, C. (2018). Independent data for transparent monitoring of greenhouse gas emissions from the land use sector What do stakeholders think and need? *Environmental Science & Policy*, *85*, 101–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2018.03.016
- SBTi Criteria and Recommendations for Near-Term Targets. (2023). [Guidance]. SBTi. https://sciencebasedtargets.org/resources/files/SBTi-criteria-v5.1.pdf
- Schäfer, M. S., & O'Neill, S. (2017a). Frame Analysis in Climate Change Communication. In M. S. Schäfer & S. O'Neill, Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Climate Science. Oxford University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190228620.013.487</u>
- Schäfer, M. S., & O'Neill, S. (2017b). Frame Analysis in Climate Change Communication. In M. S. Schäfer & S. O'Neill, Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Climate Science. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190228620.013.487
- Schauer, M. (2021). The first rigorous approach to ESG reporting. SUSTAINABILIT Y.
- Schreefel, L., Schulte, R. P. O., De Boer, I. J. M., Schrijver, A. P., & Van Zanten, H. H. E. (2020). Regenerative agriculture – the soil is the base. *Global Food Security*, 26, 100404. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2020.100404</u>
- Schulman, D. J., Bateman, A. H., & Greene, S. (2021). Supply chains (Scope 3) toward sustainable food systems: An analysis of food & beverage processing corporate greenhouse gas emissions disclosure. *Cleaner Production Letters*, 1, 100002. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clpl.2021.100002</u>
- Scope 3 action agenda for the agrifood sector: Tackling land-based emissions and removals. (2023). WBCSD. https://www.wbcsd.org/Programs/Food-and-Nature/Food-Land-Use/Scaling-Positive-Agriculture/Resources/Tackling-Scope-3-emissions-in-Agricultural-Food-value-chains
- Scope 3 GHG Measurement and Reporting Protocols for Food and Drink. (2022). WRAP. https://www.wrap.ngo/resources/guide/scope-3-ghg-measurement-and-reporting-protocols-food-and-drink
- Sethi, S. P., & Schepers, D. H. (2014). United Nations Global Compact: The Promise–Performance Gap. Journal of Business Ethics, 122(2), 193–208. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-013-1629-y</u>
- Shin, R., & Searcy, C. (2018). Evaluating the Greenhouse Gas Emissions in the Craft Beer Industry: An Assessment of Challenges and Benefits of Greenhouse Gas Accounting. *Sustainability*, 10(11), 4191. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su10114191</u>
- Silvana Paniagua Tufinio, Pierre Bloch, & Kai Streicher. (n.d.). Achieving net zero through value chain mitigation interventions: Exploring accounting, monitoring & assurance in food and agriculture. Value Change Initiative.

https://valuechangeinitiative.com/resources/#Achieving%20Net%20Zero%20Through%20Value%20Chain%2 0Mitigation%20Interventions:%20Exploring%20Accounting,%20Monitoring%20&%20Assurance%20in%20Fo od%20and%20Agriculture

- Simon Dietz, Eleanor Harvey, Valentin Jahn, & Agnes Norris Keiller. (2022). TPI Carbon Performance Assessment Of Food Producers [Discussion Paper]. Transition Pathway Initiative.
- Sofia Pyrgioti. (2023a, May 19). 4 steps to Scope 3 data: Roadblocks & how to overcome them. *CarbonCloud - Food for Thought*. https://carboncloud.com/blog/scope-3-data/
- Sofia Pyrgioti. (2023b, August 21). Food industry & Scope 3: A state of the art of food supply chain emissions [CarbonCloud]. *Food for Thought*. <u>https://carboncloud.com/blog/food-scope-3/</u>
- Statement of Intent to Work Together Towards Comprehensive Corporate Reporting. (2020). [Summary Report]. CDP, CDSB, GRI, IIRC, and SASB. <u>https://integratedreporting.ifrs.org/resource/statement-of-intent-to-work-together-towards-comprehensive-corporate-reporting/</u>
- Stenzel, A., & Waichman, I. (2023). Supply-chain data sharing for scope 3 emissions. *Npj Climate Action*, 2(1), 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s44168-023-00032-x</u>
- Supplier Engagement Guidance. (2022). [Guidance]. GHG Protocol. https://ghgprotocol.org/sites/default/files/2022-12/Supplier%20Engagement%20Guidance.pdf
- Stoll-Kleemann, S., & O'Riordan, T. (2015). The Sustainability Challenges of Our Meat and Dairy Diets. Environment: Science and Policy for Sustainable Development, 57(3), 34–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00139157.2015.1025644</u>
- Teske, S., & Nagrath, K. (2022). Global sector-specific Scope 1, 2, and 3 analyses for setting net-zero targets: Agriculture, forestry, and processing harvested products. SN Applied Sciences, 4(8), 221. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s42452-022-05111-y</u>
- The Business Case for Scope 3 GHG Action in Agriculture & Food Value Chains. (2024). [Summary Report]. WBCSD. <u>https://www.wbcsd.org/contentwbc/download/18284/253118/1</u>
- The future of agriculture: The strategic dialogues between all stakeholders has started (41). (n.d.).
- Thomas Day, Frederic Hans, Silke Mooldijk, Sybrig Smit, Santiago Woollands, Juliette de Grandpré, Nabila Putri Salsabila, Eve Fraser, Takeshi Kuramochi, & Carsten Warnecke. (2024). *Corporate Climate Responsibility Monitor 2024*. NewClimate Institute, Carbon Market Watch. <u>https://newclimate.org/sites/default/files/2024-04/NewClimate\_CCRM2024.pdf</u>
- Tidy, M., Wang, X., & Hall, M. (2016). The role of Supplier Relationship Management in reducing Greenhouse Gas emissions from food supply chains: Supplier engagement in the UK supermarket sector. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 112, 3294–3305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.10.065</u>
- Tim Searchinger, Richard Waite, Craig Hanson, & Janet Ranganathan. (2019). Creating a Sustainable Food Future: A Menu of Solutions to Feed Nearly 10 Billion People by 2050 [Synthesis Report]. WRI. https://www.wri.org/research/creating-sustainable-food-future
- Time 100 Climate: Rebecca Marmot, Chief Sustainability Officer, Unilever. (n.d.). *TIME*. <u>https://time.com/collection/time100-climate/6333097/rebecca-marmot/</u>
- *Transparency in Global Environmental Governance.* (n.d.).

- Vigneau, L., Humphreys, M., & Moon, J. (2015). How Do Firms Comply with International Sustainability Standards? Processes and Consequences of Adopting the Global Reporting Initiative. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 131(2), 469–486. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-014-2278-5</u>
- Wenning, R. J., Gard, N. W., Ryan, S. F., & White, C. (2022). The challenges for determining environmental footprints in the food sector. *Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management*, 18(3), 836–838. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ieam.4605</u>
- Westhoek, H., Lesschen, J. P., Rood, T., Wagner, S., De Marco, A., Murphy-Bokern, D., Leip, A., Van Grinsven, H., Sutton, M. A., & Oenema, O. (2014). Food choices, health and environment: Effects of cutting Europe's meat and dairy intake. *Global Environmental Change*, 26, 196–205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2014.02.004</u>
- Wijen, F. (2014). Means versus Ends in Opaque Institutional Fields: Trading off Compliance and Achievement in Sustainability Standard Adoption. *Academy of Management Review*, 39(3), 302– 323. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2012.0218</u>
- World Bank. (n.d.). *Carbon Pricing*. World Bank. Retrieved May 5, 2024, from https://carbonpricingdashboard.worldbank.org/what-carbon-pricing
- Xia, M., & Cai, H. H. (2023). The driving factors of corporate carbon emissions: An application of the LASSO model with survey data. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 30(19), 56484– 56512. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-023-26081-7</u>
- Zimmermann, A., Albers, N., & Kenter, J. O. (2022a). Deliberating Our Frames: How Members of Multi-Stakeholder Initiatives Use Shared Frames to Tackle Within-Frame Conflicts Over Sustainability Issues. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 178(3), 757–782. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-021-04789-1</u>
- Zimmermann, A., Albers, N., & Kenter, J. O. (2022b). Deliberating Our Frames: How Members of Multi-Stakeholder Initiatives Use Shared Frames to Tackle Within-Frame Conflicts Over Sustainability Issues. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 178(3), 757–782. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-021-04789-1</u>

## Appendix

## 7.1 Appendix I – Tables

Upstream Scope 3 emissions				
Catego	ry	Category description		
1.	Purchased goods and services	Extraction, production, and transportation of goods and services purchased or acquired by the reporting company in the reporting year, not otherwise included in Categories 2 - 8		
2.	Capital goods	Extraction, production, and transport- action of capital goods purchased or acquired by the reporting company in the reporting year		
3.	Fuel- and energy- related activities (not included in scope 1 or scope 2)	Extraction, production, and transportation of fuels and energy purchased or acquired by the reporting company in the reporting year, not already accounted for in scope 1 or scope 2		
4.	Upstream transportation and distribution	Transportation and distribution of products purchased, and transportation and distribution services purchased by the reporting company in the reporting year between a company's tier 1 suppliers and its own operations (in vehicles and facilities not owned or controlled by the reporting company)		
5.	Waste generated in operations	Disposal and treatment of waste generated in the reporting company's operations in the reporting year (in facilities not owned or controlled by the reporting company)		
6.	Business travel	Transportation of employees for business-related activities during the reporting year (in vehicles not owned or operated by the reporting company		
7.	Employee commuting	Transportation of employees between their homes and their worksites during the reporting year (in vehicles not owned or operated by the reporting company)		
8.	Upstream leased assets	Operation of assets leased by the reporting company (lessee) in the reporting year and not included in scope 1 and scope 2 – reported by lessee		
Downs	tream Scope 3 emissions			
Catego	ry	Category description		
9.	Downstream transportation and distribution	Transportation and distribution of products sold by the reporting company in the reporting year between the reporting company's operations and the end consumer (if not paid for by the reporting company), including retail and storage (in vehicles and facilities not owned or controlled by the reporting company)		
10.	Processing of sold products	Processing of intermediate products sold in the reporting year by downstream companies (e.g., manufacturers)		
11.	Use of sold products	End use of goods and services sold by the reporting company in the reporting year		
12.	End-of-life treatment of sold products	Waste disposal and treatment of products sold by the reporting company (in the reporting year) at the end of their life		
13.	Downstream leased assets	Operation of assets owned by the reporting company (lessor) and leased to other entities in the reporting year, not included in scope 1 and scope 2 – reported by lessor		
14.	Franchises	Operation of franchises in the reporting year, not included in scope 1 and scope 2 – reported by franchisor		
15.	Investments	Operation of investments (including equity and debt investments and project finance) in the reporting year, not included in scope 1 or scope 2		

Table 2.1 Description of scope 3 categories. Source: Own table based on GHG Protocol (2015)

	Shared frames	Conflicting frames
Opportunity/risk	<ul> <li>Scope 3 disclosure offers financial benefits and strategic advantages.</li> <li>It is seen as a risk not to act, particularly in light of regulatory developments.</li> <li>Scope 3 disclosure can drive action and improvement, ultimately contributing to reducing emissions.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Internal stakeholders focus more on the risk of not acting, while external stakeholders emphasize the opportunities associated with engagement.</li> <li>Internal stakeholders prioritize building strategic relationships and sustainable portfolios, while external stakeholders stress financial benefits, market share growth, and supply chain risk mitigation.</li> <li>Internal stakeholders may not emphasize the potential financial benefits of scope 3 disclosure as much as external stakeholders.</li> </ul>

Lack/presence of external pressure	<ul> <li>External pressure recognized as a driver for disclosure</li> <li>Significant role of MSIs and regulatory pressure</li> <li>Pressure from retailers and cascading effect on the supply chain</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Internal stakeholders identify issues with regulatory pressure, which is shared by some external stakeholders</li> <li>Conflicting views on whether pressure to disclose leads causes pressure to act and reduce emissions</li> <li>Power structures in the supply chain recognized as relevant by all external stakeholders but not by all internal stakeholders</li> </ul>
<b>D</b> : 1 1	Lack of pressure from consumers	statemotics
Disclosure and	<ul> <li>Tradeoff between perfection and action</li> </ul>	• Positive and negative framing: evolving field means more
guidelines system in evolution		opportunities; however internal stakeholders also highlight the uncertainties and the issues for companies

Table 5.2 Summary of shared and conflicting frames (Moral Judgements/Current Situation)

	Shared frames	Conflicting frames
Data Issues	<ul> <li>Recognition data quality as a significant barrier to scope 3 disclosure.</li> <li>Complexity of data-gathering processes and the lack of transparency.</li> <li>Secondary data need improvement and standardization across companies and within the supply chain.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Internal stakeholders express reluctance to rely on primary data due to its complexity and cost.</li> <li>Primary external stakeholders are more positive and highlight the important role of data-sharing within the supply chain.</li> <li>Secondary external stakeholders highlight the issues of data ownership and competition hindering data-sharing among supply chain players.</li> <li>Differing opinions on the importance and feasibility of primary data.</li> </ul>
Cost and Administrative Burdens	<ul> <li>Cost and admin burdens recognized by all and connected to data issues.</li> <li>Cost and admin burden contextual to the food supply chain (with differences based on food sub-sectors).</li> <li>Cost of not disclosing due to regulatory compliance as a driver to disclose.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Cost-sharing within the supply chain emphasized by both, with internal stakeholders focusing on internal costs while external stakeholders highlighting costs for farmers.</li> <li>External stakeholders emphasize the cost of not reducing emissions. Companies need to connect this cost to their actions to truly internalize the process and view it in a more positive light.</li> </ul>
External Pressure/Lack of Internalization	• External pressure to disclose might hinder companies' actions to reduce emissions, leading to disclosure for the sake of reporting, rather than, reducing, emissions.	• Pressure needs to be directed towards accountability but also towards action and rewarding: however, external stakeholders fear that companies might shift the pressure towards farmers and actors with less power in the supply chain.
Lack of Knowledge to Operationalize Change	<ul> <li>Lack of knowledge during both disclosure and action-taking, with the latter being more crucial to tackle given the biggest knowledge gap.</li> <li>Lack of knowledge exacerbated by the food system's lack of transparency across the supply chain.</li> <li>Mismatch between reporting and action-taking, so focus on companies' guidance is needed.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Internal stakeholders highlight the complexity to change a business model based on the current food system.</li> <li>More positive attitude of external stakeholders: focus on farms and middlemen and on the need for a more collaborative environment within the supply chain and across companies to bridge the knowledge gap.</li> </ul>

Table 5.3 Summary of shared and conflicting frames (Key Issues)

	Shared frames	Conflicting frames
Accessibility/Affordability of Data	<ul> <li>Role of the public sector in facilitating data-sharing through regulations and public databases</li> <li>Crucial role of technology for both primary and secondary data</li> <li>Benefits of automation for in-farm data-gathering</li> <li>Achieving data granularity through mass balance</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Disagreements on the extent or reliance on public databases and the level of intervention of regulators</li> <li>Varying perspectives on whether to facilitate SMEs' adoption of disclosure capabilities</li> <li>Trade-off between data quality and action perceived differently by stakeholder groups, with external stakeholders aiming to overcome the idea of a trade-off as a negative characteristic of scope 3 disclosure</li> </ul>
Standardization for transparency	• Mandatory disclosure is a driver for standardization, albeit risk for it to divest resources from implementing actions	• Lack of consensus for the implementation of market- based instruments

	<ul> <li>Need for sector-specific guidance to report on in-farm actions (supply sheds, mass balance, market-based instruments)</li> <li>Collaboration between companies to achieve consensus on reporting practices</li> <li>Emphasis on bridging the gap between reporting and actions</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Offsets vs insets: some external stakeholders highlight competition risks for food companies in case offsets are allowed for all companies disclosing</li> <li>Internal stakeholders: mandatory disclosure as a means to report progress vs external stakeholders: focus on tangible action.</li> </ul>
Financing, Incentivizing, and Scaling Up	<ul> <li>Financing seen as crucial to reduce emissions</li> <li>Increased investments in agricultural projects (potential of regenerative agriculture)</li> <li>Incentivizing farmers through economic schemes</li> <li>Collaboration between companies and within supply chains is necessary to scale up efforts</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>External stakeholders: need to shift from a commodity-based to a process-based system, while internal stakeholders are still reluctant in envisioning solutions that can bring about such radical change</li> <li>External stakeholders: transition to plant-based products. Internal stakeholders show reluctance to discuss or commit to such a shift (consumer preferences and potential risks)</li> </ul>
Public vs. Private Sector	<ul> <li>Regulations are needed to drive progress in emissions reduction efforts</li> <li>Positive impact of the EU CSRD</li> <li>Role of EU Food Policies in driving action and redirect financing efforts</li> </ul>	• Lack of consensus on the benefits of policies beyond the CSRD

<u>Table 5.4</u> Summary of shared and conflicting frames (Solutions)

## 7.2 Appendix II - Figures



<u>Figure 2.8</u> Overview of frame theory. Source: Own visual, based on Dewulf et al. (2009), Entman (1993), Eriksson & Reischl (2019), Zimmermann et al. (2022).



<u>Figure 2.10</u> Visual representation of the theoretical framework synthesizing stakeholder and framing theory and connection with the thesis' ROs



<u>Figure 3.1</u> Visual representation of the issues associated with scope 3 emissions disclosure and action-taking. Source: Own visual.



<u>Figure 4.1</u> Table showing the result of the stakeholder analysis. Source: Own visual. Stakeholders in **bold** were part of the data analysis.



Figure 5.1 Visual representation of the emerging connection between the Key Issues frames.



Figure 5.2 Overview of the emerging frames from the analysis

### 7.3 Appendix III - Initial list of companies analyzed

1	Unilever Group	20	Barilla
2	Danone	21	Nestle
3	Royal Frieslandcampina	22	Cosun
4	Arla	23	Barry Callebaut
5	Cargill	24	Ebro Food S.A.
6	Lactalis	25	Inalca Societa' Per Azioni
7	Nutreco	26	Lavazza
8	Kerry Group	27	Bonduelle
9	Jde Peet's	28	Nordzucker
10	Savencia	29	Greencore Group
11	Dmk Deutsches Milchkontor	30	Granarolo
12	Glanbia	31	Corbion
13	Roquette Freres	32	Mars
14	Greenyard	33	Aviko Holding B.V.
15	Aak	34	P/F Bakkafrost
16	Danish Crown	35	Lotus Bakeries Nv
17	Dr. August Oetker	36	Fleury Michon
18	Agrana	37	What's Cooking Group Nv
19	Unibel	38	Oatly Group Ab

Click here to go back to Section 4.2.1

# 7.4 Appendix IV – List of documents used for the sub-question and qualitative analysis

<u>Click here</u> to go back to Section 4.2.2

AAK. (2022). Sustainability Report 2022. <u>https://www.aak.com/sustainability/sustainability-reports/</u> Agrana. (2022). Sustainability along AGRANA's value chain 2022/23.

- https://www.agrana.com/fileadmin/inhalte/Nachhaltigkeit/Sustainability in AGRANA s value chain 2022 UPDATE Q3.pdf
- Alexi Ernstoff. (2023, October 16). Sustainable land management requires a shift in mindset— And metrics. *Agriculture Dive*. <u>https://www.agriculturedive.com/news/regenerative-sustainable-agriculture-outcome-based-metrics-climate-opinion/696342/</u>
- Anastasia Volkova. (2022a, November 22). Embracing Scope 3 Opportunities in the Agrifood Sector—Part 1. *Regrow*. <u>https://www.regrow.ag/post/embracing-scope-3-opportunities-in-the-agrifood-sector</u>
- Anastasia Volkova. (2022b, December 6). Embracing Scope 3 Opportunities in the Agrifood Sector—Part 2. *Regrow*. <u>https://www.regrow.ag/post/embracing-scope-3-opportunities-in-the-agrifood-sector-part-2</u>
- Anastasia Volkova. (2022c, December 12). Embracing Scope 3 Opportunities in the Agrifood Sector—Part 3. *Regrow*. <u>https://www.regrow.ag/post/embracing-scope-3-opportunities-in-the-agrifood-sector-part-3</u>
- Anay Mridul. (2024, March 4). How This Carbon Calculator is Helping Food Companies Better Report & Reduce GHG Emissions. *Green Queen*. <u>https://www.greenqueen.com.hk/howgood-carbon-ghg-scope-3-emissions-food-reporting/</u>
- Arla. (2022). Financial and Sustainability Annual Report. <u>https://www.arla.com/492f23/globalassets/arla-global/company---overview/investor/annual-reports/2022/arla-annual-report-2022\_uk3.pdf</u>
- Ashley Allen. (2021, November 2). Voices: Ashley Allen, chief sustainability officer at Oatly [Economist Impact]. <u>https://impact.economist.com/sustainability/ecosystems-resources/voices-ashley-allen-chief-sustainability-officer-at-oatly</u>
- Aviko. (2022). Sustainability Report. https://aviko.h5mag.com/sustainability\_report\_2022/foreword
- Bakkafrost. (2022). Healthy Living Sustainability Report. <u>https://bakkafrost.cdn.fo/media/4113/bakkafrost-healthy-living-sustainability-report-2022.pdf?s=B-k8nXc6lWE-l1dS6IEKIluR-Mg</u>
- Barilla. (2022). The Joy of Food for a Better Life: Sustainability Report 2022. https://www.barillagroup.com/en/sustainability/report-2022/
- Barry Callebaut. (2022). Forever Chocolate Progress Report 2022/23. <u>https://www.barry-</u> callebaut.com/en/group/forever-chocolate/sustainability-reporting/forever-chocolate-progress-report-202223
- Bonduelle. (2022). Corporate Social Responsibility Report. <u>https://www.bonduelle.com/en/csr-report-</u>2022-2023/
- Cargill. (2022). ESG Report. https://www.cargill.com/doc/1432219233265/2022-esg-report-all.pdf
- Charlotte Bricheux, Jonas Lehr, Lucas Ponbauer, & Sebastian Gatzer. (2024, January 17). Tackling Scope 3 emissions through supplier collaboration. *McKinsey - Sustainability Blog.* <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/capabilities/sustainability/our-insights/sustainability-blog/tackling-scope-3-</u> <u>emissions-through-supplier-collaboration</u>
- ClientEarth. (2019, July 24). EU can better protect environment by strengthening corporate responsibility. *ClientEarth Communications*. <u>https://www.clientearth.org/latest/news/eu-can-better-protect-environment-by-strengthening-corporate-responsibility/</u>

- Coller FAIRR Climate Risk Tool 2023 Report: The Financial Impact of Climate Change on the Livestock Sector. (2023). FAIRR Initiative. <u>https://www.fairr.org/resources/reports/financial-impact-climatechange-livestock</u>
- Corbion. (2022). Annual Report. https://annualreport.corbion.com/FbContent.ashx/pub\_1007/downloads/v230922142643/Corbion\_annual\_r eport\_2022.pdf
- Corrina Filipović. (n.d.). Why Are Scope 3 Emissions a Key Concern for Food Manufacturers? [Agrivi]. *Digital Agriculture*. https://www.agrivi.com/blog/scope-3-emissions-in-food-production/
- Cosun. (2022). Annual Report. https://www.cosun.com/news/cosun-annual-report-2022/
- Danish Crown. (2022). Annual Report 2022/2023. https://www.danishcrown.com/global/about-us/ourresults/annual-reports/\_
- Danone. (2022). Social, Societal and Environmental Responsibility. <u>https://www.danone.com/content/dam/corp/global/danonecom/investors/en-sustainability/reports-and-data/cross-topic/urd-chapters/chapter5URD22.pdf</u>
- David Burrows. (2022, November 21). The world's largest food companies have gone backwards on net zero. *JustFood*. <u>https://www.just-food.com/features/the-worlds-largest-food-companies-have-gone-backwards-on-net-zero/</u>
- Dmk Deutsches Milchkontor. (2022). Responsibility: Sustainable Management at DMK. <u>https://dmk.de/fileadmin/redaktion/Nachhaltigkeit/berichte\_pdfs/DMK\_Verantwortungsbroschuere\_EN.pd</u> <u>f</u>
- Dr. August Oetker. (2022). Sustainability Report 2019/2022. <u>https://www.oetker.com/our-responsibility/driving-sustainability/reports-and-downloads</u>
- Ebro Food S.A. (2022). Corporate Social Responsibility and Sustainability Report. https://www.ebrofoods.es/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/CSR-2022\_compressed.pdf
- FAIRR Initiative. (2024). Tackling the Climate-Nature Nexus: Climate and nature solutions for sustainable livestock production. FAIRR Initiative. <u>https://www.fairr.org/resources/reports/tackling-climate-nature-nexus</u>
- Fleury Michon. (2022). Rapport Integré. https://www.fleurymichon.fr/sites/default/files/telechargements/pdf/2023-10/fleury\_michon\_rapport\_integre\_2022%20%281%29.pdf
- FrieslandCampina. (2022). A New Day: 2022 Annual Report. <u>https://www.frieslandcampina.com/about-us/financial-and-sustainability-reports/</u>
- Glanbia plc. (2022). GRI Report 2022: ESG Performance & Ambition. <u>https://www.glanbia.com/our-stories/gri-report-2022</u>

Granarolo. (2022). Sustainability Report. https://www.gruppogranarolo.it/csr-report-2022\_

- Greencore Group. (2022). Sustainability Report. https://www.greencore.com/app/uploads/2023/02/Greencore-Sustainability-Report-2022-1.pdf
- Greenyard. (2022). Annual Report 2022/2023. <u>https://www.greenyard.group/investor-relations/annual-report-2022-2023</u>
- Groupe Lactalis. (2022). Sustainability Report 2022. <u>https://www.lactalis.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Sustainability-Report-2022\_Lactalis-Group-vl.pdf</u>
- Guillaume Boinnard, Abigail Snyder, Pierre Bloch, & Gustave Coste. (2023). Challenges & Solutions For Allocating Greenhouse Gas Mitigation Outcomes: Contextualized In Agricultural Supply Chain. SustainCert. https://www.sustain-cert.com/documents/allocating-greenhouse-gas-mitigation-outcomes
- Guillaume Bône, Antoine Pugliese, & Sebastien Godinot. (2024). Corporate Climate Targets: Ensuring the Credibility of EU-Regulated Commitments [Policy Report]. WWF France. https://www.wwf.fr/sites/default/files/doc-2024-02/WWF Climate Targets Report 2024.pdf

Helena Wright, Nicola Meyer, Tim Benton, & Michael Obersteiner. (2022, October 20). Science Based Targets in Agriculture Must Drive Robust Transition. *FAIRR Initiative*. <u>https://www.fairr.org/news-events/insights/science-based-targets-in-agriculture</u>

Inalca. (2022). Sustainability Report. https://www.inalca.it/en/our-sustainability-report/

- Iwona Cameron, Alfredo Lopez, & Aaron Yule. (2021). Decarbonisation road map for the European food and drink manufacturing sector [Technical Report]. RICARDO. <u>https://www.fooddrinkeurope.eu/wpcontent/uploads/2021/09/Decarbonising-the-European-food-and-drink-manufacturing-sector\_v2.pdf</u>
- Jde Peet's N.V. (2022). Annual Report 2022. <u>https://www.jdepeets.com/siteassets/documents/jde-peets-annual-report-2022.pdf</u>
- Jo Raven. (2020, August 14). The Road to Protein Diversification for Global Food Companies. FAIRR Initiative. <u>https://www.fairr.org/news-events/insights/the-road-to-protein-diversification-for-global-food-companies</u>
- Katherine Devine & Emily Moberg. (2023). Reducing Greenhouse Gases with Incentives at the Farm: How companies are moving from setting climate targets to delivering on them [Technical Report]. WWF. https://files.worldwildlife.org/wwfcmsprod/files/Publication/file/4u5n95bhrj\_5b9pj28bm3\_GHG\_Incentives \_\_\_\_\_8\_10.pdf?\_ga=2.920113.120406084.1716451575-1589240197.1716451575
- Kerry Group. (2022). Beyond the Horizon: Sustainability Report 2022. https://www.kerry.com/about/purpose/sustainability
- Lavazza. (2022). Sustainability Report. <u>https://www.lavazzagroup.com/en/how-we-work/the-sustainability-report.html</u>
- Lessons from a Practitioner: Why tackling scope 3 is absolutely key in reducing Mars' carbon footprint. (n.d.). https://open.spotify.com/episode/1YTgDpGAds0b1Mp3ZDKpLG
- Lotus Bakeries. (2022). ESG Compilation & GRI Report. https://www.lotusbakeries.com/sites/default/files/documents-en/Lotus Jaarverslag 2022 deel3 ENG 0.pdf
- Marion Verles & Thomas Blackburn. (n.d.). *Can tech help us feed the world more sustainably?* (Episode 3, Series 3). <u>https://open.spotify.com/episode/5Y8clLsRkRpwcAtBlwtAxQ</u>
- Marion Verles. (n.d.-a). Dercarbonizing Chocolate (Episode 2, Series 3). https://sustain-cert.com/podcast
- Marion Verles. (n.d.-b). *How can we decarbonize the food and agriculture sector?* (Episode 1, Series 3). https://sustain-cert.com/podcast
- Mars. (2022). Sustainable in a Generation Plan. https://zaf.mars.com/sustainability-plan
- Morgan Gillespy. (2024, April 11). How can businesses secure a more sustainable, equitable and resilient future for the food sector? [Webinar].
- Nestle. (2022). Creating Shared Value and Sustainability Report 2022. https://www.nestle.com/sites/default/files/2023-03/creating-shared-value-sustainability-report-2022-en.pdf
- Nordzucker. (2022). Annual Report. <u>https://www.nordzucker.com/en/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/E\_NZ\_GB\_2022-23\_KM\_230523-1.pdf</u>

Nutreco. (2022). Nutreco Sustainability Report 2022. https://www.nutreco.com/en/sustainability/sustainability-report-library/sustainability-report-2022/

- Oatly. (2022). The Oatly Sustainability Update. <u>https://a.storyblok.com/f/107921/x/11daa2b42e/oatly-sustainability-report-2022.pdf</u>
- Olivia Bertham. (n.d.). Towards consistent measurement of Scope 3 emissions in the food and drink sector. *Deloitte Consuemr Business*. <u>https://www2.deloitte.com/uk/en/blog/consumer-business/2023/towards-consistent-measurement-of-scope-3.html</u>
- Philippa Thornton. (2020, September 3). Why Ambitious Scope 3 Emission Target-Setting Is Becoming an Industry Standard. *FAIRR Initiative*. <u>https://www.fairr.org/news-events/insights/why-ambitious-scope-3-emission-target-setting-is-becoming-an-industry-standard</u>

- Philippa Thornton. (2021, April 22). Why Investors Need to Pay Closer Attention to Net Zero Targets. FAIRR Initiative. <u>https://www.fairr.org/news-events/insights/why-investors-need-to-pay-closer-attention-to-net-zero-targets</u>
- Roquette Freres. (2021). Extra-Financial Report. <u>https://www.roquette.com/-/media/corporate/codes-and-policies/ethics-and-compliance/2021-roquette-declaration-extra-financial-performance.pdf</u>
- Savencia. (2022). Annual Report. <u>https://www.savencia-fromagedairy.com/en/financial-information/annual-reports/</u>

Silvana Paniagua Tufinio, Pierre Bloch, & Kai Streicher. (n.d.). Achieving net zero through value chain mitigation interventions: Exploring accounting, monitoring & assurance in food and agriculture. Value Change Initiative.

https://valuechangeinitiative.com/resources/#Achieving%20Net%20Zero%20Through%20Value%20Chain% 20Mitigation%20Interventions:%20Exploring%20Accounting,%20Monitoring%20&c%20Assurance%20in%20 Food%20and%20Agriculture

- Sofia Pyrgioti. (2023a, May 19). 4 steps to Scope 3 data: Roadblocks & how to overcome them. *CarbonCloud - Food for Thought*. <u>https://carboncloud.com/blog/scope-3-data/</u>
- Sofia Pyrgioti. (2023b, August 21). Food industry & Scope 3: A state of the art of food supply chain emissions [CarbonCloud]. *Food for Thought*. <u>https://carboncloud.com/blog/food-scope-3/</u>
- The future of agriculture: The strategic dialogues between all stakeholders has started (41). (n.d.).
- Thomas Day, Frederic Hans, Silke Mooldijk, Sybrig Smit, Santiago Woollands, Juliette de Grandpré, Nabila Putri Salsabila, Eve Fraser, Takeshi Kuramochi, & Carsten Warnecke. (2024). Corporate Climate Responsibility Monitor 2024. NewClimate Institute, Carbon Market Watch. <u>https://newclimate.org/sites/default/files/2024-04/NewClimate\_CCRM2024.pdf</u>
- Time 100 Climate: Rebecca Marmot, Chief Sustainability Officer, Unilever. (n.d.). *TIME*. <u>https://time.com/collection/time100-climate/6333097/rebecca-marmot/</u>
- Unibel. (2022). Annual Report. <u>https://www.groupe-bel.com/en/finance/regulatory-information/annual-financial-report/</u>
- Unilever. (2022). Unilever Annual Report and Accounts.

https://www.unilever.com/files/92ui5egz/production/0daddecec3fdde4d47d907689fe19e040aab9c58.pdf

What's Cooking. (2022). Annual Report. <u>https://whatscooking.group/storage/files/b2347ee6-6a75-4801-</u> <u>962f-f28c9c0c6824/jaarverslag-2022-en-fv.pdf</u>

Stakeholder type Organization type		Stakeholder	Code for in-text
		classification	reference
Sustainability	SME operating in the food	Internal stakeholder	Α
manager	sector		
Sustainability	Multinational food	Internal stakeholder	В
manager	company		
General manager	Data provider for on-farm	Primary external	С
	emissions	stakeholder	
Technical manager	MSI for scope 3 emissions	Primary external	D
	reduction guidance	stakeholder	
Regulatory strategist	Soil carbon program	Primary external	E
	organization	stakeholder	
VP of product	Data provider for scope 3	Primary external	F
	emissions calculation	stakeholder	
Sustainability	Sustainability consulting	Primary external	G
consultant	company	stakeholder	

#### 7.5 Appendix V – List of interviewees

Independent sustainability advisor	-	Primary external stakeholder	Н
Sustainable Agriculture, Climate, and Food Systems Specialist	Not-for-profit organization promoting sustainable agriculture	Primary external stakeholder	I
Research associate	Standard-setting MSI for corporate GHG reporting	Secondary external stakeholder	J
Policy analyst	European Think Tank	Secondary external stakeholder	K
Member and collaborator	Standard-setting MSI for corporate ESG reporting	Secondary external stakeholder	L
Secretary general	Environmental NGO	External stakeholder	Μ

Click here to go back to Section 4.2.2

## 7.6 Appendix VI - List of interview questions

- 1. What is your experience with sustainability and what led you to become a sustainability professional?
- 2. How long have you been working in your field?
- 3. What is your experience dealing with carbon disclosure?
- 4. In the world of carbon disclosure, have you dealt specifically with scope 3 emissions?
  - (If yes) 4a. What was your experience with scope 3 emissions? How does your company deal with scope 3 emissions?
  - (*If not*) 4b. Are you aware of other organizations/people you have encountered which have dealt with scope 3 emissions?
- 5. Scope 3 emissions in the food processing sector represent a high percentage of GHG emissions, however according to a report by the Alliance of Corporate Transparency 71.6% of companies in the Food and Beverage sector do not report Scope 3 emissions. What do consider to be the main reasons that keep food companies from calculating scope 3 emissions in their supply chain?
- 6. As a [type of stakeholder], which step of disclosure do you consider to be the most complex and why?
- 7. (Given your experience) What do you think would be a solution to allow more companies to disclose scope 3 emissions?
- 8. What do you think is the ultimate goal of disclosure? Does your idea coincide with what you see happening in companies after disclosure?
- 9. Let's talk about supplier engagement (in case of a company, how they deal with it, in case of organization depending on the organization):
  - 9a. Does your organization engage suppliers along its upstream value chain? Are there any obstacles associated with supplier engagement?
  - 9b. Do you think that supplier engagement has changed the way companies deal with scope 3 emissions?

- 10. Let's talk about target-setting (in case of a company, how they deal with it, in case of organization depending on the organization)
  - 10a. Does your organization set targets for scope 3 emissions reduction? Are there any obstacles associated with target-setting?
  - 10b. What is your opinion on target-setting in the food processing sector? Do you think that target-setting has changed the way companies deal with scope 3 emissions?
- 11. How do scope 3 disclosure and the actions taken after disclosure tie in with (depend on/support) other sustainability practices in the supply chain? Which factors do you consider to be most important to make full use of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking?
- 12. How do you imagine the future of scope 3 disclosure and action-taking to be? Whom do you think it will benefit the most?
- 13. How will the new FLAG Guidance impact disclosure and actions in the system?
- 14. The food sector has specific value chains and suppliers. How does this characteristic impact the actions companies may take in their supply chains?
- 15. Does your vision (connected to a more sustainable food system) align with this future direction?
- 16. Two important directives will affect the food processing sector in the EU: the Due Diligence Directive and the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive. In your opinion, what will be the impact of these directive on scope 3 disclosure and action-taking? Will these impacts be positive and/or negative?
- 17. Imagine you get called as a representative of your company to change the current system of disclosure and action-taking in the EU. What would be one thing you would change about the system?

### 7.7 Appendix VII - Coding framework

<u>Click here</u> to go back to section 4.2.3

#### Initial coding structure (no subcodes):

- 1. Moral judgements/Current situation
- 2. Key Issues
- 3. Solutions
- 4. Envisioning the future

#### Final coding structure (with subcodes):

- 1. Moral judgements/Current situation
  - i. Opportunity/risk
  - ii. Lack-presence of external pressure
  - iii. Disclosure and guidelines' system in evolution
- 2. Key Issues:
  - i. Data Issues
  - ii. Cost and Administrative Burdens
  - iii. External Pressure/Lack of internalization
  - iv. Lack of Knowledge to Operationalize Change

#### 3. Solutions

- i. Accessibility/Affordability of Data
- ii. Standardization for transparency
- iii. Financing, Incentivizing, and Scaling Up
- iv. Public and Private Sector
- 4. Envisioning the future
  - i. Benefits/Hindrances for the food system
  - ii. Extending Commitment (Mandatory/Voluntary)
  - iii. Fragmentation of the Food Sector